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The past year has also seen significant change in the 
membership of the Board of Trustees. We farewelled 
President Professor John Shine, whose term 
concluded on 30 June. I record the appreciation of 
his fellow Trustees for his leadership as President 
since 2012. The past four years have been ones of 
reform and opportunity, as a new Director and 
Executive team have brought new energy to the 
Museum’s leadership. Professor Shine has brought 
wise counsel and support through this period.

The Trust also farewelled Professor Shirley Alexander, 
Dr Judith O’Callaghan and Jim Longley, and on 
behalf of my colleagues, I record appreciation for 
their commitment to ‘hold in trust’ the MAAS 
collection and to plan for its exciting future. Director 
Rose Hiscock left the Museum in December. Since 
her appointment in July 2013, she and her executive 
team have been responsible for the reinvigoration of 
the Museum, the results of which are evident in the 
performance reported in this Annual Report. We 
welcome Dolla Merrillees as Director, who is 
committed to sustaining the Vision developed under 
Rose Hiscock’s leadership.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the dedication 
and commitment of the Museum’s staff and 
volunteers, who have delivered acclaimed exhibitions 
and programs, complemented by an impressive 
increase in visitation.

Professor Barney Glover 
President

This has been one of the most significant years in the 
Museum’s more than 137-year history. The proposal to 
relocate the Powerhouse Museum and construct a 
new museum has prompted widespread community 
discussion, demonstrating the depth of support for 
cultural institutions, and their place in sustaining 
communities.

In responding to this opportunity the Board of 
Trustees has been guided by two primary objectives. 

The first is a commitment to deliver an iconic, world 
class museum into the future, enabled by adequate 
capital and operational funding to achieve this. This 
represents a unique challenge, to reimagine a 
museum of applied arts and sciences that responds 
to the changing technologies, learning environments 
and lifestyle trends of the twenty first century.

The second is a commitment to maintain and 
enhance the MAAS Collection. The hybrid nature of 
this collection, spanning the applied arts and 
sciences and making connections between sciences 
and materials technologies on the one hand, and 
design and innovation on the other, is unique 
amongst Australian collecting institutions. Museums 
are defined by their collections, rather than their 
buildings, and the Board of Trustees is committed to 
enhancing a collection which tells a story of human 
creativity, ingenuity and innovation.

Planning and building a museum is a long term 
project, and it is anticipated the new museum will be 
open to the public in 2022. Meanwhile, we are 
committed to providing vibrant and diverse 
exhibitions and programs at the Powerhouse 
Museum in Ultimo, Sydney Observatory and the 
newly reopened Museums Discovery Centre at 
Castle Hill.

PRESIDENT’S  
FOREWORD
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This year the Museum’s critical focus on creativity, 
ideas and innovation, as well as our engagement with 
STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and 
Mathematics) through our disciplines, collections, 
programs and research, has seen the Museum rapidly 
establishing a reputation in the delivery of effective 
and meaningful public engagement initiatives and 
strategies that sit at the nexus of art and science.

The delivery of a dynamic schedule of vibrant and 
innovative programs, festivals and exhibitions with a 
particular focus on audience engagement and 
customer service has resulted in strong and positive 
growth across all areas of the Museum’s portfolio.

Highlights of 2015–16 include:

• Overall MAAS visitation increased by 28% to 
730,000 

• Sydney Observatory saw over 160,000 visits, 16% 
higher than 2014–15

• An 11% overall increase in education visits to the 
Powerhouse and the Sydney Observatory 

• Over 62,000 educational visits including over 3,000 
students taught by video conference across Australia

• Nearly 39,000 physical visits on a single weekend 
at both venues to celebrate free kids admission

• The Powerhouse Museum saw nearly 570,000 
visits, 33% higher year on year

• The Museums Discovery Centre remained closed 
throughout the fiscal year to open on 14 September 
2016

• More than three and a half million website visits 
• Over 60,000 Facebook Likes 
• Over 170,000 e-news subscribers 
• 11 new exhibitions were delivered across MAAS 

venues 
• The Museum saw a 20% increase in collection 

items on display 
• 415 collection loans
• 207,000 off site visitors

DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT

Our Recollect series continues to highlight the 
richness, diversity and breadth of the Museum’s 
collections, showcasing recent acquisitions and new 
commissions, as well as presenting aspects of the 
collection rarely seen by the public. These displays 
were accompanied by a wide variety of programs, 
curator led talks and interactive experiences that 
offered audiences new ways to engage and interact 
with the collection.

Displays included: Health & Medicine: Exploring the 
history and innovation of public health and medicine 
showcasing more than 1,000 objects; and Ceramics: 
Revealing how ceramic artists have used creative 
ideas and technical skills to transform clay into 
evocative works of art.

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’ 
exhibitions and programs have a vital role to play in 
contributing to the strategic ambitions of the NSW 

Visitors in A Fine Possession as part of MAASive Lates: Fashion. 
Image credit: Leila Joy Photography 
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Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan (VEIAP). 
Working closely with Destination NSW and the NSW 
Government the Museum has delivered the following 
exclusive and world premiere exhibitions:

• Art of the Brick: DC Comics created by legendary 
LEGO® artist Nathan Sawaya, this contemporary 
art exhibition used over a million bricks to create 
more than 120 large-scale sculptures of the most 
enduring Super Heroes and Super-Villains. On 
show from 21 November 2015 to 1 May 2016, the 
exhibition attracted just on 164,000 visitors, 
contributing to one of the best attended summer 
seasons in the Museum’s recent history.

• Isabella Blow: A Fashionable Life featured looks 
from Alexander McQueen, Philip Treacy, Hussein 
Chalayan, Julien Macdonald and more from the 
private collection of late fashion visionary English 
editor and stylist Isabella Blow. We would like to 
acknowledge the support of the Isabella Blow 
Foundation as well as major partners Westfield 
Sydney, The Woolmark Company and supporting 
partners Garde Robe and QT Sydney.

The Museum further developed its focus on fashion 
through the activities of Australia’s first public Centre 
for Fashion excellence. These included talks and 
seminars; in conversations with internationally 
acclaimed critic Suzy Menkes and fashion icon the 
Honourable Daphne Guinness; industry related 
events including the China Fashion and Retail Forum 
with special guest, Editor of Vogue China, Angelica 
Cheung; significant acquisitions and loans; and the 
Museum’s annual Student Fashion display which 
provides a glimpse of the exciting potential of the 
next generation of Australian fashion designers.

Opening in October, Evidence: Brook Andrew 
reflected the Museum’s commitment to investing in 
and commissioning works by leading contemporary 
artists. Evidence was an immersive installation with 
an accompanying publication that drew on the rich 
and varied MAAS collection to explore the theme of 
evidence. Brook Andrew, of the Wiradjuri nation, is 
internationally recognised for his interdisciplinary 
practice that interrogates knowledge systems, 
history, identity and race.

Design and innovation featured strongly in the 
Museum’s programming including the Good Design 
Awards: MAAS Selection displaying finalist products 
from the annual Good Design Awards® program for 
excellence in product design and innovation and 
presented in partnership with Good Design Australia; 
the 2015 Sydney Design Festival returned for its 19th 
year and brought together an exciting array of design 
disciplines from Architecture and Interior and 
Product and Maker to Fashion and Jewellery and 
Digital and Graphic. In addition, in 2015 the Museum 
appointed a Senior Curator with specific 
responsibility for Design and Architecture.

Presenting programs and exhibitions that directly 
engage children and families continues to be a 
priority. Designed to stimulate creativity and 
imagination highlights included: 

• Thinkspace — programs designed to excite 
children about STEAM (science, technology, 
engineering, art and maths) using fun and 
engaging formats;

• Paper Planet — a spectacular forest of tall 
cardboard trees inviting kids and adults to fill the 
world with fantastic paper creations;

• Minecraft Mayhem — featured design skills, team 
building and a safe moderated multi-player 
environment.
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Placing a strong emphasis on learning and creativity, 
the Museum provided a suite of educator led, self-
directed, video conference and professional 
development programs to over 62,000 students and 
their educators in 2015–16, an increase of 11%. 
Through the disciplines of Science, Technology, 
Engineering, Maths and the Arts, we offer learn-by-
making workshops in Thinkspace, our digital learning 
centre, and the wider Museum. Guided by experts, 
learning experiences are engaging, interactive and 
100% hands-on. Our award winning video 
conferencing programs reached over 5,000 primary, 
secondary and tertiary students across Australia, 
USA, South Korea over the past 24 months.

In addition to education programs the Museum is 
committed to advancing knowledge through 
research. MAAS is involved in funded research 
projects with different partners in line with our 
Research Strategy and overall vision. We currently 
partner with universities on a variety of research 
projects spanning education, conservation and visitor 
engagement, including Western Sydney University, 
University of Melbourne, University of Sydney, 
University of Technology Sydney and University of 
New South Wales.

The MAAS collection was expanded in 2015–16 by a 
total of 858 acquisitions. I acknowledge the 
generosity of the many designers, artists, donors and 
supporters of the Museum who have gifted objects 
or donated funds that has enabled strategic 
acquisitions. The strength of the collection owes a 
great deal to the legacy of past and present 
benefactors. Highlights include a dress and shoes 
from the Lucid collection by Dutch designer Iris van 
Herpen and a spectacular chandelier that responds 
to the 2011 Japanese nuclear disaster by Ken and 
Julia Yonetani.

MAAS recognises and shares the value and 
importance of preserving, revitalising and 
strengthening Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
cultures, histories and achievements. The Museum 
signed a commitment to develop its inaugural 
Reconciliation Action Plan in 2015 and I am delighted 
to announce that the RAP is now in final stages of 
approval and implementation. The Indigenous 
Cultural Intellectual Property (ICIP) Protocol has also 
been prepared in association with Terri Janke and 
Company and aligns with the RAP to develop staff 
awareness and understanding of our obligation to 
respectfully deal with Indigenous Cultural Material. 

Work continues on the new Museums Discovery 
Centre (MDC) at Castle Hill, a collaboration led by 
MAAS, co-operating with Australian Museum and 
Sydney Living Museums and scheduled to open in 
September 2016. The result of a $34 million NSW 
Government investment, the MDC will provide 
unprecedented public access as well as safe and 
secure care for these three NSW State collections. 
New displays and programs target visitors from 
Northwest Sydney and will enhance school visits and 
educational opportunities.

Dolla Merrillees 
Director
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An 11% overall increase 
in education visits to 
the Powerhouse and 
the Sydney 
Observatory

HIGHLIGHTS 
2015–16 

Over 62,000 education 
visits including over 
3,000 students taught 
by video conference 
across Australia

Overall MAAS 
visitation increased by 
28% to 730,000 

More than 3,500,000 
website visits

Over 60,000 Facebook 
Likes

Nearly 39,000 physical 
visits on a single 
weekend at both 
venues to celebrate 
free kids admission

1 2 3

7 8 9
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The Powerhouse 
Museum saw nearly 
570,000 visits which 
was 33% higher year 
on year

Sydney Observatory  
saw over 160,000 
visits, which was 16% 
higher than 2014–15

Museums Discovery 
Centre remained 
closed throughout the 
fiscal year to open on 
14 September 2016

11 new exhibitions 
were delivered across 
MAAS venues

The Museum saw  
a 20% increase in 
collection items  
on display

415 collection loans

207,000 offsite visitors

4 5 6

10 11 12

Image credits (left to right): 
Top row: Transport gallery at Powerhouse 
Museum by Jayne Ions; Visitors in Collette 
Dinnigan: Unlaced by Dominique Cherry; Free 
Museums Weekend at Powerhouse Museum by 
Lindy Goodwin, Earth at Sydney Observatory 
by Anton Rehrl
Bottom row: Free Museum Weekend at Sydney 
Observatory by Lindy Goodwin; Visitor in The 
Art of the Brick: DC Comics by Artof2 
Photography; Visitor in Recollect: Health and 
Medicine by Heidi Boardman
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GOVERNANCE

OUR MISSION
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is a 
catalyst for creative expression and curious minds.

OUR VISION
To be the leading Museum of applied arts and 
sciences; inspiring people and communities to 
transform our world.

OUR VALUES
Integrity. Courage. Passion.

The Museum’s Guarantee of Service is available 
online at: 
powerhousemuseum.com/pdf/about/policies/
Guarantee_of_service.pdf
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The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS) 
was established under the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences Act 1945 (MAAS Act). Aspects of the 
Museum’s management and governance are also 
covered under the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Regulation 2012. The Museum has perpetual 
succession, has a common seal, may purchase, hold, 
grant, demise, dispose of or otherwise deal with real 
and personal property and may sue and be sued in its 
corporate name ‘The Trustees of the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences’. The Museum was 
established following the 1879 Sydney International 
Exhibition which was its genesis.

At 30 June 2016 MAAS was responsible for the 
Powerhouse Museum, Sydney Observatory, and the 
Museums Discovery Centre at Castle Hill and 
employed 213 FTE staff. The Museum was supported 
by 435 volunteers in 2015–16.

The MAAS Act requires the Museum to: 
effectively minister to the needs and demands of the 
community in any or all branches of applied science 
and art and the development of industry by: 

(i) the display of selected objects arranged to 
illustrate the industrial advance of civilisation 
and the development of inventions and 
manufactures,

(ii) the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste 
by illustrating the history and development of 
the applied arts,

(iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and 
other educational means,

(iv) scientific research, or

(v) any other means necessary or desirable for the 
development of the natural resources and 
manufacturing industries of New South Wales.

CHARTER

Deputy Premier and Minister for the Arts, The Hon. Troy Grant at 
the opening of The Art of the Brick: DC Comics. Image credit: Ryan 
Hernandez
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Museum is governed by a Board of Trustees 
appointed under the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Act 1945. Under the provisions of the Act, 
the nine Trustees of the Museum are appointed by 
the Governor, on the recommendation of the 
Minister, for a term of up to three years, and may 
serve for a maximum of three full terms, excepting if 
their first term was not a full term they may be 
appointed for a fourth term. The Trustees represent 
the community and oversee the management and 
policy direction of the Museum. 

The Act 3(1) states in part ‘There shall be appointed 
nine trustees … who, subject to the control and 
direction of the Minister, shall carry into effect the 
objects and purposes of this Act’

The Trust met six times in 2015–16 to consider and 
give formal approval to major procedural and policy 
matters on advice from management.

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 
2016 was:

Professor John Shine AO, FAA (President)  
Professor Shirley Alexander to 31.12.15 
Mr Robert Cameron AO 
Ms Lisa Chung (Deputy President) 
Ms Elizabeth Crouch from 01.01.16 
Mr Tim Ebbeck 
Professor Barney Glover 
Mr James Longley to 31.12.15 
Janet McDonald AO from 01.01.16 
Dr Judith O’Callaghan to 26.04.16

(For details about the Trustees see Appendix 1)

The appointment of Professor John Shine satisfied 
the requirement that ‘at least 1 person has knowledge 
of, or experience in, the arts or sciences’.

(Professor Shine retired as president of the Board of 
Trustees on 30 June. Professor Salah Sukkarieh was 
appointed to the Board in July, satisfying this 
requirement)

The appointment of Elizabeth Crouch satisfied the 
requirement that ‘at least 1 person has knowledge of, 
or experience in, education.’

Ms Lisa Chung was elected Deputy President at the 
Board of Trustees meeting held on 4 November.

Trustees completed a skills matrix questionnaire in 
March to review the Board’s capability profile.

On appointment Trustees are provided with a 
comprehensive Trustee Handbook, which outlines 
governance and procedural arrangements, and a 
summary of the Museum’s structure and operations. 
This is complemented by Briefings with the President 
and Director.

Trustees are required to complete a Declaration of 
Pecuniary Interests at the commencement of each 
financial year.
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MAAS is Australia’s only Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences with an exceptional collection, significant 
venues and location in Sydney, Australia’s global city. 
Our Strategic Plan seeks to position us at the 
forefront of contemporary museums. It outlines our 
Vision, our areas of focus and an interdisciplinary 
way of working.

We understand that a successful, more culturally 
diverse, innovative society is based on the creative 
use of knowledge. The best ideas emerge from a 
culture that values experimentation, interdisciplinary 
conversation and an openness to the unexpected. 
The Museum’s collection is not bound by time or 
place, rather it seeks to represent and encompass 
human creativity in all its expressions across the arts 
and sciences and tells a story of innovation, 
imagination and ingenuity.

Established as part of the 19th century agenda for the 
advancement of knowledge and social reform 
following the Sydney International Exhibition of 1879, 
the Museum not only honours and continues to build 
on its legacy, but as it has always done, will transform 
itself to respond to growth, to demographic trends, 
to the evolving social landscape and not least to the 
changing shape of the city and state in which it lives.

In this age, the boundaries between the digital and 
material worlds, and between the arts and the 
sciences, are increasingly blurred. They provide 
infinite opportunities to make relevant our complex 
and interconnected world.

The Museum’s direction in 2015–16 was guided by the 
priorities of the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences 2020 Vision.

The Plan is viewable at  
maas.museum/strategic-plan/

STRATEGIC DIRECTION
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT  
STRUCTURE
The Director is responsible to the Trustees of the 
Museum and the Minister for the Arts, through the 
NSW Department of Justice, for the overall 
management and control of the Museum and its 
activities. 

REVIEW MECHANISMS
The Museum engages in several levels of 
performance review practice. The Director has a 
performance agreement with the President of the 
Board of Trustees and the Secretary of NSW 
Department of Justice, which is reviewed annually. 
There are also performance agreements between the 
Director and the Department Directors. 

Internal review mechanisms include weekly meetings 
of Museum Executive (Director with Department 
Directors), fortnightly meetings of the Senior 
Management Team (department heads), monthly All 
Staff meetings, meetings of the Finance, Audit and 
Risk Management Committee and Executive reports 
to the Board of Trustees. Daily reports are generated 
on visitation and revenue for each site. 
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AUDIENCES 
2015–16

MAAS Snapshot
MAAS saw a total audience reach of 
over a million people in 2015–16, with 
over 730,000 visits in total to the 
Powerhouse Museum and the Sydney 
Observatory combined, and a further 
207,000 visits to exhibitions, 
programs and talks facilitated by 
MAAS at other locations in Sydney 
and around Australia. The opening of 
The Goods Line from Central Station 
and China Town from September, saw 
up to 2800 people in the Museum 
grounds each day whilst satellite pop 
up fashion exhibition displays at 
Westfield Sydney and Indooroopilly 
Shopping Centre Brisbane attracted 
further crowds. The Museums 
Discovery Centre was closed for 
refurbishment for the duration of 
2015–16.

The NSW regional audience was 
estimated to be over 140,000 in 2015–
16. MAAS saw an estimated 91,000 
visits from regional people in 2015–16. 
MAAS also saw nearly 50,000 
participants at 27 events across 
regional NSW including touring 
exhibitions, programs and talks.
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ON SITE AND OFF SITE

‘It’s always a delight to visit the Powerhouse, the changing 
exhibitions keep us constantly returning. My six year old 
daughter and I are always interested in science, history and 
learning things about the world and the Powerhouse is one 
of our favourite places to go.’ – 2 adults visiting with 1 primary school child

MAAS Trends 
MAAS saw over 730,000 onsite visits in 2015–16 
which was 28% higher than 2014–15. This was driven 
by strong attendance at Powerhouse Museum most 
of the year, and steady growth in Sydney 
Observatory visitation since December 2015. 

The Powerhouse Museum visits were up 33% 
compared with 2014–15. This was supported by 
improved accessibility to the Museum through the 
introduction of the Free Kids Policy which supported 
growth in lower cost family visits. 

Increased visitation was also driven by the popular 
family oriented The Art of the Brick: DC Comics 
exhibition which saw 163,968 visitors over summer, 
and four in ten of these visitors were children. The 
school holidays saw 35% more visitors than average 
also reflecting the appeal of school holiday 
programming, particularly Minecraft Mayhem which 
attracted 2,500 visitors daily on average during the 
spring school holidays.

The Observatory visits were 16% higher than 2014–
15. This increase was supported by a renewed focus 
on the tourism market and increased education 
sessions for schools. The Free Weekend was held for 
the first time at the Observatory in June 2016 and 
attracted 5,600 visitors over two days.

Visits to activities at other locations (offsite) were 
18% higher than 2014–15 reflecting increased visits to 
MAAS touring exhibitions to a total of 148,000. 
Winning Sky Photos: The David Malin Awards 2015 
attracted 100,000 visits including 78,000 visits to 
Scienceworks at Museum Victoria. Another touring 
highlight was Faith Fashion Fusion which attracted 
48,000 visits and the tour included Kalgoorlie, 
Canberra and various places in regional NSW.
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TOTAL VISITS BY SITE (ACTUAL)

2014–2015 2015–2016 % Change

Powerhouse 
Museum

428,177 569,186 33%

Sydney Observatory 140,401 162,605 16%

Museums Discovery 
Centre

5,152  -  - 

Total Onsite 573,730 731,791 28%

Total Offsite 175,361 206,775 18%

Subtotal 749,091 938,566 25%

Total Satellite   79,325  

Grand Total 749,091 1,017,891 36%

Cultural Tourists 
MAAS welcomed an estimated 355,000 visits from 
people who lived outside Sydney in 2015–16. Most were 
domestic tourists who visited the Powerhouse Museum.

Powerhouse Museum developed the domestic tourist 
market in 2015–16 making up 37% of visitors compared 
with 29% in 2014–15. Most tourists to the Powerhouse 
come from within NSW (15% of visitors) while 
Melbourne was the other single biggest place of origin 
(6% of visitors). The most growth in visits was from 
regional NSW and there were signs of growth from 
Canberra and Perth. This trend was supported by a 
partnership with Destination NSW to promote the Art of 
the Brick: DC Comics exhibition as a tourist attraction.

Sydney Observatory further developed the international 
tourist market in 2015–16 with 45% of visitors coming 
from overseas compared with 32% in 2014–15. Tourists 
mainly came from the United Kingdom, North America, 
Korea, and China (including Hong Kong). This growth 
was supported by an increase in international tourists to 
Sydney in 2015–16.

  ON SITE VISITS BY ORIGIN (ESTIMATED)

2015-16 Powerhouse Observatory Total %

Sydney 305,982 70,584 376,567 51%

Regional 85,019 6,401 91,420 12%

Interstate 124,002 12,150 136, 152 19%

International 54,182 73,470 127,652 17%

Total* 569,186 162,605 731,791 100% 
* Rounding

Powerhouse Visitors: 
Demographic Profile 
In 2015–16 the Powerhouse Museum saw over 215,000 
children’s visits which was a 54% growth year on year. 
Research into visitor awareness of the free general 
admission for children policy found that one third of 
Powerhouse general visitors and one third of Free 
Weekend visitors were aware of the policy. 

There was also an increase in family visits, compared  
to the same period last year, consistent with proportions 
seen in 2013–14.

This year there has been a shift towards a more equal 
gender split last seen in 2013–14 — 51% of visits were 
made by women and 49% made by men. This is likely 
related to programming this year — Collette Dinnigan 
attracted a more female audience, while The Art of the 
Brick: DC Comics was largely male.

Each year visitors are asked if they have an academic  
or professional connection to the disciplines — 25% 
science and health, 25% technology, and 18% had a 
connection to design and the decorative arts.
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Since 2014–15, visitor awareness of Powerhouse 
Museum through its own website has almost doubled. 
Social media is also growing in importance, although 
mainly reaching the core loyal audience. Visitors on 
around one in five visits received a word of mouth 
recommendation, equating to a significant increase 
from 2014–15. 

MAAS saw a 49% increase in social media fans/
followers with over 82,000 engaged including 60,000 
Facebook fans by the end of 2015–16. One in five visitors 
to the Powerhouse said they went online while at the 
museum with most sharing their visit on social media.

MAAS websites had 2.7 million users across 3.6 million 
sessions which generated 10.3 million page views in 
2015–16. While there was a modest increase in users 
(6%) and sessions (8%) the number of page views 
increased significantly (32%). This suggests that users 
may be getting greater utility from the site as a result of 
a redesign. 90% of users of the MAAS website rated the 
site as easy to use.

A key digital platform is the MAAS Online Collection 
which saw 377,000 users across 422,000 sessions, 
generating 1.6 million page views. MAAS was the first 
museum in the world to bring its collection online in 
2008. After eight successful years, work is underway  
to redevelop a new online collection platform to be 
launched in 2016–17 — the next step of the Museum’s 
ongoing innovative approach to digital engagement.

The origin of website sessions shows a higher 
international focus than the MAAS visitor base, 
reflecting the international interest in the online 
collection. Seven in ten sessions originated within 
Australia (mostly from NSW) while the remaining  
three in ten sessions were from overseas (17% of  
MAAS visitors are estimated to be international).

MAAS has an estimated 500,000 distinct items in its 
collection (46% of which has been digitalised).

DIGITAL ENGAGEMENT — 
ONLINE AUDIENCES
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MAAS played host to a number of 
international travelling exhibitions 
throughout 2015–16 and also worked 
closely with artists, designers and 
curators to commission and produce 
a series of original exhibitions that 
interpreted the MAAS collection, and 
significant private collections. 
Throughout these projects, MAAS 
strengthened its relationships with 
internationally renowned institutions 
and local designers and artists of 
significance.

EXHIBITIONS  
AND PROGRAMS
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The 2015–16 program
Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced opened on 9 September 
amidst extensive coverage on television, digital and 
print media. Theatre designer Anna Tregloan, working 
with Collette Dinnigan and curator, Glynis Jones as 
well as the MAAS team, created a series of immersive 
scenes highlighting the career of one of Australia’s 
most recognised fashion designers. This highly 
anticipated exhibition is the first major exhibition in 
association with the MAAS Centre for Fashion.

In association with Unlaced, MAAS worked with 
Indooroopilly Shopping Centre to present a pop-up 
preview of Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced for Brisbane 
audiences. The installation was curated by Glynis 
Jones with Collette Dinnigan and stylist Tori Collison, 
and included a showcase of eight outfits, a projection 
of models drawn from the MAAS exhibition’s virtual 
runway, large fashion images and prominent 
exhibition and MAAS branding in the exhibition 
space and throughout the shopping centre.

Good Design Awards 2015: MAAS Selection was 
launched on 4 September as part of Sydney Design 
Festival. Included in the display were finalist products 
from the annual Good Design Awards® program for 
excellence in product design and innovation. Each 
year a panel of design experts assesses hundreds of 
new products or services designed in Australia or 
overseas. 

Recollect: Health and Medicine opened on 13 August, 
coinciding with the launch of Sydney Science 
Festival. Recollect: Health and Medicine brought the 
Museum’s important medical collection out of 
storage and onto display in the Vault Gallery on Level 
1. More than 1,000 objects were displayed within ten 
themes. The exhibition also included large free-
standing objects such as an ambulance and mortuary 
table as well as respirator and x-ray machines to 

create an aesthetically impressive and intellectually 
engaging exhibition. Approximately half of the 
content of Health and Medicine had not been on 
display before, providing visitors with access to a 
previously hidden part the collection. A children’s 
activity area featured an origami heart and skull 
creation table, a fun surgical game, a child-size 
skeleton puzzle, and a Museum first, live leeches.

The Art of the Brick: DC Comics had its worldwide 
premiere on 19 November at the Powerhouse 
Museum, the exclusive Australian venue for the 
exhibition. Created by LEGO artist Nathan Sawaya, 
this exhibition used millions of LEGO bricks to create 
large-scale sculptures of the most enduring DC 
Comics Super Heroes and Super-Villains: from 
Batman, Superman and Wonder Woman to The Joker 
and Harley Quinn. The media campaign for The Art of 
the Brick generated reach of over 88 million 
impressions nationally with over $1.4 million worth of 
media generated in the week the exhibition opened, 
and attendance at the exhibition was shown to 
re-engage the core families’ audience for the 
Museum. Overall, this exhibition achieved the highest 
summer visitation seen by MAAS in recent history. 

‘The Art of the Brick and 
Collette Dinnigan were world 
class. Excellent.’ – Adult tour

Programs complementing the Art of the Brick 
exhibition included two super hero themed school 
holiday programs at the Powerhouse Museum. In his 
Acknowledgment of Country at the opening of the 
exhibition, Mununjali writer, Sam Wagan Watson 
drew the parallel between LEGO and the characters 
of the DC Comics with the artwork of the Western 
Desert and the characters of the Dreaming and their 
battles between good and evil. 

EXHIBITIONS  
AND PROGRAMS
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The Isabella Blow: a fashionable life exhibition 
opened in May and was formally launched by the 
Honourable Daphne Guinness, patron of the Isabella 
Blow Foundation. The Foundation holds the clothes 
from the wardrobe of the late fashion muse Isabella 
Blow, and is considered to be one of the most 
significant private collections of British fashion. 
Exhibition curator Shonagh Marshall travelled from 
London to work closely with curatorial, production, 
design, marketing and communications teams to 
deliver this much anticipated exhibition. A Pop-Up 
exhibition was developed for partner Westfield 
Sydney and featured objects from the Isabella Blow 
Collection as well as interactions with Australian 
designers and an appearance by the Honourable 
Daphne Guinness.

Programs complementing the exhibition included 
Kellie Hush (Editor in Chief Harper’s BAZAAR 
Australia) in Conversation with The Hon. Daphne 
Guinness and Shonagh Marshall, a curator tour by 
Shonagh Marshall and a series of Curator tours with 
senior curator Roger Leong.

Two exhibitions Disobedient Objects and Evidence: 
Brook Andrew opened simultaneously on 28 October. 
Disobedient Objects was originally presented by the 
Victoria & Albert Museum in London in 2014. The 
exhibition examined the powerful role of objects in 
movements for social change and was on display 
until 14 February. Evidence: Brook Andrew was a 
unique immersive installation that utilised objects 
from the Museum’s rich collection demonstrating the 
creative, dynamic and energised ways in which 
objects can be interpreted for our times. Invited to 
respond to the themes in Disobedient Objects. 
Evidence was accompanied by a catalogue published 
by MAAS Media. 

A range of programs were held to complement these 
two exhibitions including a Hip Hop Bootcamp led by 
Aboriginal artists Jimblah Cubillo, Juanita Duncan, 
Angie Abdillah, Ian RT Colless and Jason Wing. A 
late night event: MAASive Lates: Civil Discobedience 
featured guests Nell Schofield, Justin Shoulder, 
Joseph Chetty, Paul Capsis and Mark Tevorrow 
included creativity and collective action with DJ 
Simon Caldwell, the Martenitsa Choir and Michael 
Cutrupi from Fat Boy Dancing. Participants were 
asked to weave a star for the 1 million stars against 
violence project and the evening included curatorial 

Guests at the opening of Isabella Blow: A Fashionable Life. Image 
credit: Jayne Ions
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tours, encounters with the Knitting Nannas Against 
Gas, demonstrations and making activities. 

Other programs in relation to Disobedient Objects 
and Evidence exhibitions included film screenings, 
the daily demonstration corner, a talk on 
‘Disobedience, theatre and the musical frame’, a 
performance by the Opera Project’s, Glorias. In 
addition MAAS hosted a range of curator tours and a 
panel discussion looking at ceramics in civic spaces. 

For the first time Shape (formerly DesignTECH) 
showcased HSC student designs from three streams 
in the technology area that share an approach to 
design thinking, innovation and creativity — Textiles 
and Design, Industrial Technology and Design and 
Technology. Exhibited near the entrance area on 
Level 3, this exhibition of student work and case 
study portfolios provided an opportunity to recognise 
exceptional student work as well as outstanding 
achievement in the realisation of advanced graduate 
design projects.

The Shape exhibition was complemented by a range 
of student workshops and seminars presented by 
MAAS and BOSTES.

Since 1993 the Museum’s annual Student Fashion 
display has showcased the work of the top fashion 
graduates from Sydney’s public and private fashion 
design schools. Over twenty years the exhibition has 
featured the work of around 150 students, many of 
whom have gone on to careers in a diverse range of 
fashion related fields. This year’s Student Fashion 
display featured the work of Demetra Kakopieros 
from the Fashion Design Studio, TAFE NSW, Sydney 
Institute; Rebecca Deasy of Raffles College of Design 
and Commerce; Jamilla McCrossin from the 
University of Technology, Sydney; and Zoe Efstathis 
from the Whitehouse Institute of Design. 

Supported by a grant from Visions of Australia the 
Faith Fashion Fusion: Muslim Women’s style in 
Australia exhibition has been travelling to regional 
museums and galleries over the last two years and 
has been well received by the media and public. In 
2015–16, it travelled to the Museum of the Riverina, 
Wagga Wagga, Maitland Art Gallery, Fairfield City 
Gallery and Museum and the National Archives in 
Canberra.

A fine possession: jewellery and identity won the 
prestigious IMAGINE Award 2015 for Exhibition 
Projects — Museums: 11+ Paid Staff at an event held 
at the Justice and Police Museum on 13 November. 
The annual IMAGINE Awards are presented by 
Museums & Galleries NSW. In awarding MAAS the 
prize, judges noted innovative content interpretation, 
collaboration and curatorial excellence.

Programs complementing this exhibition included 
curator tours and a lecture by contemporary jeweller 
Philip Sajet as part of the Edges, Borders and Gaps 
Jewellers and Metalsmiths Group (JMGA) 
Conference. 

School Holiday 
Programming 
The July 2015 winter school holiday program was 
themed ‘build’ and included the highly successful 
Paper Planet, a world made of paper produced by 
Polyglot Theatre. In this highly participatory and 
interactive installation, children explored the 
creativity, engineering and design that goes into 
building our world. Performance and play merged, as 
children explored an imaginative world of adventures 
of their own making. The school holidays 
commenced in June with a free weekend which saw 
over 28,000 visitors to the Powerhouse Museum. 

At Sydney Observatory, the July winter school 
holiday offer focused on Saturn as part of the 
International Year of Light and included a Rings of 
Saturn party day. 

The September/October spring school holidays were 
themed around the popular Minecraft computer 
game and the Minecraft Mayhem programs saw over 
43,000 visitors to the Powerhouse Museum to 
participate in a range of interactive activities and 
games. The theme allowed children to experience the 
Museum’s collection through a new lens which 
related to their own interests. 

At Sydney Observatory, the September/October 
spring school holiday offer included tours, telescope 
viewings, planetarium and 3D theatre sessions as 
well as a series of digital learning and archaeology 
workshops. MAAS held the first Kid’s Extravaganza 
event which aimed to engage children and families 
aged 3–8 with astronomy. 
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The next edition, ‘disobedience’, held in November 
complemented the Disobedient Objects exhibition 
with a focus on activism and collective action. In 
addition to tours, workshops and talks, visitors were 
entertained by the Martenitsa Choir and the 
charismatic Michael Cutrupi from Fat Boy Dancing. 

‘I loved MAASiveLates, getting 
to see more of the Museum, 
getting to see it at night, getting 
involved with people that really 
care, know and are interested  
in design, which is my passion.’ 
– Female, 46–50, visiting with a friend

The next edition in March was inspired by super 
heroes and The Art of the Brick exhibition, whilst  
the final edition in May coincided with Mercedes 
Fashion Week and was themed around fashion, art, 
technology and maths. Visitors enjoyed fashion 
workshops, hat making, jewellery making, curator 
tours, talks, music, and performances. 

The program supports initiatives to enhance Sydney’s 
night time economy.

Lecture Program 
A range of lectures and talks were delivered 
throughout the year. 

These included those co-produced with partners 
FastBREAK series presented in collaboration with 
youth organisation Vibewire giving a platform for 
audiences to connect with young entrepreneurs.

A new partnership was established with Creative 
Mornings Sydney to feature a highlight talk by mills 
of ustwo, a maverick digital designer responsible for 
the hit game Monument Valley.

The New Frontiers series produced in partnerships 
with the Australian Graphic Design Association 
(AGDA) attempted to shed light on the ever changing 
role of the designer.

General Assembly, a digital learning organisation 
presented a series of talks and film screenings 
highlighting design in our lives and its varied 
applications.

Almost 300 people attended this event where 
families interacted with Observatory guides and 
partook in solar viewing. The offer included a range 
of digital learning workshops. 

The December to January 2016 summer school 
holidays were themed around the popular The Art of 
the Brick exhibition with an emphasis on comics and 
superheroes. Programs included drop in free 
activities such as the Collaborative Comic Strip, Birds 
Eye superhero photo activity, storytelling and a 
special kids’ sleepover event. 

MAAS also ran themed digital learning workshops in 
Scratch, Minecraft, Music Video, Pro Movie Making, 
Stop Motion, Game Design in Python, Unity 2D, 
Electronics Design, Creative Physical Computing, 
Sandbox and Lego Robotics. Bespoke programs such 
as film screenings, the Hip Hop Bootcamp were 
presented in association with the Evidence and 
Disobedient Objects exhibitions. 

The December to January 2016 summer school holidays 
at Sydney Observatory included the Kid’s Summer 
Extravaganza as well as a range of workshops, 
demonstrations, performative storytelling, tours and 
telescope viewings. In addition, MAAS ran a 
selection of digital learning workshops including 
Scratch, Gaming, Lego Robotics and 2D Sandbox. 

For the April school holidays at the Powerhouse, 
MAAS presented the second super hero themed 
program which included the popular Giant Comic 
Strip activity and a Green Screen Super Hero photo 
activity as well as a range of digital learning programs 
in Thinkspace, a super hero sleepover event and 
tailored programs for Vacation Care Groups. 

For the April school holidays, Sydney Observatory 
presented a range of tours and workshops as well as 
the family friendly Kids Extravaganza day focusing on 
Space Exploration. 

Late Nights 
With audiences of up to 2000 visitors, in 2015–16 
MAAS hosted four editions of the MAASive Late 
series. The season commenced with a science 
themed opening night as part of the launch festivities 
for the Sydney Science Festival in August. 
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The monthly Greenhouse talks and networking events 
discussed creative solutions to sustainability 
challenges with partners Hothouse.

Science Nation a quarterly series of fast paced 
science communication events debated big ideas in 
accessible ways for general audiences.

Youth Food Movement Spoonled seminars on food 
sustainability and nutrition attracted a new youth 
audience.

A talk as part of the VIVID Ideas festival with the 
Australian Astronomical Observatory on the Story of 
Light was very well received by the audience.

On 18 November MAAS hosted Netherlands-based 
expert, Ingrid Van Der Wacht for a talk and workshop 
around the concept of co-design. 

In February MAAS continued the professional 
development symposium series sharing ideas around 
object display. This followed in July with a series of 
experts discussing the ethics of archives.

In March MAAS Senior Curator Roger Leong 
presented Fashioning the Object a talk on the 
difficulties and beauty of exhibiting fashion in  
gallery spaces.

In April, MAAS hosted Dr Sheila Degotardi who 
spoke about young children and learning. 

In May, MAAS Program Producer Isabelle Kingsley 
presented to staff and volunteers her findings in 
terms of using Project Based Learning and the MAAS 
Mars Lab to deliver authentic science experiences to 
school students. 

A series of monthly astronomy talks at The Sydney 
Observatory featuring Fred Watson as the host 
attracted an engaged audience keen to learn more 
about space.

Other Programs 
In July MAAS welcomed 60 students from the 
University of NSW: BEIL0014 Digital Making course. 
Students conducted a Digital Making Charrette 
which focused on creating designs, drawings and 
prototypes for children’s play spaces at the 
Powerhouse Museum. Students also participated in 
lectures and tutorials exploring new methods and 
production technologies for designing objects and 
spaces. 

On 31 July, MAAS hosted an event at Sydney 
Observatory celebrating the Blue Moon. Visitors 
heard Aboriginal dreamtime stories and enjoyed 
telescope viewing. Other astronomy themed events 
included star gazing at Rouse Hill in collaboration 
with Sydney Living Museums, Stargazing Guinness 
World Record as part of the International Year of 
Light, a talk on the history of the Narrabri Stellar 
Intensity Interferometer as part of Sydney Science 
Festival, the Winning Sky Photography exhibition and 
David Malin Awards. 

On 16 December, MAAS hosted a talk by Eva Czernis-
Ryl who looked at palace royal collections from an 
Australian curator’s perspective. 

At Sydney Observatory, MAAS celebrated Valentine’s 
Day with a special night of music under the stars and 
in March hosted Murder Mystery and a special Earth 
Hour event. 

As part of Multicultural March MAAS hosted a range 
of activities and film screenings as well as focusing 
attention on a number of exhibitions and displays at 
the Powerhouse Museum with multicultural themes 
and collections. In addition, Sydney Observatory ran 
tours in Spanish, Russian, Portuguese, Nepali, Korean 
and German. 

As part of Vivid Ideas, MAAS hosted the ArtScience 
Soiree — a free networking event for practising 
artists and scientists interested in cross-disciplinary 
collaboration. The evening featured science-inspired 
art installations, performances and creative 
presentations by a range of artists and scientists  
as well as a speed meet session.
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The MAAS Centre for Fashion was established to 
facilitate stronger relationships between fashion 
focused educators, audiences and brands, and to 
provide avenues for audiences to engage with fashion 
visionaries and the MAAS collection. Sponsorship is 
also a key focus for the Centre, drawing on private 
and corporate partners to support the ongoing 
program.

In 2015–16 the MAAS Centre for Fashion presented 
two exclusive exhibitions. Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced 
opened in September and Isabella Blow: A 
Fashionable Life opened in May. The Centre hosted 
speakers from around the world and worked with  
Dr Gene Sherman AM, the Centre’s Inaugural patron, 
and MAAS Deputy President Lisa Chung to engage six 
new Designer Circle members to support the Centre.

The Centre has been establishing a profile for fashion 
related public programs that balance the interests of 
academically-minded and more popular audiences.

In September, MAAS presented a conversation led by 
Nell Schofield with Linda Jackson, Jenny Kee and 
Romance Was Born’s two designers in association 
with the Sydney Design Festival. 

In July and August, the Centre received considerable 
demand from UTS and NIDA for student-learning 
tours of the fashion collection. Over 65 students 
visited the collection storage and were shown various 
aspects of the collection as part of a UTS student 
design project.

In Conversation: Suzy Menkes with Collette Dinnigan: 
Centre for Fashion supporters attended on 22 
October, and were treated to a candid exchange of 
ideas revolving around creativity, sustainability and 
reflections on the state of the industry. The program 
was followed by a Designers’ Circle event allowing 
supporters to meet the speakers.

The MAAS Centre for Fashion hosted an in-
conversation with Australian designer Carla Zampatti 
and Fashion Editor of The Australian, Glynis  
Traill-Nash on 12 October. Ms Zampatti talked  
with great honesty about her career as one of 
Australia’s most celebrated fashion designers.

On 8 August MAAS hosted a conference Men and 
Fashion: Contradiction or New Reality, a panel 
discussion between UK and Australian fashion 
scholars. Speakers included Dr Shaun Cole,  
Professor Peter McNeil, Dr Sally Gray and Senior 
Curator Roger Leong.

Stephen Jones, the world’s most influential milliner, 
was the guest at a Designers’ Circle lunch hosted by 
the Centre for Fashion’s chief patron, Dr Gene 
Sherman AM at Sherman Contemporary Art 
Foundation. Prior to the lunch Curator Glynis Jones 
and Senior Curator Roger Leong showed Mr Jones 
many of the hats in the Museum’s storerooms. 

Curatorial staff presented current and upcoming 
fashion related research projects, programs and 
exhibitions to UTS Design and Architecture staff and 
students in a Fashion, Design and Material Culture 
Research Seminar on 12 November. 

On 10 February, MAAS hosted the China Fashion  
and Retail Forum organised by the Australia China 
Business Council and the Australia China Fashion 
Alliance. The day began with a breakfast with the 
speakers, many of them successful entrepreneurs 
dealing with China and the Keynote speaker, Vogue 
China editor-in-chief, Angelica Cheung. Angelica 
Cheung and her entourage were given a curator-led 
tour of the MAAS Collection Store highlighting 
objects from the Asian, European and Australian 
fashion collection.

MAAS CENTRE  
FOR FASHION
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The 2015–16 Annual Appeal raised $30,000 to 
acquire a selection of garments from the recent 
collection by the Sydney brand Romance was Born. 
The designs were inspired by Linda Jackson  
and have many connections with objects in  
the MAAS collection.

The MAAS Centre for Fashion Working Group 
participated in a stimulating workshop delivered by 
Robyn Holt, a brand and fashion publishing executive. 
The workshop will inform the Working Group’s 
development of a business development strategy 
aimed at increasing membership and developing  
the future program of the Centre.

‘The Collette Dinnigan's and 
Isabella Blow's exhibition were 
absolutely gorgeous! We are 
two French female visitors  
and were delighted.’ – Adult tourist

Minister for Foreign Affairs, The Hon. Julie Bishop at the opening 
of Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced. Image credit: Marinco Kojdanovski
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In 2015–16 MAAS presented three festivals. The 
city-wide Sydney Science Festival, the Sydney Mini 
Maker Faire and the city-wide Sydney Design 
Festival. 

The inaugural Sydney Science Festival was held from 
13–23 August and showcased a variety of scientific 
disciplines aimed at engaging a broad range of 
audiences. The festival was launched by the UK 
Space Scientist, Dr Maggie Aderin-Pocock. Over  
20 programs were hosted by MAAS and included a 
family science weekend, Kinda Kinky Café, 
customised events for students, lectures, debates, 
tours, demonstrations, a late night event, and video 
conference with a UK space scientist. Over 130 
events were held across the Sydney metropolitan 
region attended by over 39,000 visitors. 

FESTIVALS 

Sydney Mini Maker Faire held on 15 and 16 August 
was a family-friendly showcase of Sydney’s most 
innovative makers including tech enthusiasts, 
crafters, scientists and garage tinkerers. 

Sydney Design Festival was held on 2 to 11 September 
and broadened the definition of design to encompass 
all industries and design thinking. There were 121 
events across the city with 70 partners for a general 
public and design industry audience. Programs 
included The Really Goods Line Day celebrating 
community and urban design, a key note from Kat 
Holes, Principal Design Director for Inclusive Design 
at Microsoft, Virtual Reality panic rooms, an 
indigenous Design Day showcasing the best Sydney 
practitioners, a raft of design industry events, 
awards, talks, family activities, workshops, tours, 
exhibitions and demonstrations.

‘It was nice being in a forum where we could learn 
about a new topic and have time to talk in depth  
with the scientist afterwards.’ – 23 year old male attending 5 events
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The Museum, as part of its strategic direction, is 
implementing a range of innovative Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander (ATSI) program offers, and has 
taken action to establish a strong framework for 
embedding Indigenous cultural perspectives across 
its operations and to guide the development of its 
programs and services for its broader audience.

A working group was established to develop the 
museum’s inaugural Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 
in partnership with an Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Reference Group of nine individuals, 
representing the interests and perspectives of 
Australia’s First Nation’s peoples. 

Other advisory groups including an ATSI Collections 
Management Reference Group are being established 
to ensure that the MAAS programs are developed 
and delivered based on principles of deep 
engagement and authentic representation.

Further Indigenous strategies included the Museum’s 
development of an Indigenous Cultural Intellectual 
Property (ICIP) Protocol with the advice and support 
of Terri Janke, one of Australia’s leading legal experts. 
The Protocol is based on the UN Declaration of the 
Rights of Indigenous Peoples and provides the 
museum with a suite of guiding principles for the 
ongoing establishment of exemplar models and 
cultural leadership in the process of engagement and 
consultation with Australia’s Indigenous populations.

The Museum is also represented by the Programs 
Producer at the Cultural Institutions Working Party 
for the development of a shared ATSI Employment 
Strategy and a joint-CI’s collaborative programming 
working group. 

In addition to a range of programs associated with 
the Evidence: Brook Andrew installation, ATSI 
program highlights included: 

As part of National Sorry Day in May MAAS 
presented a site specific performance by Murrawarri 
choreographer and performer Tammi Gissell in the 
Evidence: Brook Andrew installation. 

For Mabo Day in June, MAAS welcomed Patricia 
June ‘Pat’ O’Shane AM, an indigenous Australian of 
the Kunjandji clan of the Yalangi people for our 
annual Mabo Day address and morning tea at the 
Powerhouse Museum. In addition, MAAS invited the 
youngest of Eddie Mabo’s children, Ezra Mabo, to 
visit the Sydney Observatory and view the star 
dedicated to the memory of her father the previous 
year. 

The MAAS Indigenous Cultural Development 
Residency (ICDR) program is designed to provide 
significant contemporary Australian Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander artists and thought-leaders with 
access to MAAS collection, resources and 
intelligence and provide a catalyst for the 
development of new creative forms of expression and 
cultural perspectives. 

Established in May, the MAAS ICDR Alumni now 
includes Nardi Simpson (composer and member of 
The Stiff Gins), Jane Harrison (playwright and 
researcher), Lucy Simpson (designer and Director of 
Gaawaa Miyay Designs), Sam Wagan Watson (writer 
and poet), James Alberts — Jimblah (hip hop artist), 
Jason Wing (visual artist), Angie Abdilla (film, digital 
media, robotics and environmental sciences),  
Juanita Duncan (dance), Ian RT Colless (dancer/
choreographer and education specialist) and Gail 
Mabo (visual artist/choreographer).

INDIGENOUS STRATEGIES
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The MAAS collection holds over 
500,000 objects and is world 
renowned for its calibre.  
The collection holds strength around 
eight key disciplines:

Technologies, Health and medicine,
Physical sciences, Engineering,
Architecture and the built environment,
Design and decorative arts, Fashion,
and Contemporary culture.

These disciplines are the focus for 
collection development.

New acquisitions are determined by 
the Collection Development Policy  
and the Collecting Plan 2015–2020 and 
represent both global developments 
and those reflecting our place in our 
state and region.

THE COLLECTION
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Strategic Collections 
Policy Framework 
The Strategic Collections Team has undertaken a full 
review of MAAS collection management policies to 
create a new Strategic Collections Policy Framework. 
The review reflects significant increased focus in the 
public collecting and exhibiting sector over recent 
years on sound governance, management and 
transparency in relation to collection and loan 
management. Further, an integrated approach to 
collection management has been made possible by 
the structural change enacted in 2014–15, with the 
creation of the multidisciplinary Strategic Collections 
Team, encompassing Registration, Conservation and 
Library Services. 

The Policy Framework consists of 17 policies covering 
the full range of activities undertaken by the 
Strategic Collection Team. These policies also 
support a range of curatorial, exhibition and 
programming activities carried out by the Museum. 
The Framework provides a comprehensive structure 
for informing best practice decision making and 
operations into the future. Where relevant, 
relationships between policies within the Framework 
and broader MAAS policies as well as legislation and 
guidelines are articulated and cross-referenced 
throughout. The Federal Ministry for the Arts 
provided advice and assistance to ensure the relevant 
policies are compliant with the Protection of Cultural 
Objects on Loan Act 2013 and with the Ministry for 
the Arts’ 2014 guidelines for collection development 
and due diligence, the Best Practice Guide to 
Collecting Cultural Material.

Collection Development 
Policy 
The MAAS Collection Development Policy is a key 
component of the Policy Framework. Based on the 
Strategic Plan 2020 Vision, it incorporates the eight 
focus disciplines and provides detailed guidelines 
around collecting practices and criteria. Strategic 
emphasis given to acquiring significant and 
innovative objects that demonstrate how technology, 
engineering, science and design impact Australia and 
the world. The collection is developed with an 
outward focus representative of global developments 
as well as representing our place in our state and 
region. 

Australian Indigenous 
Cultural and Intellectual 
Property Protocol 
The Museum collaborated with Terri Janke and 
Company to produce a new Australian Indigenous 
Cultural and Intellectual Property (ICIP) Protocol to 
guide acquisition, use, storage, display and 
interpretation of Indigenous collection material and 
intangible content. The Protocol recognises the  
rights of Indigenous peoples to access, maintain, 
control and benefit from their cultural heritage and 
the requirements for consultation and collaboration. 
Training took place for a broad range of relevant  
staff and Executive. 

COLLECTION 
MANAGEMENT
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Protection of Cultural 
Objects on Loan 
accreditation 
MAAS has undertaken extensive work in order to be 
accredited as a borrowing institution under the 
Protection of Cultural Objects on Loan Act 2013, 
(PCOL Act). The PCOL scheme has been established 
by the Commonwealth Government to encourage 
international lenders to lend significant works for 
temporary display in Australia. The Act limits the 
circumstances in which a lender, exhibiting 
institution, exhibition facilitator and people working 
for them can lose ownership, possession, custody or 
control of an object while it is in Australia.

The ICIP Protocol, along with the Incoming Loans; 
Accession and Acquisition; Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Repatriation; and Restitution Policies 
have been written to reflect the requirements for 
approval under and compliance with the Protection of 
Cultural Objects on Loan Act 2013 (PCOL Act). The 
application is timed to ensure compliance with 
contractual obligations for the forthcoming 
exhibition, Egyptian Mummies: Exploring Ancient 
Lives from the British Museum late in 2016. 

Provenance research 
To comply with accreditation under PCOL, MAAS 
has implemented a series of initiatives around 
provenance research. Rigorous new procedures 
around due diligence and provenance have been 
introduced with an emphasis on providing accurate 
and complete documentation on the ownership 
history of incoming loans and acquisitions. 
Provenance training workshops have been held on an 
ongoing basis with the curatorial team. A number of 
Asian objects from the collection with gaps in their 
ownership history have been included on the 
Museum’s website as part of the Provenance 
Research Project in line with international best 
practice which encourages open and transparent 
processes around provenance research.
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KEY COLLECTION 
ACQUISITIONS

Collecting priorities have been aligned with the 
Museum’s vision to be the leading museum of applied 
arts and sciences. 838 acquisitions were added to the 
MAAS collection over the year.

Significant acquisitions include: 

USA Chandelier
The ‘USA Chandelier’ from art installation Crystal 
Palace: The Great Exhibition of the Works of Industry 
of All Nuclear Nations, by Ken and Julia Yonetani 
embodies the art-science intersection, a strategic 
focal point of the MAAS collection. This mixed-media 
acquisition spans several areas of interest to the 
Museum including contemporary culture, studio 
glass and technology. 

The Chandelier is one of 31 uranium glass chandeliers 
created as a response to the 2011 Fukushima nuclear 
disaster in Japan. The series is a reference to the 31 
nuclear nations of the world. Each chandelier is made 
up of hundreds of vintage uranium beads and depicts 
a country that relies on nuclear power for energy. 
Radioactive glass has been used by the artists as a 
means of exploring the fear of radiation that Japan 
has been living with.

Purchased with funds donated through the annual 
appeal and from the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Foundation, 2016.

‘USA Chandelier’ from art installation Crystal Palace: The Great 
Exhibition of the Works of Industry of All Nuclear Nations, by Ken 
and Julia Yonetani. Image supplied. 
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Banksia brooch 
This rare botanical ‘Banksia’ brooch was exquisitely 
crafted from Australian gold by Hogarth & Erichsen in 
gold-rush Sydney about 1857–60. This unique, 
category 'A' object was made by an iconic Sydney 
partnership of migrant goldsmiths from Europe 
responsible for developing Australia’s first distinctive 
jewellery styles - long before Federation. 

Undocumented for decades in an Australian private 
collection, the brooch was identified and attributed 
to Hogarth & Erichsen by the Museum’s curators and 
first published in the MAAS book Brilliant. Australian 
Gold and Silver 1851–1950. The brooch has been 
donated under the Cultural Gifts Scheme in 
recognition of the high quality of the Museum’s 
colonial gold and silver collection. The Collecting 
Plan 2015–20 states that ‘the Museum will focus on 
enhancing collection strengths’ and this brooch 
significantly enriches one of our most prestigious 
collections.

Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program, 2016.

Iris van Herpen  
dress and shoes
Dutch fashion designer Iris van Herpen regularly 
collaborates with artists, designers and scientists to 
create work that spans the boundaries between 
clothing, art installation and scientific experiment. A 
dress from the Lucid collection is the product of a 
collaboration between van Herpen and artist and 
architect Philip Beesly. This acquisition spans several 
areas of interest to MAAS including contemporary 
culture, fashion, digital design and manufacture. 
Objects related to digital design practice are listed as 
priority acquisitions in the Collecting Plan. 

Purchased with funds from the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences Foundation, 2016.

Aero shoe, manufactured by Julia Lundstein of Fink. Image credit: 
Photo © 2016 Team Peter Stigter, courtesy of Iris van Herpen 

'Banksia' brooch, 18 ct Australian gold, attributed to Hogarth & 
Erichsen, Sydney, c. 1857–1860. Collection: Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences, Sydney. Image credit: Geoff Friend
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Merrepen textiles 
Six outstanding contemporary Aboriginal textile 
lengths were acquired from the exhibition Following 
lines: Art and Ecology from Merrepen held at Sydney’s 
The Cross Art Projects gallery, enriching the 
Museum’s disciplines of decorative arts and design 
and contemporary culture. Merrepen artists, from 
Nauiyu on the Daly River, 225 km southwest of 
Darwin, are currently at the forefront of a resurging 
Indigenous textile movement. The surfaces of their 
textiles reveal an intimate understanding of the 
natural environment and personal histories. 

Works by four leading Merrepen artists were 
selected: Gracie Kumbi (Merrepen and Yam), Marita 
Sambono (Fog Dreaming), Ann Carmel Mulvien 
(Lotus Leaf) and Telstra award-winning young artist/
designer, Kieren Karritpul (Fish Nets and Yerrgi). 
Together, the works reflect outstanding contemporary 
Indigenous art and design practice, complementing 
MAAS’s existing woven, screenprinted and batik 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island (ATSI) textile 
collection. The artists visited the Museum during 
April 2016 to view the textiles on display. 

Purchased 2016.

Dick Smith's hot air balloon
In the Roziere-type helium and hot air balloon, called 
Australian Geographic Flyer, the well-known 
Australian adventurer, aviator and philanthropist, 
Dick Smith AO and the national balloon champion for 
1988 and 1992, John Wallington, made two record-
setting balloon flights. In 1993 they were the first to 
successfully fly across Australia, and in 2000 were 
the first to fly 2000 km across the Tasman Sea 
between New Zealand and Australia. The flight, 
against the prevailing winds, took 2 days to complete. 

The balloon itself was a state of the art long distance 
balloon made in Bristol, England, by Cameron 
Balloons Ltd with a special gondola of light and 
strong Kevlar and carbon fibre. This donation is 
significant as it not only includes the balloon and 
gondola but the oxygen and gas cylinders, examples 
of the communication, safety and cooking equipment 
and even uneaten food discovered while 
accessioning all the contents of the gondola. 

Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Dick Smith AO.

Dick Smith and John Wallington in the gondola of the ‘Australian 
Geographic Flyer’ balloon (2015/49/1). Image credit: courtesy of 
Dick Smith

'Merrepen', a screenprinted textile length on linen, designed and 
made by Gracie Kumbi, Merrepen Art Centre, Nauiyu on the Daly 
River, Northern Territory, Australia, 2013 (2016/8/1). Collection: 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. Image credit: Marinco 
Kojdanovski
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MAAS offers teachers and learners 
the opportunity to explore the 
Museum and the collection via 
education programs that range from 
discovering the technical innovations 
that led to the industrial revolution to 
learning the key concepts and 
processes of computer programming. 

LEARNING
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Education and  
Digital Learning
Over the past year the Education and Digital Learning 
team has welcomed 62,545 school visitors across a 
diverse range of curriculum linked learning 
experiences.

The team is spearheading the development of 
innovative programs for delivery in museum spaces 
and through workshops and forums delivered online.

Programs are offered in three streams: 

Educator-led 
MAAS educator-led premium experiences including 
tours and workshops delivering maximum 
interactivity and engagement. MAAS offers a 
selection of fourteen educator-led experiences at the 
Powerhouse (including two +gamify offerings) and 
seven programs at Sydney Observatory. These cater 
to learners from Kindergarten to Year 12. New 
programs included the Virtual Reality Panic Room, 
Robots and Machines and Rapid Design Lab.

Self-directed 
Free-range exhibition exploration. Create your own 
syllabus connections with objects and exhibitions. 
Incorporating See-Think-Wonder to optimise 
research and interpretation skills. 

Video conferences 
Highly-interactive screen-based lessons led by MAAS 
curators and educators with guest experts such as 
university researchers, scientists or designers. 
Conferences are broadcast direct to classrooms 
using Connected-classroom or in-browser 
technology. In 2015–16 MAAS offered seven 

EDUCATION

bookable Video Conference programs out of the 
Thinkspace studio. In conjunction with cultural or 
industry partners, the team frequently hosted and 
delivered bespoke or special event video 
conferences. 

Holiday and Weekend 
Programs 
Digital workshops are run from MAAS every school 
holidays as well as on specific weekends. MAAS 
offered a wide selection of over forty types of 
workshops. Learners range from 6 years old to 
adults. 

ThinkerShield 
The ThinkerShield is a computer board used with 
electronic prototyping platform, Arduino, and allows 
learners to program and control objects in minutes. 
The ThinkerShield is a product developed by MAAS 
and is available for sale on the museum’s website. It is 
used in classrooms across Australia and is being 
integrated into the tech mandatory stage 4 syllabus. 
The market for ThinkerShield continued to grow in 
2015–16 with the product range expected to grow in 
coming years.

‘My kids did the Minecraft 
Workshop and the first thing 
they said to me when I picked 
them up was “Can we do it 
again next school holidays?”  
I think that says it all!’ – 41 year old 
female visiting with 2 primary school 
children
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Digital Programming 
In August MAAS partnered with Intel and Google to 
deliver teacher professional development workshops 
in STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics). The included programs based on LEGO, 
workshops on physical computing and a Mars Lab 
experience using the Thinkspace studio. A further 
lecture and workshop in August with a representative 
from the Raspberry Pi Foundation in the UK, in 
partnership with Sydney University provided another 
opportunity for teachers and curriculum leaders to 
engage with leaders in STEAM education.

The Science Teachers and Educators Research 
Network (STERN) met at MAAS for its annual 
meeting. The group promotes STEAM in the 
classroom based on research, and is investigating 
ways to most effectively share research outcomes 
with the teaching community.

In March a series of seminars in association with the 
Shape exhibition of HSC Design and Technology, 
Industrial Technology and Design courses were 
attended by over 2,000 students. The seminars were 
supported by hands-on workshops delivered in the 
Thinkspace studio.

Teacher Professional 
Development  
In February 2016 and following a period of program 
design and development, the NSW Board of Studies 
Teaching and Educational Standards (BOSTES) 
endorsed MAAS for three Teacher Professional 
Development programs. This is the first time that 
MAAS has been recognised by BOSTES for the 
highest quality teacher training programs. 

Teachers in NSW are required to undertake at least 
100 hours of Professional Development every five 
years, of which 50 hours are required to be BOSTES 

endorsed. The three endorsed programs are Physical 
Computing with the MAAS developed ThinkerShield, 
Scratch: Visual Programming language for the 
primary classroom, and Project based learning in 
Science with the The Mars Lab. 

The Physical Computing offer positions MAAS at the 
leading edge of progressive teacher training, and in 
alignment with calls from industry and academic 
leaders, such as Australia's Chief Scientist, for a 
significantly increased emphasis on STEAM. 

While initial teacher training will be delivered in face 
to face workshop formats, pilots are already 
underway to test the efficacy of flexible delivery 
models to increase access to regional teachers 
utilising contemporary approaches such as by video 
conference. 

Informed by the latest adult learning research 
findings, MAAS Learn is also introducing best-
practice strategies including the establishment of 
self-sustaining learning communities of practice as 
on-going support groups. 

MAAS Young Creators 
Conference  
MAAS ran the first Sydney Mini-Faire in 2014, and 
school groups have participated at this and every 
annual faire, presenting creative classroom projects 
ranging from smart device apps through to original 
musical compositions performed on unique hand-
made instruments. 

Each year, demand for school representation has 
increased, reflecting the growing appreciation of the 
value of maker spaces, coding and project-based 
learning to deliver quality learning experiences. It is 
in response to this activity that in 2016 the Museum 
introduced dedicated faire for schools: the MAAS 
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Young Creators Conference. The MAAS Learning 
team has collated a directory of schools engaging in 
these contemporary pedagogical approaches, which 
formed the basis for the network of participating 
schools. Following the success of the inaugural event, 
it is anticipated that the Young Creators Conference 
will become a regular feature of the MAAS Learning 
program. 

Young people and educators from fifteen NSW 
schools starred in the inaugural MAAS Young 
Creators Conference. This #SSF16 schools event 
opened a window into some of today’s most 
innovative classrooms to showcase independent, 
Catholic and public primary and high schools from 

the inner-city (International Grammar School, 
Paddington Public) to West and South West Sydney 
(Parramatta Marist, Hoxton Park Public), Northern 
Sydney (Wahroonga Public), and regional areas 
(Canobolas High, Parkes High). 

Projects created and presented by the young people 
featured maker-spaces, coding clubs, robotics, 
Internet-of-Things, smart-farms, enquiry-based 
science and even an inter-school design challenge. 
Ingenuity was the common element throughout the 
entire day.

Learners in a Thinkspace Minecraft workshop. Image credit: Ryan Hernadez
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Aurora College 
Working with Aurora College, NSW’s virtual selective 
high school servicing learners in regional and remote 
communities, MAAS Learning team devised and 
delivered a term-long course on physical computing. 
The ThinkerShield created by MAAS was used as the 
actual platform for the workshops, and learners had 
the opportunity to work through the course content 
and take their own projects further with the support 
of the Education and Digital Learning team.

Mars One: Colonising 
Mars with Josh Richards 
In February a special event video conference was run 
with Australia’s Mars One candidate Josh Richards. In 
two sessions over 700 learners from across the state 
had the opportunity to interact with Josh Richards 
remotely, while he served a five-day period in 
isolation in a Mars-like HAB (habitat) in Circular 
Quay. Learners posed questions, talked about life on 
Mars, and found out why he was willing to leave 
Earth forever. 

Mars Lab 
Mars Lab video conferences have continued to 
flourish. The audience of workshops has included 
interstate schools and also international schools from 
France. Mars Lab continues to lead the way in unique 
video conferencing education experiences.

Participating teachers said: 

‘I just want to say a big thank 
you for the YCC. Our kids were 
still buzzing today and had such 
a wonderful time … The day 
was a huge success for us … 
Looking forward to next year.’ 
– Public School Principal

‘Thank-you for the opportunity 
to bring my students to the 
Powerhouse for the Young 
Creators Conference. This 
experience was so powerful  
for them.’ – School librarian

Video conferences 
Australian Theatre for Young People 
Working with Australian Theatre for Young People 
(ATYP) MAAS provided video conferences to regional 
schools in October. ATYP used the MAAS studio to 
provide a much more interactive offer than is possible 
at their own venue.

MAAS collaborated with ATYP again in June, 
facilitating Video Conferences for its 2016 Foundation 
Commission Schools Partnership Script Development 
workshops. This was part of a series of events in 
which regional young people had the opportunity to 
connect with staff, performers and crew at ATYP to 
devise their own theatre production. On the day a 
group of young performers workshopped the script 
so far with the schools involved and mentors from 
ATYP.
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Access and Equity  
Engaging Girls in STEAM 
The Education and Digital Learning team has had a 
focus on progress toward equal gender participation 
in the digital learning centre Thinkspace, introducing 
new Just for Girls coding and game design 
workshops which attracted almost 200 participants. 

People with a disability  
Workshops for groups of people with a disability 
enable participants to use a variety of electronic and 
acoustic musical instruments to create live music. 
Electronic instruments used include keyboards  
and drum pads, ‘jelly-bean’ buttons and switches, 
touch-sensitive devices including iPads, and the 
Special Access Kit ‘banana’ keyboard — an 
ergonomically designed MIDI-interface designed  
to suit a wide range of physical abilities. 

Traditional instruments include a wide range of 
hand-percussion and stringed instruments such  
as electric guitar and digital drum kit. 

The program initiative delivered 136 workshops  
for 1224 participants. Participants in this program 
produce a short original movie. 

2016 Schools 
Reconciliation Challenge 
In early 2016 the Education and Digital Learning  
team partnered with Reconciliation NSW and the 
Sydney Story Factory to develop a Video 
Conferencing workshop for the 2016 Schools 
Reconciliation Challenge, supporting learners  
as they composed artworks and stories for the 
competition. The team collaborated on the design  
of a storytelling workshop based in drama games 
exploring character, setting and empathy under the 
2016 Challenge theme Always was, always will be.  
In May the team managed the technical aspects of 
the delivery of three Video Conference workshops, 
reaching seventeen regional, remote and 
metropolitan schools and 529 school learners.

Learners in a Thinkspace workshop. Image credit: Sotha Bourn
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Observatory early  
learning pilots  
In the first half of 2016, the Observatory hosted a 
number of pilot programs for early learners. The team 
devised and adapted a series of age-appropriate 
activities exploring the solar system, including 
making a model of Saturn, an Introduction to 
telescopes, and a game of Musical Planets.

Bespoke Learning offerings 
Throughout the year, the team has responded to 
specific requests from teachers, adapting programs 
to their needs and in some cases devising 
experimental bespoke offerings. In 2015–16 these 
included:

Kirrawee High School — How to Make a Pop-up 
Museum: A talk supporting a visit of Year 9 and 10 
learners embarking on the creation of their own 
museum-style display at school; 

St Francis Xavier School, Ashbury — Behind the 
Scenes Tour: Year 2 studying ‘Systems’ visited the 
museum to find out more about how it works as  
an organisation, including the variety of roles that 
need to be fulfilled and how various activities in a 
museum interrelate.

Museums Discovery 
Centre: Learning  
Co-Design Pilots 
In early 2016 the Education and Digital Learning team 
embarked on a Co-Design Pilot program proposed as 
the first Learning offering for the soon to re-launched 
Museums Discovery Centre at Castle Hill. This 
presented a unique opportunity to engage in best 
practice in museum education by initiating a series of 
collaborative projects in partnership with local 
schools, showcasing the work of learners and their 
teachers and supporting them with a public forum for 
their projects. 

The projects were intended to support the Learning 
team in re-establishing relationships within the 
community and engaging in consultation with this 
audience to discover their priorities, needs, interests 
and ideas for working with and accessing a museum. 
A flexible, curriculum-ready framework informed by 
Inquiry Learning practices was devised and shared 
with a number of local primary and high schools. 

In May and June initial meetings and consultations 
took place with staff from identified partner schools. 
In June the Learning team devised and delivered the 
first set of incursions to ninety Year 2 learners at 
Angela's School. These were Special Objects 
workshops that supported teachers’ work in the area 
of historical inquiry in which special significance to 
them and created an object tag for it to be a part of  
a museum collection and/or display. 
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Kids Extravaganza at Sydney Observatory. Image credit: Prudence Upton
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The following case studies illustrate  
a number of projects that realise the 
strategic ambitions articulated in  
the Museum’s 2020 Vision: curiosity, 
creativity, collaboration and 
sustainability.

CASE 
STUDIES
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Renowned author and educator, Sir 
Ken Robinson says: ‘curiosity is the 
engine of achievement’. MAAS 
recognises that curiosity is the 
cornerstone of learning, problem 
solving and personal development. 
It is the key motivator that drives 
humans to explore and is at the 
heart of all scientific discovery. The 
notion of curiosity is embedded in 
the MAAS mission — to be a 
catalyst for creative expression and 
curious minds. 

What better way to spark curiosity 
for Sydney audiences than with the 
inaugural Sydney Science Festival 
held from 13 to 23 August 2015. 
Built upon the legacy of the long 
standing Ultimo Science Festival, 
the Sydney Science Festival aims 
to spark curiosity for a wider group 
of audiences. Young children and 
their families, scientists, experts 
and their peers, researchers, 
academics and innovators came 
together across 10 days to 
elaborate on international 
scientific advances as well as 
highlight the enormous scientific 
talent in our city. 

In partnership with Inspiring 
Australia and part of activities for 
National Science Week, the festival 
sought to engage audiences and 
build enduring relationships across 
the scientific community

Over 250 participants included 
cultural institutions, universities, 
schools, research institutions as 
well as individual scientists and 
experts who presented over 130 

events from Rouse Hill to Oyster 
Bay and drew over 39,000 people. 
High profile guests included the 
UK’s Dr Maggie Aderin-Pocock, 
astronaut Chris Hadfield and 
American astrophysicist, 
cosmologist, author, and science 
communicator Neil deGrasse 
Tyson. 

Inquisitiveness and the spirit of 
enquiry was the order of the day at 
the Opera House when explorer 
Steve Winter shared stories of 
capturing and documenting 
wildlife for National Geographic. 
At the State Theatre, Ray Martin 
probed the mind of astronaut Chris 
Hadfield as he recounted his 
journey from a curious boy to 
orbiting the earth on a habitable 
artificial satellite. 

Other curiosity-inspiring events 
included The University of Sydney’s 
forum investigating the 
connections between wellness and 
a range of pseudoscientific claims. 
At the Powerhouse Museum, Dr 
Karl Kruszelnicki focused on the 
human body and all the things that 
can go wrong, whilst the 
Geological Society of Australia 
looked at alternative energy 
possibilities. At the Sydney 
Institute of Marine Science, 
audiences shared the contributions 
of over 130,000 ‘citizen scientists’, 
the Sydney Observatory hosted a 
talk recounting the tale of the 
Narrabri Stellar Intensity 
Interferometer and at UTS we 
heard about research into rare and 
hardy new breeds of coral. 

The popular MAASive Lates: 
Science event attracted 1,800 
adults who enjoyed science-
inspired dance and music, speed 
dating a geek, patting real live 
animals and playing periodic table 
bingo while the Explode it with 
Science event went off with a bang  
as children and their families 
enjoyed a day of explosions and 
hands-on experiments. The family-
friendly Science in the Swamp 
event at Centennial Parklands was 
attended by over 10,000 people. 

From molecular clocks, climate 
change, Einstein’s theory of gravity, 
quantum computing and 
teleportation, the Sydney Science 
Festival showcased how science 
impacts our everyday existence 
and can change the way we live 
our lives. Over 80% of audiences 
strongly agreed that Sydney 
Science Festival inspired them to 
learn more about science. This 
positive result highlighted the 
transformative nature of festival 
events in the context of Australia’s 
current need to foster innovation 
and embrace new ideas  
in science.

CURIOSITY —  
SYDNEY SCIENCE FESTIVAL
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Artist Brook Andrew was 
commissioned by the Museum in 
2015 to make a major new art 
installation incorporating and 
responding to the collection. Brook 
is an outstanding Australian artist 
whose complex multi-disciplinary 
processes incorporate 
photography, installation, museum 
interventions, and public and 
interactive artworks. He creates 
meaning through harnessing 
artefacts and often uses 
contemporary interpretations of 
the traditional Wiradjuri language 
and motifs of his mother’s 
ancestors. 

The MAAS collection spanning so 
much of human endeavour and 
Australia’s colonial experience 
provided an abundance of research 
material and evocative objects, 
which the artist embraced with 
great relish and which formed the 
basis of the commission. Originally 
invited to respond to the theme of 
‘disobedient objects’, Brook 
brought to light collection objects 
and archives that tell the story of 
social change, ingenuity in the face 
of resistance, and the struggle for 
rights and liberties. 

His process involved researching 
the collection and collating objects 
as seemingly disparate as a 1960s 
electronic analog computer; an 
early colonial silver statue from 
about 1855 of an Aboriginal man 
named Warrah Warrah but known 
by colonists as ‘Ricketty Dick’; a 
magic lantern projector made in 
Scotland between about 1895 and 

1905; a decorative porcelain toilet 
from the late 19th century; a 
botanical specimen of provision 
opium from 1859; an early model 
black box flight recorder; an 
Aboriginal Carved Tree that came 
into the collection in 1922; 
Governor Lachlan Macquarie’s 
chair from 1820–21; a Brown Bess 
musket from around 1810–1820 and 
a Rakali (water rat) fur coat from 
1940–50. Australian historical 
photographs functioned as the 
inspiration for the incredible large 
scale printed works, banners and 
soft sculptures the artist made to 
complete the project. Photographs 
also functioned as the inspiration 
for the series of vivid neon 
silhouettes that picked out shapes 
from the original photographic 
source and were installed around 
the gallery space. Also on display 
were two massive inflatable 
sculptures suspended in the 
Turbine Hall depicting Brook’s 
signature Wiradjuri patterning.

Brook’s engagement with the 
Museum demonstrates the 
creative, dynamic and energised 
ways in which objects in our care 
can be interpreted for our times. 
The collection remains at the 
centre of everything we do — a 
reference to a past era, kept alive 
through interpretation. Brook’s 
interpretation connects recent art 
with our collection to create a 
dramatic environment where 
central questions of visibility and 
obscurity are raised — where 
evidence of our social and political 
realities are revealed or concealed. 

In this collaborative engagement 
with an artist of Brook’s experience 
and rigour the Museum was able 
to creatively approach processes 
that ensure more of its vast 
collection was on display. 

Brook was responsive to our desire 
for the collection to act as a 
catalyst for advancing knowledge 
and for MAAS to be a safe place 
for dangerous ideas. Evidence: 
Brook Andrew demonstrates our 
commitment to supporting the 
production of creative content and 
producing multi-disciplinary 
projects. The installation extended 
beyond the gallery space through 
the publication of an extensive 
illustrated catalogue that included 
essays by MAAS curators, the 
Program Producer (Indigenous) 
and Dr Katherine Biber, Professor 
of Law, University of Technology 
Sydney.

CREATIVITY –  
BROOK ANDREW
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The Museums Discovery Centre 
(MDC) is a collaboration between 
the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences (MAAS), Australian 
Museum (AM) and Sydney Living 
Museums. Inside the Museums 
Discovery Centre there are millions 
of treasures, with hundreds on 
display to explore, and thousands 
more waiting to be discovered 
through tours of the deep 
collection stores.

A visit to the MDC will provide a 
rare opportunity to learn about 
museum collecting, conservation 
and research practices. The items 
on display at the Museums 
Discovery Centre are drawn from 
the vast collections of the Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences, 
Australian Museum and Sydney 
Living Museums. Between them, 
these museums care for millions of 
objects and specimens, providing 
insights into engineering, 
architecture, science, art, 
transport, fashion, design, health, 
technology, natural history, 
domestic life, Indigenous and 
Pacific cultures and more.

Many of the items on display have 
never been exhibited before, and 
there are many more treasures to 
be seen by taking a booked tour 
through the deep stores where the 
museum staff work day to day.

In 2012–13, the NSW Government 
granted $33.6 million to refurbish 
existing buildings on the Castle Hill 
site including the display store, 
conservation workshops, offices 

and the addition of a new 
9,000sqm collection store. The 
Centre also provides opportunities 
for public engagement on and off 
the site though the inclusion of 
video conferencing facilities, 
workshop and learning spaces.

This has been an unprecedented 
collaboration in Australia, for three 
organisations to not only share 
collection storage spaces, but also 
exhibit their collections together.

Representatives from the three 
institutions have worked across 
many different disciplines: content 
and program development, 
communications, facilities 
management, collections 
management and care to ensure 
that a new global benchmark is set 
for not only how we provide 
access to the riches of our 
collections, but that it also 
represents a new standard for how 
organisations collaborate.

Beyond the three key organisations 
— a major project such as this also 
requires collaboration with many 
other partners, who had 
exceptional support from our 
Government partners: NSW 
Treasury, NSW Public Works, TAFE 
NSW and The Hills Shire Council. 
We have also had the benefit of 
exceptional design and creative 
teams on the project through 
JP&D Architecture, BVN 
Architecture and Citizen Group.

The MDC is scheduled to open in 
September 2016.

COLLABORATION – 
MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE
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A focus on creating a sustainable 
museum has resulted in significant 
growth in both self-generated 
revenue and new audiences. 
Fundamental to achieving this 
growth has been investment in a 
vibrant program of exhibitions and 
public and education engagement. 

The success of The Art of the Brick: 
DC Comics exhibition exemplifies 
this focus. The exhibition was the 
summer offer for 2015 opening on 
27 November, and proved to be so 
popular the season was extended 
past its original May close date to 
finish in June. By leveraging 
strategic partnerships that drove 
both local and national visitors, 
combined with a robust marketing 
platform and retail offering, the 
exhibition embodied the Museum’s 
approach to financial sustainability.

Total revenue generated by The Art 
of the Brick: DC Comics was more 
than $3,897,800 and included 
$2,819,945 in admissions revenue, 
20% above estimate. Additional 
revenue was generated through 
sponsors, venue hire, Museum 
shops, catering and cafes. 

The Art of the Brick: DC Comics 
was supported through six 
sponsors and partners including 
the City of Sydney, DC Comics, 
Destination NSW, Knight Group, 
Torch Media and The Daily 
Telegraph and the Sunday 
Telegraph, together generating 
$400,000 in partnership support. 
Destination NSW’s role as 
Strategic Partner further allowed 

the Museum to increase marketing 
for the exhibition, contributing 
more than $20 million in value 
from an integrated marketing and 
communications campaign.

As the world premiere of the 
exhibition, it drew both 
enthusiastic fans of DC Comics 
characters and fans of LEGO 
bricks, allowing the Museum to 
customise offerings for multiple 
demographics. Audience research 
showed the exhibition was 
successful in both attracting new 
audiences and re-engaging lapsed 
visitors, particularly in the family 
demographic. Public and 
education programs were tailored 
for diverse audiences and the 
exhibition served as the platform 
for the Museum’s January and 
April school holiday programs. 
Programs such as the superhero-
themed sleepover inside the 
exhibition appealed to children and 
families, whilst evening events like 
the Museum’s MAASive Lates 
program drew more than 1,000 
adult visitors. 

The Art of the Brick: DC Comics 
also provided opportunities to 
increase earned revenue through 
an in exhibition shop. Led by 
popular branded items including 
the exhibition catalogue, LEGO 
kits, figures and books, the shop 
generated more than $722,000 in 
revenue with products related to 
Art of the Brick: DC Comics. More 
than 41,000 were branded items, 
and as a result the Museum is now 
developing more MAAS-branded 

and collection-related retail 
offerings across all three venues. 

By using The Art of the Brick: DC 
Comics as a model, and by 
proactively identifying marketing, 
partnership and revenue-
generating retail opportunities for 
other upcoming exhibitions, the 
Museum will continue to build 
sustainable business operations 
that ensure success across diverse 
platforms and audiences. 

SUSTAINABILITY —  
THE ART OF THE BRICK:  
DC COMICS
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‘The DC Comics display 
was fantastic — we all love 
it. We also loved the “build  
your own” section. I love 
anything that encourages 
creativity.’ – 42 year old visiting with 
three children of secondary school age

Visitor in The Art of the Brick: DC Comics. Image credit: Artof2 Photography
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MAAS employed 213 full time staff  
at 30 June, an increase of 25 when 
compared with the numbers at 30 
June 2015. The increases were due  
to previously unfilled roles in the 
organisation structure being filled.

Priority was given to enhancing 
recruitment practice, to ensure the 
skills and capabilities of staff were 
aligned to the ambitions of the 2020 
Vision. 

PEOPLE



51ANNUAL REPORT

Recruitment 
Recruitment processes were reviewed and the 
process streamlined to achieve a 50% reduction in 
the days to fill, bringing the average recruitment time 
down to 35 days. Job advertisements showcase the 
unique working experience that the Museum offers, 
with particular emphasis on ensuring that a 
consistent experience is provided to candidates 
throughout the recruitment process. This has 
resulted in the recruitment of a highly experienced 
and respected Executive leadership team, Curatorial, 
Exhibitions, Programs and support staff. In line with 
GSE Act requirements, candidates are required to 
undertake a skills exercise, aligned to the position 
description. Psychometric testing is employed for all 
leadership roles.

Further information about the staff profile is provided 
at Appendices 10–12 of this report.

Professional development 
In addition to recruiting high calibre staff the 
Museum focused on supporting the professional 
development of its existing workforce through the 
implementation of its Personal Development Program 
(PDP). 

The program is designed to:

• align individual deliverables to the Museum’s 2020 
Vision

• identify and address capability gaps to deliver on 
current and future objectives

• identify and retain high potential employees

The program was implemented in May 2015 with all 
staff having an approved plan by July 2015. The 
completion of a full cycle will be achieved in August 
2016. Metrics relating to achievement of key 
milestones including closing the capability gap and 

retention of identified high potential employees is 
being undertaken. The Program will be refined based 
on the results achieved.

Other professional development initiatives 
implemented during the reporting period include the 
introduction of regular research talks by thought 
leaders in disciplines such as Curatorial, Digital, 
Education and Programming. These talks are 
designed to build curiosity and collaboration to 
promote the Museum as a valuable research partner.

The focus over the coming year will be on building 
leadership capabilities and embedding a service 
focused culture across the organisation.

‘All staff were amazing — from 
the facilitators who ran the 
workshop, to the staff helping 
out at the Super hero photo 
station whose attention to detail 
was fabulous, to the staff selling 
tickets and offering general 
assistance throughout the 
museum were just fabulous.’  
– 37 year old visiting with two children

STAFF PROFILE
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Staff consultation 
Two forums provide opportunity for staff 
consultation. The Joint Consultative Committee 
(JCC) provides opportunities for the Executive team 
and staff and union representatives to address 
matters relating to organisational change and 
performance. The JCC met on four occasions over 
the year.

The Staff Consultative Committee was established in 
2014 to provide an additional opportunity for a cross 
section of MAAS staff to engage with the Executive 
to identify ways to enhance the workplace 
environment. Elections for the six staff and volunteer 
representatives were held in July and the Committee 
met on four occasions.

Workplace Health and Safety (WHS)

There has been considerable emphasis on WHS 
during the period. Monthly reports are provided to 
Board of Trustees meetings, where WHS remains a 
priority standing item. WHS is also a priority standing 
agenda item for every Executive and Leadership 
Team meeting, and each monthly All Staff meeting 
includes a WHS presentation.

Elections were held for staff representation on the 
MAAS wide WHS Committee, which is chaired by 
steam education officer Chris Eagle. The Committee 
met on four occasions in the reporting period.

In recent years there has been a significant reduction 
in Workers Compensation claims. 

20 claims were lodged in 2014–15, whilst 5 claims 
were lodged in 2015–16.

Registration and Conservation staff installing objects at the 
Museums Discovery Centre. Image credit: Ryan Hernadez
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Celebrating its 28th year, the MAAS Volunteer 
Program continues to be a vibrant force, helping the 
Museum reach new communities and providing 
opportunities for visitors to form a deeper connection 
with the collection.

In 2015–16 435 volunteers provided 30,634 hours of 
their time to support MAAS activities. The year has 
seen an increasing number of departments engaging 
the services of volunteers. The targeted recruitment 
of short term volunteers created pathways for those 
with specific interests to contribute to the MAAS 
mission. A team of research volunteers was recruited 
to assist Curatorial investigating Health and Medicine 
acquisitions; a team of education volunteers was 
recruited to assist family audiences explore the Art of 
the Brick exhibition and programs; a team of Event 
volunteers was recruited to assist with the Sydney 
Science Festival and Sydney Design festival, whilst a 
team of Deloitte Corporate Volunteers provided 
valuable assistance to the Registration team, 
supporting the documentation related to cataloguing 
the collection.

VOLUNTEERS

‘We greatly enjoyed a general 
introduction tour by a volunteer 
and then a fabulous guided  
walk around the undressed 
exhibition. Very informative  
and a lot of interactive fun with 
both volunteers. Thank you’.  
– Powerhouse Visitor
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The 2020 Vision commits MAAS  
to share the knowledge enabled by 
the collection, and to identify areas  
of research and investigation that 
provide for a vigorous program  
of interdisciplinary activity across 
applied arts and sciences.

RESEARCH
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The MAAS Research Advisory Committee leads the 
research culture within the Museum and has 
oversight of the strategic direction and priorities for 
the Museum’s research.

Staff research profiles with information about MAAS 
research expertise went live on the website in 2015, 
enabling the research activity and profile to be more 
visible to the public. In addition, the website now 
includes information about the major funded 
research projects in which MAAS is a partner and 
profiles of the MAAS Visiting Research Fellows and 
their projects while at the Museum. 

Provenance — symposium 
An important symposium on provenance research 
and due diligence was organised by MAAS and held 
in late July 2015. Museum professionals and 
academics with an interest in this area discussed a 
range of current issues including ethics, the law, and 
museum practice. Speakers included Dr Gerard 
Vaughan, NGA; Professor Lyndel Prott; Dr Jacqui 
Strecker, MAAS; Simon Kelly, Director, Ministry for 
the Arts, Attorney-General’s Department; Sara Kelly, 
NMA; Matt Poll, Macleay Museums; and Katrina 
Hogan, MAAS. The session was facilitated by Dolla 
Merrillees, Director Curatorial, Collections & 
Exhibitions.

Objects on Display: 
Disrupting Tradition — 
symposium 
On 25 February, the Museum hosted the third 
symposium in the MAAS Professional Series titled 
The Objects on Display: Disrupting Tradition. This 
brought together museum professionals with an 
interest in display methods to provoke discussion, 
share ideas and practice about the ways in which 

collecting institutions are attending to audience 
expectations, museological innovation and changes 
in approach to conservation of cultural collections. 
New approaches towards interpretation, display, use 
of and access to collections and the increasing 
importance of public outreach were discussed. A 
range of speakers addressed curatorial and 
conservation practice and the physical and digital 
dimensions of this topic. Speakers included Jonathan 
London, MAAS; John Kirkman, ICE; Katie Dyer, 
MAAS; Dr Jacqueline Millner, University of Sydney; 
and Seb Chan, ACMI, with MAAS acting Director 
Curatorial, Collections and Exhibitions Rebecca 
Bushby, giving the welcome and introduction. Dr 
Jacqui Strecker, Head of Curatorial MAAS facilitated 
the session. 

In early August 2015 MAAS Centre for Fashion hosted 
a research event titled, Men and Fashion: 
Contradiction or New Reality? A panel of UK and 
Australian scholars debated this topic. Speakers 
included Dr Shaun Cole, Programme Director for 
Curation and Culture Program and Course Leader for 
the Master of History and Culture of Fashion at 
London College of Fashion; Professor Peter McNeil, 
Associate Dean (Research) and Director of HDR 
Programs in Design, Architecture and Building, 
University of Technology Sydney; Dr Sally Gray, 
Visiting Scholar in Cultural History at the University 
of NSW. The session was facilitated by Roger Leong, 
Senior Curator, MAAS. 

On 3 November 2015 MAAS co-hosted a seminar 
with renowned museum theorist and curator, 
Professor Barbara Kirshenblatt Gimblett. The seminar 
was titled Objects, time and trauma: Materialising the 
‘long view’ of history. Barbara’s most recent role has 
been lead curator on the POLIN — The museum of 
the history of Polish Jews, and the seminar explored 
connections with Australian perspectives on memory, 
history, collections, and museum practice.

RESEARCH OVERVIEW



56 2015 – 16

Provenance research 
project  
Over the past year MAAS has been working on two 
important components to its provenance research:

Policies and procedures. As part of the recently 
updated Collection Development Policy curators 
rigorously research objects and their provenance 
according to the Provenance Research Guidelines 
and utilising the Due Diligence Provenance Checklist. 
The MAAS Restitution and Claims Handling Policy 
provides further governance on provenance matters. 

Public information. Information about the Museum’s 
approach to provenance research is provided on the 
MAAS website. Over time, information about key 
objects lacking provenance in four specific areas will 
be included on the website. The public is asked to 
assist with providing information that will assist in 
determining provenance of these objects. The four 
areas are: Asian collection; Upcoming exhibitions; 
World War Two era works; and the Indigenous 
Collection. 

MAAS Visiting Research 
Fellows  
Visiting Research Fellow, Dr Sally Gray, an independent 
curator and researcher and Visiting Scholar in 
Cultural History at UNSW Art & Design, was with the 
Museum from November 2015 to March 2016 to work 
on her research project titled Hand and Heart Shall 
Never Part-Researching the creative collaboration of 
Linda Jackson and David McDiarmid. Dr Gray was 
the first Fellow at the MAAS Centre of Fashion and 
focused on jointly created works by Jackson and 
McDiarmid held in the MAAS collection (McDiarmid 
as fabric painter and Jackson as fashion designer).

Visiting Research Fellow, Dr Gail Kenning from the 
University of Technology Sydney, undertook research 
at the Museum from March to April 2016 with a 
project titled Everyday Creativity. Dr Kenning focused 
on exploring contemporary relationships to craft 
activities and hobbies and how these contribute to 
positive wellbeing and healthy ageing. Her research 
engaged with the MAAS staff, volunteers, the library, 
and archives.

Research partnerships  
MAAS is a formal research partner in four funded 
major research projects: 

A national framework for managing malignant 
plastics in museum collections: 2016–2019. Funding 
body: ARC Linkage Grant

Project leader: Dr Petronella Nel, University of 
Melbourne; MAAS project lead: Sue Gatenby 

This ARC Linkage project will have an important 
conservation focus for museum collections. The 
research aims to discover methods for predicting and 
increasing the lifespan of malignant plastics by 
comprehensively studying their identification, 
deterioration and conservation. As an outcome of the 
research museums will be provided with a model for 
prioritising and effectively allocating resources for 
maximising the preservation of a vulnerable group of 
collections for future generations.

Other partners from the cultural sector include 
Museum Victoria, Queensland Museum, South 
Australian Museum, and the Art Gallery of NSW. The 
University of Melbourne will lead the project and the 
University of Technology Sydney and Flinders 
University are university partners.

Innovative Learning Environments and Teacher 
Change: 2015–2019. Funding body: ARC Linkage 
Grant

Project leader: Dr Wesley Imms, University of 
Melbourne; MAAS project lead: Peter Mahony

The University of Melbourne’s Learning Environments 
Applied Research Network (LEaRN) is partnering with 
schools in NSW, Queensland, the ACT, Victoria and 
New Zealand to research how teachers can utilise 
‘innovative learning environments’ to improve 
teaching skills.

This ARC Linkage project aims to bridge a gap 
between the educational potential of innovative 
learning environment designs and their performance. 
Currently, multi-modal technology-enabled spaces 
are not producing demonstrable benefits for 
students. Many teachers resist altering their mindset 
about how students learn effectively in these spaces 
and how they might teach differently. 
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The project aims to work with schools, government 
and industry to analyse the relationships between 
quality teaching and effective use of innovative 
learning environments. The understanding gained 
through the project is expected to guide 
developments in pedagogy, policy and design and to 
produce strategies to improve learning in schools 
across Australia and New Zealand.

Other partners include: Anglican Church Grammar 
School in Brisbane, Woodleigh School in Victoria, and 
the Australian Science and Mathematics School in 
South Australia, New Zealand Ministry of Education, 
the Catholic Education Diocese of Parramatta, the 
Department of Education Training and Employment 
in Queensland, the ACT Education and Training 
Directorate, and the Department of Education and 
Communities in NSW, Ecophon Acoustics Sweden, 
Marshall Day Acoustics Australia, Hayball Architects, 
Telstra Australia, and the Council of Educational 
Facilities Planners International.

Curating Third Space: the value of art-science 
collaboration: 2015–2018. Funding body: ARC 
Linkage Grant 

Project leader: Professor Jill Bennett, UNSW Art & 
Design; MAAS project lead: Katie Dyer; other staff 
involved: Matthew Connell, Dr Kylie Budge

This ARC Linkage project is investigating the 
importance of art–science collaboration in 
contemporary research. Developing an innovative 
method to evaluate aesthetic dynamics, the project 
seeks to examine how art–science generates new 
modes of transdisciplinary knowledge and unique 
forms of public engagement. In collaboration with 
partners in the museum and cultural sectors, the 
method will be applied to two major case studies of 
art–science exhibitions in Australian (MAAS) and 
international venues. Findings are intended to inform 
strategies for cultural programming, to enable 
museums to support art–science exploration and to 
increase the engagement of new audiences with both 
art and scientific research. Through its network of 
partner organisations in the cultural sector, the 
project aims to establish Australia as a global leader 
in transdisciplinary research and cultural 
programming.

Other partners include: Australia Council; Foundation 
for Art and Creative Technology; ArtScience Museum 
Singapore; and The Royal Institution of Australia Inc.

‘Let’s go to the museum’: an investigation of the 
expectations and learning engagement of prior-to-
school aged children and their families: 2016. Funding 
body: Macquarie University Enterprise Partnerships 
Scheme

Project leader: Associate Professor Sheila Degotardi, 
Institute of Early Childhood, Macquarie University; 
MAAS project lead: Lily Katakouzinos; other staff 
involved: Danielle Aynsley

This pilot study is investigating how museums can 
promote museum-based involvement and learning of 
diverse families with prior-to-school aged children 
(0–5 year olds). MAAS is participating as a partner 
along with Museum Victoria and the Australian 
National Maritime Museum.

Two other smaller scale research partnerships are in 
development:

Neutron analysis techniques and the MAAS Collection 

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology 
Organisation (ANSTO), Bragg Institute

ANSTO; MAAS project lead: Sue Gatenby 

The Bragg Institute, ANSTO and MAAS are working 
together to look at ways in which the ANSTO Bragg 
Institute’s neutron analysis techniques can be 
adapted for use by archaeologists, heritage and 
museum experts, and whether such techniques if 
applied to the Museum’s collection may be used for 
other industrial applications. 

In 2015 ANSTO borrowed samurai swords and 
unused rivets (made for the Sydney Harbour Bridge 
construction) from the MAAS collection for non-
destructive testing based on neutron analysis. The 
research partnership forming between ANSTO and 
MAAS will consider opportunities to trial the use of 
methodologies and technologies on other parts of 
the MAAS collection. 
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3D scanning techniques for cultural heritage 
preservation

Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology, 
University of Technology Sydney; MAAS project lead: 
Arul Baskaran. 

The partnership between UTS and MAAS is a new 
collaboration to look at ways in which high quality 3D 
scanning techniques can be used for cultural heritage 
preservation and interpretation, and whether such 
techniques may be used for other applications. This 
work is being led by a newly formed research group 
within the Faculty of Engineering and Information 
Technology at UTS which has an interest in the 
application of 3D scanning to heritage collections. 
The first stage of this collaboration involves 3D 
scanning of six to twelve objects to be displayed in 
the upcoming Icons exhibition. 
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Two new publications were produced. 

In December, MAAS Media, the Museum’s publishing 
label, launched Evidence: Brook Andrew to 
accompany the exhibition of the same name. The 
book further explores the themes of evidence, 
stereotypes, interpretation and material culture 
through an interview with Andrew reflecting on his 
artistic philosophy and practice, an essay by legal 
academic Katherine Biber on the use of criminal 
evidence in art, and essays by MAAS curators that 
further explore the themes of evidence, stereotypes, 
interpretation and material culture through selected 
Museum objects for the exhibition. The 144-page, full 
colour book retails for $39.95 through MAAS Store 
and selected bookstores.

The Australasian Sky Guide 2016 was published in 
November. Published annually since 1991 and written 
by Dr Nick Lomb, the Sky Guide continues to be a 
favourite with astronomers, photographers, event 
planners, teachers and students and this edition sold 
out. 

Two major publications are currently in production to 
accompany the Museum’s upcoming exhibition 
program, Out of Hand: Materialising the Digital to be 
published in September 2016 and ICONS from the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Collection to 
follow in October. The Museum has commissioned 
award-winning Australian author Drusilla Modjeska 
to contribute an essay to the ICONS publication. 
Modjeska’s writing often explores the boundaries 
between fiction and non-fiction. This collaboration 
has been made possible by a grant from the 
Copyright Agency Cultural Fund. Over three years 
MAAS will commission creative authors to write 
about aspects of the MAAS Collection from a range 
of different perspectives. ICONS is the first in the 
Collection series.

The Production team produced the summer and 
winter issues of MAAS Magazine with contributors 
from across the Museum. MAAS Magazine is 
distributed to Members and other Museum 
stakeholders. It is also available for sale in the MAAS 
Store and online in a flipbook format.

PUBLICATIONS
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OUTREACH

MAAS seeks to engage with 
audiences beyond the physical 
boundaries of its venues.  A priority is 
engagement with communities across 
New South Wales through 
partnerships and collaborations with 
regional museums and other 
institutions. An extensive loan 
program enables the collection to 
reach new audiences, whilst 
professional development workshops 
and forums enhance skills in 
collection development and 
management across the state.

As the boundaries between the 
material and digital worlds become 
increasingly blurred, MAAS seeks to 
exploit opportunities to extend its 
collection and scholarship to an 
increasingly complex and 
interconnected world.
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Loans 
A total of 415 MAAS collection objects were on loan 
in Sydney, across NSW, interstate and overseas, 
throughout the reporting period. Of these loans, 235 
were new loans commenced in the period, with five 
of the 30 new borrower organisations located in 
regional NSW and Western Sydney. In addition, 
MAAS facilitated the loan of 30 non-object items, 
supporting a range of projects throughout NSW.

28 loans comprising 135 objects returned to MAAS 
following the completion of loan arrangements. The 
objects were seen by a potential 4,679,022 visitors to 
borrowing venues during the loan periods.

A full list of institutions displaying or researching 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences collection 
objects during the year is provided at Appendix 7.

Over the year MAAS fostered international 
relationships with the Victoria & Albert Museum and 
Wellcome Collection both in the United Kingdom, 
and Cube Design Museum in The Netherlands. Loans 
to two of these institutions were accompanied by 
MAAS staff acting as object couriers.

The Cube Design Museum in Kerkrade, The 
Netherlands borrowed 11 objects for display in the 
Design for human needs — world-wide exhibition. The 
objects include the Fortuny Delphos dress, a Cochlear 
implant, penicillin ampoules and a basket by indigenous 
artist Daisy Nadjungdanga. This successful exhibition 
was extended until December 2016.

MAAS holds significant objects and records related 
to the Sydney Opera House and five objects were 
lent to the Victoria & Albert Museum, London (V&A) 
for its exhibition, Engineering the World: Ove Arup 
and the Philosophy of Total Design. This loan further 
solidified the relationship between MAAS and the 
V&A that has been created through recent loans and 

the Undressed and Disobedient Objects exhibitions. 
The Wellcome Collection in London borrowed a 
microphone from MAAS for display in its exhibition 
This is a Voice. This exhibition will travel to the 
Powerhouse Museum in 2017.

Locally, MAAS supported exhibitions in Wollongong, 
Albury and Tamworth and lent objects to the Museums 
& Galleries NSW (M&GNSW) Creative Accounting 
touring exhibition. The collection was also represented 
in exhibitions at the State Library of NSW, the 
Australian Museum, Sydney Living Museums, 
National Library of Australia, the National Gallery of 
Victoria and the Art Gallery of South Australia.

Regional 
On 13 November, MAAS hosted the Regional 
Stakeholders Forum. This important annual event was 
presented in partnership with M&GNSW and 
Regional Arts NSW. The forum is an opportunity for 
the regional sector to meet and discuss issues 
relating to their sectors and in particular to support 
the needs of small-volunteer run regional museums 
and gallery sector around programming, training, 
funding and policy. 

In 2015–16 MAAS delivered a range of site visits and 
workshops to regional organisations including Land 
of the Beardies Museum in Glen Innes, Rocky Hill 
War Memorial Museum and Waterworks Museum, 
Goulburn, Orange Regional Museum, Pioneer Park 
Museum, Griffith and the Eden Killer Whale Museum. 
A number of interns from Broken Hill and Glen Innes 
were welcomed to the Powerhouse Museum for 
courses designed to assist with managing regional 
collections. 

In June, MAAS facilitated community workshops at 
Narrandera with artist Nicole Barakat with a view to 
creating a new work as part of the annual Sydney 
Design Festival. 

OUTREACH  HIGHLIGHTS
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Regional Digital 
In July, MAAS launched the first of a series of fashion 
video conferences. A conversation with fashion 
designer Vanessa Emirian and curator Rebecca Evans 
was broadcast to fashion students at campuses in 
Dubbo, Parkes, Walgett and Port Macquarie. 
Students were also able to view in detail a Chanel 
suit and one of Vanessa’s garments from the Student 
Fashion exhibition. A second video conference was 
broadcast in May with fashion designer Jamilla 
McCrossin to TAFE regional students of fashion. 
Other video conferences to regional locations such 
as Lismore and Dubbo included a conversation with 
graphic artist Chips Mackinolty and curator Anne 
Marie Van de Ven. 

Video conferences were the primary delivery 
approach for engaging regional school communities. 
In total eighty-nine Video Conference classes were 
delivered, reaching 2,940 participants. In partnership 
with Reconciliation NSW and the Sydney Story 
Factory Redfern, the Education and Digital Learning 
team collaborated on the design and managed all 
technical aspects of the delivery of seventeen Video 
Conference art and story making workshops for 529 
school learners. Regional schools also had the 
opportunity to participate in a Learn to Code 
program delivered in partnership with the NSW 
Department of Education’s Aurora College. 
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Digital technology as an intergenerational learning aid. Image credit: Jayne Ion
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PARTNERSHIPS AND 
EXTERNAL 
ENGAGEMENT

The MAAS 2020 Vision supports  
a culture of working and 
communicating in partnership. 
Recognising audiences and 
communities are the Museum’s most 
important partners, an exemplary 
service culture is a key ambition. 
Knowledge partnerships with 
commercial, national and 
international organisations ensure  
a two-way relationship with our 
audiences, whilst marketing and 
communications builds audience  
and reputation.
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In 2015–16 MAAS extended the reach, value and 
quantity of its media coverage. Annually, media reach 
as measured by Media Monitors increased by 20% 
year on year to 168 million readers, the value of 
coverage increased by 87% to $44.64 million, and  
the number of mentions increased by 116% to 11,029 
mentions over the course of the year. The largest 
channel by volume and value was online, which was 
only partially measured in the previous year, and  
saw 5,578 articles published, valued at $20.69 
million. The largest channel by reach was print,  
with 91 million readers reached. 

Coverage was driven by a diverse and exclusive 
exhibition program, which attracted national and 
international coverage. Launching in September, 
Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced saw strong coverage 
including a dedicated episode of Australian Story, 
which aired nationally on ABC TV and a four page 
spread in Vogue Australia. Coverage was also seen in 
Vogue USA for Isabelle Blow: A Fashionable Life.  
The Art of the Brick: DC Comics which opened in 
November, also garnered comprehensive national 
coverage of over 300 instances, with around 10% of 
coverage seen internationally. 

Outside of exhibitions and programs, the Sydney 
Observatory staff continued their role as key 
spokespersons for astronomical activity in Sydney 
and around the world, appearing on a diverse range 
of channels across Australia to speak about dozens  
of astronomical happenings over the course of the 
year. The MAAS curatorial team was also utilised 
heavily by media as subject experts on topics as 
diverse as trends in stamp collecting, driven by a 
decline in letter writing, to the provenance of Sydney 
Harbour Bridge toll booths.

MEDIA

The Museum’s move to Parramatta was also heavily 
featured in the media over the year, following  
the announcement of the preferred site for  
the new Museum in April.

Visitor exploring Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced. Image credit: 
Dominique Cherry
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The Museum has seen significant advancement of its 
development program over the past twelve months 
through strategic partnerships aligned with the 
Museum’s eight core disciplines. 

Following significant success in 2014–15, an 
expanded Development team was established with a 
focus on identifying and building new networks while 
re-establishing connections with former donors and 
partners. 

As a result, Development income for 2015–16 totalled 
nearly $3 million, an 18% increase overall in cash and 
contra income over the previous financial year, with 
over $1,300,000 coming from cash partnerships in 
support of innovative exhibitions, public programs, 
collection acquisitions and school education 
programs. 

Partnerships 
The Museum aligned itself with a number of new 
sponsors and partners, with a focus on partnering for 
shared interests around the key disciplines. Following 
the previous year’s MAAS Centre for Fashion launch, 
engagement with MAAS fashion initiatives continued 
through alignment with brands including Target, 
Garde Robe, Woolmark, Westfield Sydney and Miele. 
Partnerships were leveraged to drive increased 
visitation and engagement with creative activations 
such as an exhibition pop-up of Isabella Blow: A 
Fashionable Life at Westfield Sydney. 

With the success of the discipline focused approach, 
the Museum is preparing to launch the Centre for 
STEAM by securing Microsoft as the Centre’s 
principal partner, and Western Sydney University as 
the principal tertiary education sector partner. As the 
catalyst behind the Museum’s STEAM initiatives, the 
Centre for STEAM will work with a range of partners 
with a shared interest in promoting STEAM 

education and careers. Partners are further recruited 
through their engagement in signature public events 
like the Sydney Science festival and the Sydney 
Design festival wherein festival partners contribute 
resources, employees and venue spaces to enhance 
the range of public programs, talks and workshops 
for Museum audiences.

Under the umbrellas of both the Centre for Fashion 
and the Centre for STEAM, new opportunities for 
partnerships are emerging for greater strategic 
alignment between Museum offerings with 
opportunities for corporate partners to provide 
in-kind and volunteer support to Museum programs. 
Meanwhile, the Museum continues to work with a 
range of hospitality sponsors, including QT Hotels 
and Tamburlaine Organic Wines, to provide added 
value and support for diverse museum audiences. 

Annual Appeal and 
Philanthropy 
The focus of the 2016 Annual Appeal was to raise 
funds for the acquisition of the USA Chandelier, by 
Australian-Japanese artists Ken and Julia Yonetani. 
Sydney Observatory’s Name a Star program 
continues to be popular with donors.

DEVELOPMENT
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Grants 
The Museum had success in securing a grant from 
the Australian Business Community Network (ABCN) 
which is giving more than 1000 disadvantaged young 
Australians access to opportunities to learn, practise 
and apply real technology skills which inspire 
creativity and creative exploration. Through on-site 
workshops at the Museum and video conferencing, 
students from around Australia had an opportunity to 
engage with STEAM career-relevant experiences to 
help guide their future career plans while teachers 
from around the country were able to further build 
the skills necessary to lead classes in engaging 
technology programs.

The Museum also secured a multi-year Copyright 
Agency Cultural Fund grant which saw the 
development of the ICONS catalogue as the first 
product outcome.
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MAJOR 
PROJECTS

Two major capital works projects 
have been a focus for 2015–16. 

Construction of a major collection 
storage facility at Castle Hill was 
completed on budget, and installation 
of objects commenced, ahead of a 
planned opening in September 2016.

Funds were provided for the 
development of a Business Case to 
support consideration by the NSW 
Government for funds to construct  
a new Museum at Parramatta, 
honouring a commitment made by  
the Premier in February 2015.
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THE NEW  
MUSEUM 

‘A new, world-class cultural 
institution that will be a major 
drawcard for local and 
international visitors.’  
– Premier Mike Baird MP, April 2016

On 26 February 2015 Premier Mike Baird MP and 
Deputy Premier Troy Grant MP announced the 
Powerhouse Museum would be relocated to 
Parramatta as part of the development of an arts and 
cultural precinct in Western Sydney. The 
announcement included an international design 
competition to develop an ‘iconic’ and ‘fit-for-
purpose facility’ to house the new museum and 
guarantee that proceeds from the urban renewal of 
the existing site in Ultimo will go toward the new 
museum.

The Vision for a new Museum remains, ‘to be the 
leading museum of applied arts and sciences; 
inspiring our communities to transform our world’.

With Parramatta in the geographical heart of Sydney 
and a focal point for Western Sydney’s rapid growth, 
the project represents a once in a generation 
opportunity for the Museum to create a museum for 
the future, and one which not only responds to 
growth and the changing shape of Sydney but also to 
new methods of content delivery, learning and 
collaboration.

Following this announcement and working in 
conjunction with partners across Government 
including MAAS, Infrastructure NSW, Arts NSW, 
Department of Premier and Cabinet, a multi-agency 
group led by Department of Justice was formed to 
spearhead the planning for the new Museum, 
supported by a $10 million investment across two 
years.

Significant work was undertaken to understand the 
requirements for the new Museum, and to develop a 
list of potential sites in Parramatta for consideration 
by Government. In September 2015, Minister Grant 
announced the shortlisted sites: The Golf Course, 
and Riverbank.

Planning work continued with world leading and 
expert consultants to develop models that would 
compare the opportunities and benefits for both 
sites. Resulting from this work, in April the NSW 
Government announced it had chosen a site on the 
banks of the Parramatta River as the preferred 
location for the new Museum.

The Board of Trustees supports the relocation, and as 
trustees of the collection, has indicated its 
responsibility to ensure the site is fit for purpose, 
attracts the capital funding to build an iconic 
museum and that it provides access for the collection 
for the long term.

The new Museum will deliver a vibrant, exciting 
community hub that can be easily accessed and 
enjoyed day and night. It will showcase more of the 
exceptional MAAS collection, by increasing items on 
display by at least 40%.

With the preferred site selected, detailed planning 
work is presently underway.

Embodying the best of Australian ingenuity and 
innovation, the Museum will profile one of the world’s 
great collections as well as contribute to the NSW 
Government’s priority sectors including digital, 
education, creative industries and health.
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The NSW Government granted $33.6 million of 
capital funding in the 2012–13 NSW Budget for 
upgrades to the Castle Hill storage site, with funds to 
be expended over a three-year period. Renamed the 
Museums Discovery Centre (MDC) this project has 
been a collaboration between the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences, the Australian Museum 
and Sydney Living Museums. For the first time, the 
diverse and rich collections of three of Australia’s 
leading museums will be housed in one facility and 
on permanent display to the public. 

This project included refurbishing existing buildings 
including the public display store and the 
construction of a new 9,000 square metre collection 
store. Due to the building work the site has been 
closed to the public since 18 August 2014, with 
Museums operations continuing where possible.

This year saw construction of the Collection Store 
completed, followed by installation of racking, 
shelving and compactus units on all three levels. In 
the Visual Storage Building exhibition joinery and 
construction of display components were also 
completed in preparation for object installation.

Representatives from the three institutions have 
finalised content and program development with 
school aged audiences being core to both content 
and programming. The Communications team, 
working in consultation with the other institutions, 
developed a communications strategy and 
formulated plans for the launch and special events to 
celebrate the re-opening of the centre, which is 
planned for September 2016.

A governance structure consisting of a Management 
Co-ordination Group, Collections Management 
Committee, Programs, Education and 
Communications Committee and a Work, Health and 
Safety Committee has been established and will 
meet regularly.

More information about this collaborative 
undertaking is provided in the Case Study — 
Collaboration — on page 47.

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE

The Museums Discovery Centre. Image credit: Marinco 
Kojdanovski
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RESOURCES

Executive Projects
The Executive and members of the 
Senior Management team met in 
December to identify a series of 
Executive priorities, linked to the 
2020 Vision, for implementation over 
the following two calendar years.

Each project is led by two members of 
the Senior Management team, and 
implementation reports provided to 
fortnightly team meetings. The 
projects include permanent gallery 
renewal, the Sydney Observatory 
masterplan, ticketing and reporting 
and Indigenous protocols.
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Small Scale Capital Works 
The Sydney Observatory Masterplan commenced. 
The Master planning will incorporate upgrades of the 
exhibition spaces and the upgrade of the telescope in 
the North Dome to improve the visitor experience 
and interaction with the stars.

The Sydney Observatory minor works program 
included the improvement of accessibility to the site 
with the engagement of a designer, Nordon Jago 
Architects, to design and provide specification 
upgrades to pathways at the site. In addition, a fire 
hydrant system with connection booster pump is 
being installed and this work will be completed by 
February 2017.

The Museums Discovery Centre air-conditioning 
system covering 60% of the buildings was upgraded 
to help maintain the environmental conditions for 
optimal protection of the state collection. It is 
envisaged that the chilled water unit upgrade will be 
completed by Jan 2017.

During the year the Powerhouse Museum underwent 
a major upgrade to the fire sprinkler and smoke 
detection system throughout the Museum exhibition 
spaces. The contract to undertake this project was 
awarded to Wormald, the Museum's service provider 
for the fire safety systems.

Steam Locomotives  
3265 and 3830 
MAAS has entered into an agreement with Transport 
Heritage NSW (THNSW) for THNSW to maintain and 
operate the Museum’s two steam locomotives, 3265 
and 3830 under the conservation oversight of MAAS. 
This agreement sees THNSW bringing staff and 
experience in operating locomotives and MAAS 
bringing conservation and programming expertise to 
the partnership. 

A three-tiered governance and reporting structure 
has been established, comprised of representatives 
from both institutions to advise on the overall 
program, conservation methods and the monitoring 
of repair work, and working groups to discuss 
marketing and programming opportunities.

Both locomotives have undergone a series of tests 
and inspections. A program of work is currently 
being developed by THNSW to return 3265 to 
service. Further assessment is being undertaken in 
relation to 3830. This locomotive is available for 
public viewing as a static exhibit in Trainworks Great 
Train Hall at Thirlmere.

The locomotives are very popular with local regional 
steam festivals and have a high profile. This past year 
locomotive 3265 was used by THNSW on 6 and 13 
March to carry over 1,300 passengers on 12 journeys, 
operated on its branch line in Thirlmere.

PROJECTS
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GOVERNANCE

The building of a sound governance foundation for 
MAAS has been one of the main objectives for the 
Governance Planning and Reporting team. The team 
coordinates and prepares organisation wide 
reporting of an operational, regulatory and 
compliance nature. Specifically, the team’s focus is on 
the development of policy and planning frameworks 
that underpin organisational planning and enterprise 
to improve business operations and to ensure MAAS 
complies with all NSW Government obligations. The 
team also coordinates legal guidance, support and 
advice for MAAS and manages, coordinates and 
reports on major capital and strategic projects.

The team reviewed policies across MAAS, such as 
the Strategic Collection Framework, and 
implemented a new policy register. The Ethical 
Conduct of Procurement Officers Policy and 
Procedures document was adopted across MAAS 
and will ensure MAAS meets fairness and probity 
requirements throughout all procurement processes. 
MAAS also upgraded to HP Records Manager 8.2, 
which enables full electronic document functionality 
as part of the paperless office initiative and ensures 
compliance with the NSW State Records Act 1998 
and standards of best practice. 

MAAS has commenced work on establishing a risk 
management framework in accordance with Core 
Requirement 5 of NSW Treasury Policy Paper 09-05 
Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the 
NSW Public Sector. The Risk Management 
Framework  will embed risk management across 
MAAS and provide a structure that will assist staff in 
managing risks and making informed decisions.



75ANNUAL REPORT

COMMERCIAL

Beyond general admissions, sponsorships and 
philanthropy, the Museum generates revenue through 
retailing, commercial events, membership and café 
operations, the outcomes of which continue to 
support the Museum’s vision and strategic ambitions. 

For the 2015–16 financial year, the total income from 
shops, events, catering and cafes is $2,043,370, 
representing an increase of approximately 14% on 
budget. A more entrepreneurial approach around 
exhibition opportunities such as The Art of the Brick: 
DC Comics and the Centre for Fashion offering of the 
Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced exhibitions saw delivery of 
more catered events, increased audience and 
subsequent retail sales. 

Retail, Food and Beverage 
The Museum retail shop sales also increased by 18.2% 
against budget with over $720,000 in sales from Art 
of the Brick: DC Comics, which was 11% up on the 
projected budget of $650,000. 

The MAAS Store which reopened in September 
under MAAS management has dramatically changed 
the retail offering at the Powerhouse Museum. For 
over ten years the retail operation has been managed 
by an external operator imposing an annual financial 
loss to the organisation. In its first year of operation 
the budget for the financial year was $335,271. Actual 
sales for the period were $502,722, over budget by 
$167,451 (50%). The average profit margin is 51.76%. 
An industry accepted average for gallery/museum 
shops is 45%.

Total income from events, catering and cafes is on 
budget with new onsite caterers, Create, beginning 
operations on the Powerhouse site in August 2015. 
Many new commercial opportunities both onsite and 
offsite are being explored for the next financial year 
to contribute to MAAS financial sustainability. 

There has been an increase in the commissions 
received from function catering in 2015–16 ($112,166) 
compared to the previous reporting period ($91,415, 
up 23%).

Cafe sales commissions of $202,900 were up 13% on 
budget ($180,000), and an increase of 71% on the 
$118,749 in café commissions received in 2014–15.

Membership 
Whilst MAAS membership achieved its income 
budget in 2015–16, the number of memberships 
decreased as anticipated, due to the implementation 
of the free kids under 16 admission initiative.  
A review of the MAAS offer through strategic 
research is underway for a revised offer in 2016–17. 

‘My father took us to the 
Powerhouse when I was young. 
I've been a fairly regular visitor 
since then, but took out my  
first membership when my  
own kids were young. I have 
grandchildren now and intend 
to continue what is now a family 
tradition.’ – 60 year old MAAS Member
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FINANCES
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The 2015–16 financial year reflects the financial impact 
of the first full year of operations post the completion 
of the Museum’s Change Management Plan announced 
in 2013–14 and implemented throughout 2014–15. 

The completion of filling the Museum’s organisation 
structure saw overall staffing levels increase from 188 
at 30 June 2015 to 213 at 30 June 2016, which 
includes a number of temporary project related roles 
associated with the Castle Hill Shared Storage and 
Access project and the development of the business 
case for the Museum’s proposed relocation to 
Parramatta. This saw employee related expenses 
increase by 9% on the previous year.

The Museum’s exhibition program featured The Art of 
the Brick: DC Comics which attracted 163,969 
visitors, and contributed $674,000 to the Museum’s 
net result. Isabella Blow: A Fashionable Life opened in 
May and remained on display at 30 June. The 
inclusion of these exhibitions in the Museum’s 
program saw admissions revenue increase by 46%, 
operating expenses increase by 4% and salaries 
increase by 2%.

The Museum terminated its joint venture agreement 
for the operation of the Powerhouse Shop during the 
year, and brought the operations in-house. This 
resulted in the Museum’s sale of shop goods 
increasing by 325% on the previous year.

Revenue from industry donations and contributions 
increased significantly during the year. The increase 
of $1,062,000 (703%) was a result of the focus on this 
area of revenue generation flowing from the new 
organisation structure, and the appeal of the 
exhibition program being delivered.

Total Government contributions were higher than 
2014–15 at $51,288,000, being a year on year increase 
in capital funding of $7,258,000 relating to the 
Museum’s two major capital projects, the Castle Hill 

Shared Storage and Access project and the business 
case development for the Museum’s proposed 
relocation to Parramatta.

The Museum received $11,065,000 in capital funding 
for the Shared Collection Storage and Access project 
for Cultural Institutions (Total project funding 
$33,557,000 over 5 years). The project is due for 
completion during 2016–17 with the facility opening 
to the public in September 2016. A further 
$3,380,000 was received in the first year of funding 
($10,000,000 over two years) relating to the 
Museum’s proposed relocation.

Additional expenses were incurred in relation to 
these two major projects that whilst related to capital 
projects, were not of a capital nature under the 
accounting standards, and were accordingly applied 
to the Museum’s net result. These costs totalled 
$2,127,000 and included relocation costs associated 
with moving parts of the Museum’s Collection to the 
upgraded Castle Hill facility, and costs in relation to 
the business case for the Parramatta relocation, 
incurred prior to the Premier’s announcement of the 
preferred site in April 2016.

Depreciation and amortisation increased by an 
additional $9,077,000 due to the Museum revising 
the estimated useful lives of assets under the 
accounting standards at its Ultimo site as a 
consequence of the proposed relocation to 
Parramatta. However, these estimates may change in 
the future in line with the outcome of the final 
business case for the relocation.

Total cash balances increased due to timing 
differences between the funding of capital projects 
and the associated project payments. Cash balances 
are expected to reduce significantly in 2016–17 with 
the completion of both of the Museum’s major capital 
projects.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2016 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

PROFESSOR BARNEY GLOVER DOLLA MERRILLEES
PRESIDENT DIRECTOR

Date: 30 September 2016

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2016

FINANCIAL  
REPORT
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2016

$000

Budget
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

Personnel services 2(a) - - - 24,902 22,915

Employee related 2(b) 24,902 24,999 22,915 - -

Other operating expenses 2(c) 17,133 13,944 16,420 17,133 16,420

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 13,900 5,710 4,647 13,900 4,647

Other Expenses 2(e) 2,127 - - 2,127 -

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES 58,062 44,653 43,982 58,062 43,982

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 7,826 5,115 5,145 7,826 5,145

Investment revenue 3(b) 98 265 912 98 912

Grants and contributions 3(c) 55,651 61,588 49,972 56,948 51,228

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits  
and other liabilities

3(d) 1,297 901 1,256 - -

Other revenue 3(e) 692 250 274 692 274

Total Revenue 65,564 68,119 57,559 65,564 57,559

Gain/(Loss) on disposal 4 - - (161) - (161)

Other gains / (losses) 5 (156) - (81,257) (156) (81,257)

Net result 7,346 23,466 (67,841) 7,346 (67,841)

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus

- - 5,043 - 5,043

Total other comprehensive income - - 5,043 - 5,043

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 7,346 23,466 (62,798) 7,346 (62,798)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2016

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2016

$000

Budget
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 12,676 2,111 7,985 12,676 7,985

Receivables 7 1,439 864 1,582 1,439 1,582

Inventories 8 159 - 69 159 69

Total Current Assets 14,274 2,975 9,636 14,274 9,636

Non-Current Assets

Financial assets at fair value 9 2,447 2,493 2,494 2,447 2,494

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 183,530 205,243 180,231 183,530 180,231

Plant and equipment 5,419 13,512 5,604 5,419 5,604

Collection Assets 310,990 405,549 309,265 310,990 309,265

Total Property, plant and equipment 11 499,939 624,304 495,100 499,939 495,100

Total Non-Current Assets 502,386 626,797 497,594 502,386 497,594

Total Assets 516,660 629,772 507,230 516,660 507,230

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 13 4,239 2,982 2,590 4,239 2,590

Financial Liabilities at fair value 14 55 - - 55 -

Provisions 15 2,393 2,786 2,043 2,393 2,043

Total Current Liabilities 6,687 5,768 4,633 6,687 4,633

Non-Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities at fair value 14 23 - - 23 -

Provisions 15 59 - 52 59 52

Total Non-Current Liabilities 82 - 52 82 52

Total Liabilities 6,769 5,768 4,685 6,769 4,685

Net Assets 509,891 624,004 502,545 509,891 502,545

EQUITY

Reserves 164,197 186,474 164,197 164,197 164,197

Accumulated funds 345,694 437,530 338,348 345,694 338,348

Total Equity 509,891 624,004 502,545 509,891 502,545

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes

Economic Entity Parent
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2015 338,348 164,197 502,545 338,348 164,197 502,545

Net result for the year 7,346 - 7,346 7,346 - 7,346

Total other comprehensive income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,346 - 7,346 7,346 - 7,346

Balance as at 30 June 2016 345,694 164,197 509,891 345,694 164,197 509,891

Balance as at 1 July 2014 406,189 159,154 565,343 406,189 159,154 565,343

Net results for the year (67,841) - (67,841) (67,841) - (67,841)

Other comprehensive income

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant  
and equipment

- 5,043 5,043 - 5,043 5,043

Total other comprehensive income - 5,043 5,043 - 5,043 5,043

Total comprehensive income for the year (67,841) 5,043 (62,798) (67,841) 5,043 (62,798)

Balance as at 30 June 2015 338,348 164,197 502,545 338,348 164,197 502,545

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2016

$000

Budget
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Actual
2015

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Personnel services - - - (23,705) (29,863)

Employee related (23,705) (24,778) (29,863) - -

Other (15,837) (12,259) (15,010) (15,837) (15,010)

Total Payments (39,542) (37,037) (44,873) (39,542) (44,873)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 7,917 5,115 4,912 7,917 4,912

Interest received 52 140 473 52 473

Grants and contributions 51,288 57,788 44,688 51,288 44,688

Other 2,307 1,550 1,797 2,307 1,797

Total Receipts 61,563 64,593 51,870 61,563 51,870

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17 22,021 27,556 6,997 22,021 6,997

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of land and buildings, plant and equipment  
and Collection assets

(17,330) (30,231) (12,843) (17,330) (12,843)

Proceeds from sale of investments - - 4,363 - 4,363

Purchase of investments - - (2,670) - (2,670)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (17,330) (30,231) (11,150) (17,330) (11,150)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,691 (2,675) (4,153) 4,691 (4,153)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 7,985 4,686 16,036 7,985 16,036

Reclassification of cash equivalents - 100 (3,898) - (3,898)

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 12,676 2,111 7,985 12,676 7,985

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity (as 

profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units. The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the NSW 
Total State Sector Accounts.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the 
Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney Observatory, the Powerhouse Discovery Centre, the Migration Heritage Centre and the 
Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising the parent entity), and the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 
February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and 
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated and like transactions and other events are 
accounted for using uniform accounting policies.

 These financial statements have been prepared with the knowledge and in consideration of, the NSW Government announcement 
of the relocation of the Powerhouse Museum to Parramatta, and the consequential accounting requirements under the 
accounting standards resulting in the reassessment of useful lives of assets and the associated accelerated depreciation of those 
assets, significantly impacting the Museum's net result. However these estimates may change in the future in line with the 
outcome of the final business case for the relocation.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 30 
September 2016.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with:

 • applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
 • the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and
 • the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government Sector Entities 

or issued by the Treasurer.

 Property, plant and equipment including collection assets , and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at 
fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

 Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial 
statements.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
 The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for 

Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
 Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:

 • the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is 
recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense

  and
 • receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(f) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional comments regarding 

the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

 (i) Sale of Goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the assets.
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 (ii) Rendering of Services
  Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours 

incurred to date).

 (iii) Investment and Other Revenue
  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement. Rental revenue from operating leases is recognised in accordance with AASB 117 Leases on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Royalty and copyright revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue on an accrual 
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. TCorp Hour Glass distributions and dividend revenue are 
recognised in accordance with AASB 118 when the Museum’s right to receive payment is established.

 (iv) Grants and Contributions
  Grants and contributions include donations, and grants from the Department of Justice. They are generally recognised as 

income when the Museum obtains control over the assets comprising the grants and contributions. Control over grants and 
contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

(g) Assets

 (i) Acquisition of Assets
  Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the 

other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount 
attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian Accounting 
Standards.

  Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Fair value is the estimate price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability, would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.

  Collection items acquired during the year are recorded at cost or valuation, for donated items, including a processing cost 
incurred in relation to the research and selection, transport, documentation and cataloging, condition assessment and 
conservation treatment required to acquire items into the Museum's collection, and are recognised as assets. Processing 
costs are dependent on the nature, size, availability in the market and knowledge of the history of the item and consist of 
staff salary and freight costs.

 (ii) Capitalisation thresholds
  Property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. Computer related assets costing 

individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also capitalised.

 (iii) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
  Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the ‘Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value’ Policy 

and Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, and 
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

  Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, 
legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and 
take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by 
government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In 
limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or 
where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

  Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques 
(market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable 
inputs. Also refer Note 11 and Note 12 for further information regarding fair value.

  The Museum re-values each class of property, plant and equipment at least every three years or with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date. The 
last revaluation was completed on 30 April 2015 and was based on a comprehensive and external independent assessment. 
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost as an approximation of fair value. 
The entity has assessed that any difference between fair value and depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material. 
When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation 
are separately restated.

  For other assets, using other valuation techniques, any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in 
respect of those assets are credited to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or 
decreased by the revaluation increments or decrements. Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset 
revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of 
asset previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as revenue in the net 
result.

  The Museum mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as Museum buildings which are valued using 
the current replacement cost. However, if a specialised asset is decommissioned and rezoned by Government Property 
NSW, a revaluation at market value will be obtained for the land and buildings.
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  If such specialised assets are not decommissioned by Government Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at 
current replacement cost, until a determination is made on the future of these assets.

  Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the asset 
revaluation surplus. As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a 
class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance 
remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

 (iv) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
  As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise. 

As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare circumstances where the 
costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies the 
recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.

 (v) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
  Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to 

write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.

  All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their useful lives.

  Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets, such as the Museum’s collection items, may not have a limited 
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. 
The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.

  Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.

  Category: Depreciation Rate for 2015 and 2016:
  Buildings 2.00 – 14.30%
  Buildings — internal services and major components 4.00 – 50.00%
  Plant and equipment 3.33 – 50.00%
  Computer equipment 15.00 – 33.33%
  Motor Vehicles 10.00 – 20.00%
  Exhibitions 5.88 – 50.00%
  Collections 0.00 – 20.00%

 (vi) Restoration costs
  The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of an asset, to the 

extent it is recognised as a liability.

 (vii) Maintenance
  Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 

replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

 (viii) Leased Assets
  The Museum leases certain plant and equipment.

  All such leases are operating leases, where the lessors effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the leased items, the payments on which are included in the determination of the results of operations over the lease 
term.

  Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the periods in which they are incurred.

 (ix) Loans and receivables
  The Museum does not have any loans. Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the 
transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an 
allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process.

  Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

 (x) Investments
  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 

transactions costs. The Museum determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when 
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end.

  Fair value through profit or loss
  The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the second leg of the fair value 

option; i.e. these financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management strategy, and information about these assets is provided internally on that basis to the 
Museum’s key management personnel.
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  The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions received as well as 
unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ‘investment revenue’.

  In the event of the Museum receiving a bequest including shares, the shares are held at fair value until all transfers in relation 
to the bequests are finalised and are then sold at market value. The Museum does not trade in shares.

  The fair value of investments that are traded at fair value in an active market is determined by reference to quoted current 
bid prices at the close of business on the statement of financial position date.

 (xi) Impairment of financial assets
  All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to an annual review for 

impairment. An allowance for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to 
collect all amounts due.

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the 
impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net 
result for the year. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost cannot result in a carrying 
amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an impairment loss.

 (xii) Derivative financial instruments
  The Museum occasionally holds derivative financial instruments to hedge significant foreign currency risk exposures. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 
Changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are recognised directly in profit or loss.

 (xiii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
  A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the 

entity transfers the financial asset:

 • where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred or
 • where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

  Where the entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset 
is recognised to the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement in the asset.

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(h) Liabilities

 (i) Payables
  These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Museum, and other amounts. Payables are 

recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the 
original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

 (ii) Personnel services and other provisions

  Personnel Services Arrangements
  The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency is an Executive Agency wholly controlled by the Museum of 

Applied Arts and Sciences with the objective of providing personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. 
All payments to personnel and in relation to related obligations are made by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff 
Agency, and are classified as an ‘Employee Related’ cost on consolidation in these financial statements.

 (iii) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (a) Salaries and wages, annual leave , sick leave and on-costs
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 

12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in 
which the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance 
with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut method are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has 
confirmed that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal 
value of annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The Museum has 
assessed the actuarial advice based on its circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is 
immaterial to annual leave. Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered 
probable that sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 (b) Long service leave and superannuation
  The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The 

Museum accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of 
the non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.
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  Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (c) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 

they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance 
premiums and fringe benefits tax.

 (iv) Other Provisions
  Other provisions exist when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

  Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a 
valid expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the 
plan or announcing its main features to those affected.

(i) Fair value hierarchy
 A number of the Museum’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-

financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows;

 • Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Museum can access at the measurement 
date.

 • Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
 • Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred. Refer Note 12 and Note 18 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of financial and non-
financial assets.

(j) Equity and Reserves

 (i) Revaluation Surplus
  The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords 

with the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1(g)(iii)).

 (ii) Accumulated Funds
  The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(l) Accounting for Joint Venture
 Until 31 August 2015 the Museum had a joint arrangement in relation to the Retail Operations Business at the Powerhouse Shop, 

and any agreed Special Exhibitions Shops within the Powerhouse Museum. The joint arrangement was assessed as a joint 
operation as the agreement determined that all assets and liabilities remain vested in the parties to the agreement.

 The joint operation was responsible for the management, operations and product development in relation to the Retail Operations 
Business at the Powerhouse Museum. The Museum had contributed 50% of the working capital for the joint operation and was 
entitled to a 50% share of profits from the joint operation.

 Effective from 31 August 2015 the joint arrangement in relation to the retail operations business at the Powerhouse Shop was 
terminated. From 1 September 2015 the Museum has assumed full control and responsibility for the operations of the Museum’s 
retail shop.

(m) Conditions on contributions
 The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is 

made. These funds are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received.

(n) Non-Monetary Assistance
 The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations and 

bequests to the collection and the provision of goods and services free of charge. Non-Monetary contributions are recognised at 
their fair value. Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(o) Taxation Status
 The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift deductible 

recipient status.
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(p) Trustees Benefits
 No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial period 

and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.

(q) Budgeted Amounts
 The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the 

reporting period, as adjusted for section 24 of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 where there has been a transfer of functions 
between departments. Other amendments made to the budget are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances 
between the original budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the primary financial statements are explained in 
Note 16.

(r) Comparative information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(s) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

 (i) Effective for the first time in 2015/16
  The accounting policies applied in 2015-16 are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as a result of the 

following new or revised Australian Accounting Standards that have been applied for the first time in 2015-16.

 • AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities

  The impact of this standard in the period of initial application relates to a reduced level of disclosure required for Level 3 
property plant and equipment held by the Museum primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate 
future net cash inflows.

 (ii) Issued but not yet effective
  NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury 

determines otherwise.

  The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective as specified in 
NSWTC16-02.

 • AASB 9 and AASB 2014-7 regarding financial instruments, which are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018.

 • AASB 1057 and AASB 2015-9 regarding application of Australian Accounting Standards, which are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 15, AASB 2014-5 and AASB 2015-8 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

 • AASB 2014-3 regarding accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations, which is applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 2014-4 regarding acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation, which is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 2014-9 regarding equity method in separate financial statements, which is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 2014-10 and AASB 2015-10 regarding sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associates or joint 
venture, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 2015-1 regarding annual improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-14 cycle, which is applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 2015-2 regarding amendments to AASB 101 disclosure initiatives, which is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

 • AASB 124 and AASB 2015-6 regarding related party disclosures, which are applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2016.

  The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and interpretations and considers the impact to be 
insignificant except for AASB 124 which will likely be significant but only on disclosures.
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2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

(a) Personnel Services Expenses

Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) - - 20,462 18,835

Voluntary Redundancy Program - - 52 148

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans - - 384 457

Superannuation — Defined contribution plans - - 1,661 1,397

Long Service Leave and Oncosts - - 905 441

Workers compensation insurance - - 166 454

Payroll tax - - 1,270 1,173

Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes - - 2 10

- - 24,902 22,915

(b) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) 20,462 18,835 - - 

Voluntary Redundancy Program 52 148 - -

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 384 457 - -

Superannuation — Defined contribution plans 1,661 1,397 - -

Long Service Leave and Oncosts 905 441 - -

Workers compensation insurance 166 454 - -

Payroll tax 1,270 1,173 - -

Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes 2 10 - -

24,902 22,915 - -

 Increased employee related expenses relate to the first full year of operation post the Museum’s organisational restructure which 
was undertaken through 2014–15.

 In addition, employee related expenses have been incurred on capital projects, including $287,000 (2015: $228,000) for 
processing costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) and 11). Non-cash contributions of $766,000 (2015: 
$626,000) were also received.

(c) Other Operating Expenses

Advertising and publicity 1,953 1,436 1,953 1,436

Auditor’s remuneration

– audit of Financial Statements 83 85 83 85

– other audit fees 24 36 24 36

Cleaning and laundry 975 945 975 945

Computer software 380 359 380 359

Consumables 597 923 597 923

Exhibition fit-out 247 621 247 621

Exhibition hire 1,248 166 1,248 166

Fees — contract services 4,722 5,366 4,722 5,366

Freight, cartage and handling 397 486 397 486

Insurance 359 367 359 367

Maintenance 1,278 1,262 1,278 1,262

Operating lease rental payments — minimum lease payments 15 46 15 46

Power and water supplies 1,424 1,730 1,424 1,730

Printing and publications 407 307 407 307

Travel and accommodation 366 274 366 274

Other expenditure 2,658 2,011 2,658 2,011

17,133 16,420 17,133 16,420

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000
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Reconciliation — total maintenance

Maintenance expenses — contracted labour and other (non-
employee related), as above

1,278 1,262 1,278 1,262

Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a) - - 639 631

Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b) 639 631 - -

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a), 2(b) & 2(c) 1,917 1,893 1,917 1,893

(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Buildings 12,660 3,626 12,660 3,626

Plant & equipment 1,225 1,006 1,225 1,006

Collections 15 15 15 15

13,900 4,647 13,900 4,647

 Depreciation on buildings and certain items of plant and plant increased from the prior year as a consequence of the 
reassessment of the useful life of assets at the Museum's Ultimo site (refer note 11).

(e) Other Expenses

Collection Relocation Expenses 868 - 868 -

Parramatta Business Plan Development 1,259 - 1,259 -

2,127 - 2,127 -

 Other Expenses includes expenditure funded via the Museum’s Capital Grant for major capital projects but identified as not being 
capital in nature under the accounting standards.

 Employee related expenses of $191,000 were incurred in relation to the Parramatta relocation project, which are included in Note 
2 (a) & 2 (b). Also refer notes 16 and 22.

3. REVENUE

(a) Sale of goods and services

Sale of goods

Shops 1,149 230 1,149 230

Publications 36 49 36 49

1,185 279 1,185 279

Rendering of Services

Admissions 5,590 3,817 5,590 3,817

Members organisation 214 341 214 341

Leased operations 315 210 315 210

Venue hire and catering 500 473 500 473

Exhibition fees - 11 - 11

Fees for staff services 22 14 22 14

6,641 4,866 6,642 4,866

7,826 5,145 7,826 5,145
 

(b) Investment Income

TCorp Hourglass investment facilities 47 442 47 442

Interest received 33 452 33 452

Dividend income 18 18 18 18

98 912 98 912

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000
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(c) Grants and contributions

From NSW Department of Justice:

Recurrent Grants 34,155 34,813 34,155 34,813

Capital Grants 17,133 9,875 17,133 9,875

Total grants from Department of Justice 51,288 44,688 51,288 44,688

Recurrent Grants include an additional amount of $5,016,000 in relation to NSW Treasury's cash management reforms (2015: 
$7,157,000 in relation to reimbursement of voluntary redundancy expenses).

Major Capital Grants include monies received for the Shared Storage and Access project ($11,065,000) and the proposed 
Parramatta Relocation ($3,380,000). Capital Grants totalling $6,500,000 were deferred to 2016/17 as a consequence of delays in 
project timelines (refer note 16).

Unspent Capital Grants are included in Cash at Bank and comprise funds relating to the Shared Storage and Access project 
($4,540,000), Parramatta Business Case Development ($1,663,000) and other minor projects ($1,100,000) (refer notes 6 and 16).

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of  
charge by Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency:

Superannuation — defined benefit - - 384 457

Long service leave - - 893 775

Payroll taxes - - 20 24

- - 1,297 1,256

From other institutions and individuals:

Grants — Other 77 725 77 725

Bequests - 216 - 216

Public Donations 124 132 124 132

Foundation Donations - 81 - 81

Industry donations and contributions 1,213 151 1,213 151

Collection Donations — in kind 1,401 1,691 1,401 1,691

Other Donations — in kind 1,548 2,288 1,548 2,288

4,363 5,284 4,363 5,284

55,651 49,972 56,948 51,228

(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and  
other liabilities

Superannuation — defined benefit 384 457 - -

Long service leave 893 775 - -

Payroll tax 20 24 - -

1,297 1,256 - -

(e) Other revenue

Other income 692 274 692 274

692 274 692 274

4. GAINS / (LOSSES) ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment - - - -

Written down value of assets disposed - (161) - (161)

- (161) - (161)

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000
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5. OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES)

Unrealized Foreign Exchange losses from forward contracts (78) - (78) -

Write off Joint Venture Investment (70) - (70) -

Decrease in value of Shares (8) - (8) -

Revaluation decrement on collection assets - (81,257) - (81,257)

(156) (81,257) (156) (81,257)

6. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand 12,676 1,208 12,676 1,208

Short term deposits - 6,777 - 6,777

12,676 7,985 12,676 7,985

 Short -term cash balances were consolidated into the Museum's operating bank account during the year in line with NSW 
Treasury cash management reforms.

 Details regarding the change in cash balances are disclosed in Note 16.

7. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES

Sale of goods and services 478 511 478 511

Less: Allowance for impairment (49) (6) (49) (6)

Other debtors 563 797 563 797

Prepayments 447 280 447 280

1,439 1,582 1,439 1,582

Movement in the allowance for impairment:

Balance at 1 July 6 6 6 6

Amounts written off during the year - - - -

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss 43 - 43 -

Balance at 30 June 49 6 49 6

 Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are 
disclosed in Note 18.

8. CURRENT ASSETS — INVENTORY

Held for resale

Finished goods at cost 159 69 159 69

159 69 159 69

 The Museum assumed full operation of the Powerhouse Shop during 2015/16 (refer note 1(l)).

9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Medium Term Growth) 2,167 2,205 2,167 2,205

Shares 280 289 280 289

2,447 2,494 2,447 2,494
  
 Refer to Note 18 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000
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Land and
Buildings

$000

Plant and
Equipment

$000

Collection
Assets

$000
Total
$000

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2016 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

At 1 July 2015 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 288,234 47,542 309,301 645,077

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (108,003) (41,938) (36) (149,977)

Net carrying amount 180,231 5,604 309,265 495,100

At 30 June 2016 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 304,193 46,831 311,041 662,065

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (120,663) (41,412) (51) (162,126)

Net carrying amount 183,530 5,419 310,990 499,939

 Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at 
$1,401,000 (2015: $1,691,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation. Further details regarding 
the fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 12.

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting 
period are set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2016

Net carrying amount at start of year 180,231 5,604 309,265 495,100

Additions 15,959 1,040 1,740 18,739

Disposals - - - -

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement - - - -

Depreciation Expense (12,660) (1,225) (15) (13,900)

Net carrying amount at end of year 183,530 5,419 310,990 499,939

 Additions in relation to land and buildings relate mainly to major building works at the Museum’s Castle Hill storage site in relation 
to the Shared Storage and Access project ($14,665,000).

 The useful lives of buildings and associated plant and equipment at the Museum's Ultimo site have been reassessed from 1 July 
2015 in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment  as a consequence of the Government’s announcement of the 
selection of a site for the Powerhouse Museum's proposed relocation to Parramatta. An additional depreciation charge of 
$9,077,000 has been incurred for the year ended 30 June 2016, and will be incurred for each subsequent year until the year ended 
30 June 2022. Further reviews of the useful lives of the relevant assets will be undertaken, and depreciation charges amended, as 
the timetable for the proposed relocation project becomes more certain.
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Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

10. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes. They are made up of amounts 
that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest.

Restricted Bequests 1,018 999 1,018 999
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Land and
Buildings

$000

Plant and
Equipment

$000

Collection
Assets

$000
Total
$000

2015 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

At 1 July 2014 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 220,255 46,095 402,653 669,003

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (66,430) (41,241) (22) (107,693)

Net carrying amount 153,825 4,854 402,631 561,310

At 30 June 2015 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 288,234 47,542 309,301 645,077

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment (108,003) (41,938) (36) (149,977)

Net carrying amount 180,231 5,604 309,265 495,100

Reconciliation

Year ended 30 June 2015

Net carrying amount at start of year 153,825 4,854 402,631 561,310

Additions 12,264 505 2,043 14,812

Disposals (161) - - (161)

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement 17,929 1,251 (95,394) (76,214)

Depreciation Expense (3,626) (1,006) (15) (4,647)

Net carrying amount at end of year 180,231 5,604 309,265 495,100

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total Fair
Value
$000

(a) Fair value hierarchy

2016 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)

Land and Buildings - 143,676 39,854 183,530

Collection Assets - 280,501 30,489 310,990

- 424,177 70,343 494,520

2015 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)

Land and Buildings - 140,377 39,854 180,231

Collection Assets - 280,501 28,764 309,265

- 420,878 68,618 489,496

(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes

 Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by 
independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated plant 
are valued using the depreciated cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books and furniture 
that have observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using the cost 
approach via a reproduction or recollection cost. The last revaluation of property plant and equipment was completed on 30 April 
2015, assuming that the use of the assets at the time of the valuation were the highest and best use.

 Because the Government’s mandate specifies that services are provided to the public via the use of the Museum’s land and buildings, 
restrictions are imposed on the sale or use of these assets, because the Museum is unable to sell them or change their use, unless approved 
by the Government. These restrictions on the use and disposal of these public sector assets are a characteristic of these assets.
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Land and
Buildings

$’000

Collection
Assets
$’000

Total
Recurring

Level 3
Fair Value

$’000

(c) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements

2016 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)      

Fair value as at July 2015 39,854 28,764 68,618

Additions - 1,740 1,740

Depreciation - (15) (15)

Fair value as at June 2016 39,854 30,489 70,343

2015 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)

Fair value as at July 2014 - 402,631 402,631

Additions - 2,043 2,043

Revaluation decrement in net result - (66,046) (66,046)

Revaluation increment/(decrement) in other comprehensive income - (14,137) (14,137)

Transferred from level 2 39,854 - 39,854

Transferred to level 2 - (295,712) (295,712)

Depreciation - (15) (15)

Fair value as at June 2015 39,854 28,764 68,618

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

13. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 15 537 - -

Accrued personnel services expenses - - 156 629

Trade Creditors 1,269 855 1,269 854

Accruals 2,720 991 2,579 899

Income paid in advance 235 207 235 207

4,239 2,590 4,239 2,590

 Accruals include amounts relating to exhibition hire charges ($553,000) and major capital project payments ($1,188,000).

 Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 
18.
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 In the case of the Museum’s land which are specialised assets, Management has considered the current use of the land and 
determined the current use is in fact the highest and best use, given there is no feasible alternate use.

 Management’s view is that where there are natural, legal, financial or socio-political restrictions on the use and disposal of land 
such that there is no feasible alternative use in the relatively near future, such land should be valued at fair value on its existing 
use.

 The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded as 
highly significant or of high value are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized 
samples to determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active 
markets to an absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on 
its value.
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14. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

Derivative Liability — Current 55 - 55 -

Derivative Liability — Non-Current 23 - 23 -

78 - 78 -

 Details regarding market risk, including currency risk, are disclosed in Note 18.

15. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Annual leave 1,513 1,256 - -

Annual leave on-costs 121 114 - -

Payroll tax on annual leave 83 69 - -

Long service leave on-costs 458 409 - -

Payroll tax on long service leave 277 247 - -

2,452 2,095 - -

Provisions for personnel services expenses

Annual leave - - 1,513 1,256

Annual leave on-costs - - 121 114

Payroll tax on annual leave - - 83 69

Long service leave on-costs - - 458 409

Payroll tax on long service leave - - 277 247

- - 2,452 2,095

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions — current 2,393 2,043 - -

Provisions — non-current 59 52 - -

Provisions — personnel services — current - - 2,393 2,043

Provisions — personnel services — non-current - - 59 52

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 13) 15 537 - -

Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 13) - - 156 629

2,467 2,632 2,608 2,724

 Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $397,000 (2015 $327,000).

16. BUDGET REVIEW

 The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates 
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major 
variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures published in the NSW 
Government Budget Papers 2015-16. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of detail provides a more 
accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.

 Net Result
 The actual net result was lower than budget by $16,120,000. The following factors contributed to this result.

 Total Revenue was $2,555,000 lower than budget. The main factor impacting revenue was the deferral of $6,500,000 of Capital 
grant revenue from the Department of Justice. This revenue was deferred due to the delay in expenditure in relation to the 

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000
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opening of additional collection storage facilities at Castle Hill, now due for opening in September 2016, in addition to a 
reassessment of the timing of expenditure relating to the business case development for the Museum’s proposed relocation to 
Parramatta. Sales of goods and services was higher than budget by $2,711,000 due to increased admissions revenue and increased 
trading revenue at the Museum shop, which was brought under full control of the Museum from September 2015.

 Total Expenditure was $13,409,000 higher than budget. The main factor impacting expenditure is accelerated depreciation rates 
being applied to Museum buildings at the Ultimo site, on the basis of the Government’s announcement of a selected site for the 
Powerhouse Museum’s relocation to Parramatta. An additional $9,077,000 in depreciation expense has been incurred as a result of 
the reassessment of the useful lives of these buildings (refer note 11). Costs totalling $1,259,000 incurred in relation to the business 
case for the relocation of the Museum to Parramatta, and prior to the announcement of the site for the new Museum on 11 April 2016, 
have been expensed rather than capitalised as per the original budget (refer note 2 (e)). Costs totalling $868,000 associated with the 
relocation of Collections items to the new collection storage facility have also been expensed rather than capitalised (refer note 2(e)). 
Other Operating Expenses were higher than budget by $3,189,000 as a result of costs associated with exhibitions, programs, and 
cost of goods sold, the latter as a result of the Museum assuming the full operation of the Powerhouse Shop during the year. These 
costs were offset by increased sales of goods and services (refer above) and increased industry donations and contributions of 
$1,062,000.

 Assets and Liabilities
 Current assets are higher than budgeted, as a result of increased cash balances due to delays in the completion of the additional 

collection storage facilities project. Non-current assets are lower than budgeted due to the revaluation of the Museum’s 
Collections Assets subsequent to the budget being finalised. Land and Buildings is lower than budgeted due to the changes in 
timing of the capital projects referred to above, in addition to the revised accounting treatment of costs incurred in relation to the 
proposed Parramatta relocation.

 Cash flows
 Net cash flows from operating activities were lower than budget due to the reduction in the Museum’s capital grant of 

$6,500,000 as a result of the capital project delays referred to above. Receipts from the sale of goods and services were higher 
than budget by $2,802,000 due to higher than budgeted admissions and shop trading revenue.

17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

Net cash used on operating activities 22,021 6,997 22,021 6,997

Adjustments for items not involving cash

Depreciation (13,900) (4,647) (13,900) (4,647)

Donations to the collection 1,400 1,691 1,401 1,691

Realised and unrealised gains & (losses) 47 281 47 281

Impairment Allowance (42) - (42) -

Other gains and losses on revaluation of fixed assets - (81,257) - (81,257)

Decrease / (increase) in creditors (1,735) 246 (1,735) 246

Decrease / (increase) in employee entitlements (357) 8,152 (357) 8,152

Increase / (decrease) in receivables (267) 689 (267) 689

Increase / (decrease) in inventory 90 (69) 90 (69)

Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets 167 48 167 48

Net gain / (loss) re investments (78) - (78) -

Net Result 7,346 (67,841) 7,346 (67,841)

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Museum’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Museum’s 
operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

 The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting 
to the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.
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(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount

Parent

Carrying Amount

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 6 N/A 12,676 7,985 12,676 7,985

Receivables1 7 Loans and Receivables (at
amortised cost)

429 505 429 505

Financial assets at fair 
value

9 At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

2,447 2,494 2,447 2,494

     

Financial Liabilities Note Category

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount

Parent

Carrying Amount

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

Payables2 13 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 4,092 2,288 4,092 2,288

Financial liabilities at fair 
value

14 At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition 78 - 78 -

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk
 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Museum’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 

financial loss to the Museum. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Museum, including cash and receivables. No collateral is held by the Museum. 
The Museum has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk associated with the Museum’s financial assets, other than 
receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards.

 Cash
 Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances with the Westpac Banking Corporation and deposits in TCorp Hour-Glass Cash 

Facilities. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the weekly average of the 30 day Bank Bill rate adjusted for a management 
fee to Westpac.

 Receivables — Trade debtors
 All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in 
economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

 The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based on past 
experience, debtors that are not past due (2016 $142,000, 2015 $194,000) and less than 60 days past due (2016 $153,000, 2015 
$34,000; ) are not considered impaired. Together these represent 100% of the total trade debtors. There are no debtors which are 
currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

 The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the receivables category of the 
statement of financial position.
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Total Past due but not 
impaired1,2 Considered Impaired

Economic 
Entity 
$000

Parent
$000

Economic 
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic 
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

2016

< 3 months overdue 126 126 126 126 - -

3 months – 6 months overdue 17 17 17 17 - -

> 6 months overdue 85 85 36 36 49 49

2015

< 3 months overdue 53 53 53 53 - -

3 months – 6 months overdue 89 89 88 88 1 1

> 6 months overdue 135 135 130 130 5 5

 Notes
 1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’
 2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are not past due 

and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum 

continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high 
quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.

 During the current and prior years the Museum did not have any borrowings. The Museum’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small 
business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of correctly 
rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified 
time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other 
suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple 
interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2016 (2015: Nil).

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

Economic Entity  
(including parent at same values)

$’000
Interest Rate Exposure

$’000
Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest

Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed Interest  
Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non- 
interest 
bearing

< 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

2016

Payables n/a 4,092 - - 4,092 4,092 - -

4,092 - - 4,092 4,092 - -

2015

Payables n/a 2,288 - - 2,288 2,288 - -

2,288 - - 2,288 2,288 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.
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(d) Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement in the unit 
price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities.

 The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for other 
price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment 
in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The 
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as for 2015. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

 Other price risk — TCorp Hour-Glass facilities
 Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities, which are held 

for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the 
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Facility Investment Sectors Investment 
Horizon

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to  
1.5 years

- 6,777

Medium-term growth facility Cash, money market instruments, 
Australian and international bonds, 
listed property and Australian shares

3 to 7 years 2,167 2,205

 The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units on 
issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.

 NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to administer 
the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the performance 
and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off internal expertise to 
manage certain fixed income assets for the Hour-Glass facilities. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is 
outsourced to an external custodian.

 Investment in the Hour-Glass facilities limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with 
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.

 NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on 
profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) 
multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour-Glass Statement).

Other price risk — Tcorp Hour-Glass facilities

Economic Entity (including parent at same values) Impact on profit/loss

Facility Change in 
unit price

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Hour-Glass Investment — Cash facility +/- 1% - 68

Hour-Glass Investment — Medium-term growth facility +/- 7% 152 132

 Interest rate risk
 The Museum does not hold any interest bearing liabilities. The Museum does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments 

at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would 
not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. 
The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The 
Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2016



103ANNUAL REPORT

Carrying
Amount

$’000

-1% 1%

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

2016

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12,676 (127) (127) 127 127

Receivables 429 - - - -

Other financial assets 2,447 - - - -

Financial Liabilities

Payables 4,092 - - - -

Other financial liabilities 78 - - - -

2015

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,985 (80) (80) 80 80

Receivables 505 - - - -

Other financial assets 2,494 - - - -

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2,288 - - - -

 Currency risk
 The Museum is currently exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The Museum 

hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The Museum uses 
forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the same dates as the 
contracted payments. Hedge accounting has not been applied.

 The following table details the forward foreign currency (FC) contracts outstanding as at 30 June.

Outstanding 
Contracts

Average exchange
rate

Foreign Currency Notional Value Gain/(Loss) on  
FX Contract

2016 2015
2016

FC’000
2015

FC’000
2016

$’000
2015

$’000
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Buy US Dollars

< 3 months 0.697 - 250 - 335 - (23) -

3 to 6 months 0.693 - 125 - 167 - (12) -

> 12 months 0.686 - 231 - 307 - (23) -

(58) -

Buy GB Pounds

< 3 months 0.481 - 42 - 76 - (11) -

3 to 6 months 0.479 - 32 - 57 -  (9) -

(20) -

 At 30 June 2016, the aggregate amount of losses under forward foreign exchange contracts totalled $78,201 (2015 $ Nil).

 The following table details the Museum’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening or weakening in the Australian Dollar against the US 
Dollar and the GB Pound. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
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Change  
in AUD

Impact on profit/loss

Foreign Currency Exposure 2016
$’000

2015
$’000

US Dollars
10% -73 -

-10% 90 -

GB Pounds
10% -12 -

-10% 15 -

(e) Fair value measurement

 (i) Fair value compared to carrying amount
  Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour-Glass facilities which are 

measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the 
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

 (ii) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position

2016
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets at fair value

TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities - 2,167 - 2,167

Shares 280 - -  280

280 2,167 - 2,447

2015
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets at fair value

TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities - 8,983 - 8,983

Shares 289 - - 289

289 8,983 - 9,272

  The tables above include only financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in the statement of 
financial position.

  There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the periods.

  The value of the Hour-Glass Investments is based on the Museum’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility, 
based on the market value. All of the Hour-Glass facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.

19. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to 
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below:

 Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c), 11 
and 18).

20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Economic Entity Parent

2016
$000

2015
$000

2016
$000

2015
$000

(a) Capital Commitments

Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various  
refurbishment projects at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 4,783 13,202 4,783 13,202

Later than one year and not later than 5 years - - - -

Total (including GST) 4,783 13,202 4,783 13,202

 The total commitments above include input tax credits of $671,000 (2015: $1,363,000) that are expected to be recovered from the 
Australian Taxation Office.
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21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2015: Nil).

22. PAYMENTS MADE TO CONSULTANTS

 Total payments made to consultants during the year totalled $1,248,000 (2015: $52,000).

 Payments related to the development of the initial business case for the Museum’s proposed Parramatta relocation (refer note 
2(e)).

23. PAYMENTS MADE TO TRUSTEES

 No payments were made to trustees during the year (2015: Nil).

24. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

 No matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report that has or may significantly 
affect the activities of the Museum, the results of those activities, or its state of affairs, in the ensuing or any subsequent financial 
year.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees 
of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, the Treasurer’s Directions 
and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2016 and 
the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

PROFESSOR BARNEY GLOVER DOLLA MERRILLEES
PRESIDENT DIRECTOR

Date: 30 September 2016
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes
Actual

2016
$000

Actual
2015

$000

EXPENSES

Salaries and Wages 19,927 18,513

Redundancy Payments 52 148

Annual Leave 535 322

Long Service Leave 905 441

Superannuation — Defined Contribution Plans 1,661 1,397

Superannuation — Defined Benefits Plans 384 457

Payroll Tax 1,270 1,173

Fringe Benefits Tax 2 11

Workers Compensation 166 453

Total Expenses 24,902 22,915

REVENUE

Personnel Services 23,605 21,658

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 2 1,297 1,257

Total Revenue 24,902 22,915

Net Result - -

Other Comprehensive Income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2016

Notes
Actual

2016
$000

Actual
2015

$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Receivables 3 2,549 2,672

Total Current Assets 2,549 2,672

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 3 59 52

Total Non-Current Assets 59 52

Total Assets 2,608 2,724

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 4 156 629

Provisions 5 2,393 2,043

Total Current Liabilities 2,549 2,672

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 5 59 52

Total Non-Current Liabilities 59 52

Total Liabilities 2,608 2,724

Net Assets   - -

EQUITY

Accumulated funds 6 - -

Total Equity - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes
Accumulated Funds

2016
$000

2015
$000

Balance at 1 July 2015 - -

Net result for the period  -   -

Total other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - -

Balance as at 30 June 2016 - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes
Actual

2016
$000

Actual
2015

$000

Net cash flows from operating activities - -

Net cash flows from investing activities - -

Net cash flows from financing activities - -

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - -

Opening cash and cash equivalents - -

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 

February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The reporting entity is consolidated as 
part of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed 
responsibility for the employees and employee related liabilities of the former employer, the Department of Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with the offsetting 
receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 30 September 2016.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

 Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statement does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value (Refer Note 1(h) and 6).

 The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Management’s judgements, key 
assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that repayment of debts will be met as and 
when they fall due, without any intention or necessity to liquidate assets or otherwise winding up the operations.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

 The Museum has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective from the current annual reporting period. The impact to the 
Museum of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations was insignificant. 

(d) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel 

services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are 
recognised. 

(e) Receivables
 A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value that 

can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are 
transferred.

 A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice amount 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

(f) Payables
 Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and workers’ compensation 

insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

 A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation 
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(g) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 

wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured 
at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has accordingly adjusted annual 
leave balances to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.
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  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The entity’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The entity 

accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non- 
monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities.

  Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential on-costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 

they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance 
premiums and fringe benefit tax.

(h) Equity Transfers
 The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of programs/functions and parts 

thereof between NSW public sector entities and ‘equity appropriations’ are designated or required by Australian Accounting 
Standards to be treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’. This treatment is 
consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned 
Public Sector Entities.

 Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit government entities are recognised at an 
amount at which the assets and liabilities were recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure. In most 
instances this will approximate fair value.

(i) Comparative Information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(j) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
 The entity did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective. The entity has 

assessed the impact of all new standards and interpretations and considers that no standard that is significant to the entity has 
been published.
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2. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES 2016
$000

2015
$000

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 384 457

Long service leave 893 775

Payroll tax 20 25

1,297 1,257

3. RECEIVABLES

Current

Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 2,549 2,672

2,549 2,672

Non-current

Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 59 52

59 52

4. PAYABLES

Current

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 15 537

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax payable 141 92

156 629

5. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Annual leave 1,513 1,256

Annual leave on-costs 120 114

Payroll tax on annual leave 83 69

Long service leave on-costs 458 409

Payroll tax on long service leave 278 247

2,452 2,095

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions — current 2,393 2,043

Provisions — non current 59 52

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 4) 15 537

2,467 2,632

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $397,000 (2015: $327,000).

6. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

 No capital, lease or other expenditure commitments existed at the balance sheet date (2015: Nil).

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Trust Is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date (2015: Nil).

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2016



116 2015 – 16

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The entity’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the entity’s 
operations or are required to finance the entity’s operations. The entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

 The entity’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the entity’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the entity, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting to 
the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.

(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category
Carrying Amount

2016
$000

2015
$000

Receivables1 3 Loans and Receivables (at amortised cost) 2,608 2,725

Financial Liabilities Note Category
Carrying Amount

2016
$000

2015
$000

Payables2 4 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 15 537
 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk
 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 

financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity. No collateral is held by the entity. The entity has not granted any financial 
guarantees.

 Receivables
 As at 30 June 2016, the entity had debtors of $2.608 million which represent personnel services receivable from the Trust.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The entity’s exposure to 

liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
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 Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

$'000
Interest Rate Exposure

$'000
Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-  
interest 
bearing

< 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

2016

Payables n/a 15 - - 15 15 - -

15 - - 15 15 - -

2015

Payables n/a 537 - - 537 537 - -

537 - - 537 537 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate or foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

(e) Fair value measurement
 Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial 

position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the financial instruments.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Trustees at 30 June 2016

Professor John Shine AO, FAA, BSc (Hons), PhD, DSc
Terms: 25.01.12 – 31.12.13, 01.01.14 – 30.06.16
President (from 25.01.12)
Chairman, CSL Limited;
Executive Director, Garvan Institute of Medical Research 
1990–2011;
Professor of Medicine and Professor of Molecular Biology, 
University of NSW;
Former Chairman, National Health and Medical Research 
Council;
Fellow, Australian Academy of Sciences
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 6; leave 0

Ms Lisa Chung LLB FAIM FAICD
Term: 01.01.14 – 31.12.16
Deputy President (from 04.11.15)
Chairman, The Benevolent Society and Urbis Pty Ltd
Director, APN Outdoor Group Ltd
Consultant, Maddocks
Former Partner, Maddocks and Blake Dawson
Former Director, Northcott Society and Australian Institute 
of Management NSW/ACT Partner, Maddocks;
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 5; leave 1

Mr Robert Cameron AO, BE (Hons), MBA, GradDip 
Geoscience, FAusIMM, FAIM, FAICD
Terms: 11.01.12 – 31.12.14, 01.01.15 – 31.12.18
Chairman, Centennial Coal Company Limited
Chairman, County International Ltd; Minerals Industry 
Advisory Council, UNSW; Pacific Smiles Ltd; Hunter Valley 
Training Company Ltd;
Member, UNSW Dean’s Engineering Industrial Steering 
Committee; Rotary Club of Sydney Cove;
Trustee UNSW Foundation
Formerly Founder, Managing Director and CEO Chairman, 
Centennial Coal Company Limited
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 6; leave 0

Ms Elizabeth Crouch B Ec FAICD
Term: 01.01.16 – 31.12.18
Deputy Chancellor, Macquarie University
Director, Macquarie University Hospital
Non-Executive Director, SGS Planning and Economics
Director, Optimize International
Former Director, Chandler Macleod; Former Chair RailCorp
Meetings: eligible 2; attended 2; leave 0

Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM
Terms: 11.01.12 – 31.12.14, 01.01.15 – 31.12.18
Principal, Ebbeck TIG Consulting
Director, Nvoi Limited
Executive Director, Techfront Auspac Pty Ltd 
National Director, CPA Australia;
Former Managing Director, Oracle, Australia and New 
Zealand
Former Chief Commercial Officer, NBN Co;
Former President and CEO, SAP Australia and New 
Zealand;
Former CFO, Asia Pacific of TMP Worldwide;
Former CFO, South Pacific Compaq Computers
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 3; leave 3

Professor Barney Glover PhD, MSc, BSc(Hons), DipEd, 
MIACD
Term: 01.01.15 – 31.12.17
Vice Chancellor and President, Western Sydney University
Chair, Universities Australia
Member, International Education Advisory Board (Study 
NSW) 
Member, Australian Institute of Police Management, 
Governance and Risk Committee
Board Member, Australian American Fullbright Commission 
Australian Government Representative, University of the 
South Pacific Grants Committee
Member, The Committee for Sydney Executive Board 
Board Member, Educations Services Australia 
Meetings: eligible 6; attended 4; leave 2

Janet McDonald AO
Term: 01.01.16 – 31.12.18
Deputy Chair, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District
Life Fellow, Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
Meetings: eligible 2; attended 2; leave 0

Trustees retiring prior to 30 June 2016

Professor Shirley Alexander BSc, MAppStats, GradDipEd
Terms: 01.01.07 – 31.12.09; 24.02.10 – 31.12.12; 01.01.13–31.12.15
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Teaching, Learning and Equity) 
University of Technology, Sydney
Meetings: eligible 4; attended 3; leave 1

Mr James Longley BEc, MEc, FCPA, FAIM, FAICD
Terms: 11.01.12 – 31.12.12; 01.01.13 – 31.12.15
Chief Executive, Ageing, Disability and Home Care;
Former Executive Vice President, Government Banking 
Group, Commonwealth Bank of Australia;
Director, RSL Life Care (Veterans Retirement Villages);
Former CEO & Managing Director, Anglican Retirement 
Villages;
Former Member of Parliament of NSW and Minister, 
Community Services, Ageing, Aboriginal Affairs
Meetings: eligible 4; attended 4; leave 0

Dr Judith O'Callaghan PhD, BA, MA, GradDipT
Term: 01.01.13 – 31.12.15, 01.01.16 – 26.04.16
Director of Postgraduate Research, Faculty of Built 
Environment, University of NSW;
Member, Heritage and Endangered Houses Advisory 
Committee, Historic Houses Trust of NSW;
Member, Society of Architectural Historians Australia and 
New Zealand;
Member, Academic Board, UTS: INSEARCH;
Former Senior Curator, Contemporary Decorative Arts and 
Design, Powerhouse Museum 1988–2000;
Former Curator of Decorative Arts, National Gallery of 
Victoria
Meetings: eligible 5; attended 5; leave 0



120 2015 – 16

2. PRINCIPAL OFFICERS

Director: (to 31 December 2015)
Rose Hiscock B Com
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director: (from 12 May 2016)
Dolla Merrillees BA, GradDip (Museum Studies)
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer: 
(to 30 October 2015)
Elizabeth Stratford B Com (Accounting Major) M. Public 
Admin, Fellow, CPA Australia, Grad AICD
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer: 
(from 18 January 2016)
Andrew Elliott B Com (Accy), CPA, GIA (Cert), MAICD
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Public Engagement:
Michael Parry B Eng (Computer Systems) B ASc. 
(Computer Science)
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions; 
Dolla Merrillees BA, GradDip (Museum Studies)  
(to 31 December 2015)
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Director, Development and External Affairs: 
Leann Meiers BA, MAICD
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

3. EXHIBITIONS ON DISPLAY AT THE POWERHOUSE 
MUSEUM

Exhibitions and displays that opened during the period  
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016 were:

Temporary exhibitions

Good Design Awards 2015 
29 August 2015 – 7 August 2016
Level 3
This was a display of finalist products from the annual 
Good Design Awards® program for excellence in product 
design and innovation. MAAS makes its own selection of 
finalist products for display at the Powerhouse Museum. 
Presented by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences in 
association with Good Design® Australia

Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced
5 September 2015 – 29 January 2017
Level 4 
Collette Dinnigan: Unlaced was the first exhibition to 
explore the work of this internationally acclaimed 
Australian fashion designer. Featuring over 70 outfits  
and accessories the exhibition ranges over the designer’s 
25-year career, from the lingerie that launched her label to 
exquisite, embellished red carpet dresses worn by some of 
the world’s most famous women, from Taylor Swift and 
Dita Von Teese to Catherine, Duchess of Cambridge.

Disobedient Objects 
31 October 2015 – 14 February 2016
Level 2
Disobedient Objects was an exhibition of art and design 
from below. The objects on show were not made by 
commercial artists and designers, but by people 
collectively taking design into their own hands to make a 
change in the world. Spanning over 30 years it 
demonstrated how political activism drives a wealth of 
design ingenuity and collective creativity that defies 
standard definitions of art and design. The exhibition was 
organised by the Victoria and Albert Museum, London, and 
shown exclusively in Australia at the Powerhouse Museum.
Exhibition organised by the Victoria and Albert Museum, 
London

Evidence: Brook Andrew
31 October – 18 September 2016
Level 2
Evidence: Brook Andrew was an immersive installation that 
drew on the rich and varied MAAS collection to explore the 
theme of evidence. Brook Andrew is internationally 
recognised for his interdisciplinary practice that often 
interrogates knowledge systems, history, identity and race. 
Featured objects included Governor Macquarie’s chair, a 
‘black box’ flight recorder, a Maralinga souvenir clock, a 
Brown Bess musket, a surgical table and colonial 
breastplates along with 19th-century ethnographic 
photographs.

The Art of the Brick: DC Comics (LEGO) 
21 November 2016 – 1 May 2016
Level 3
Created by LEGO® artist Nathan Sawaya, this 
contemporary art exhibition used hundreds of thousands of 
LEGO bricks to create large-scale sculptures of the most 
enduring Super Heroes and Super-Villains: from Batman, 
Superman and Wonder Woman to The Joker and Harley 
Quinn. The Art of the Brick: DC Comics had its worldwide 
premiere at the Powerhouse Museum — the exclusive 
Australian venue for this exhibition.

Shape 2015 (DesignTECH) 
27 February – 8 May 2016
Level 3
This was a selection of outstanding major projects from the 
HSC Design and Technology, Industrial Technology and 
Textiles and Design courses. Behind each project is a 
process of investigation, research and evaluation in 
response to an identified need. 
Presented in association with the Board of Studies, Teaching 
and Educational Standards NSW

Student Fashion 2015
25 March – 18 September 2016
Level 2 
Fashion design schools prepare graduates to take on 
diverse roles in the industry, fostering creativity, critical 
thinking and entrepreneurship. The Museum showcases 
the work of the top local fashion design graduates 
providing insight to the skills and potential of the next 
generation of Australian designers.
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Isabella Blow: A Fashionable Life
14 May 2016 – 28 August 2016
Level 2
Featuring looks from Alexander McQueen, Philip Treacy, 
Hussein Chalayan, Julien Macdonald and more, the private 
collection of late fashion visionary Isabella Blow was on 
display for an exclusive season. English stylist, editor and 
muse Isabella Blow championed British fashion, nurturing 
the careers of many designers in the 1990s and beyond. 
Over 45 of her outfits comprising clothing, hats, shoes and 
jewellery from more than 20 of the world’s top fashion 
designers, photographs from key fashion photographers 
and hats from Philip Treacy’s personal archives were on 
display.
The Isabella Blow Collection is owned by the Honourable 
Daphne Guinness and the Isabella Blow Foundation 

Recollect

RECOLLECT: Health & Medicine
15 August 2015 – 16 July 2017
Level 1 
Part of the Recollect series, this display explores the history 
and innovation of public health and medicine, showcasing 
more than 1000 objects from the Museum’s extensive 
collection including beautifully realised anatomical 
models, surgical instruments from the 19th century to 
present day, taboos and strange historic medicine and 
cutting-edge prosthetics.

RECOLLECT: Ceramics
24 May – 21 August 2016
Level 3
Showcasing the Museum’s internationally renowned 
ceramics collection, Recollect: Ceramics celebrates 
selected ceramic milestones from the 1600s to today.

Small displays

Parisian fashion plates
August 2015 – August 2016
Level 4
A MAAS Centre for Fashion display of exquisite limited-
edition early 20th-century Parisian fashion plates from the 
collection designed by leading fashion illustrators of the 
day.

Collection Focus Showcase: International Year of Light, 
2015
23 July 2015 – 01 February 2016
Level 3
This display of lighting from the Museum’s collection 
marked the International Year of Light and Light-based 
Technologies. 

Minecraft 
17 September – 4 October 2015
Level 3 
This small display from the Museum’s collection 
complemented the Minecraft school holiday program. 
Objects included pieces of armour, a sword, a pickaxe and 
a shovel. 

Recent Acquisition: Romance Was Born 
27 October 2015 – 13 March 2016
Level 2 
An important group of Romance Was Born outfits, 
acquired as part of the Museum’s 2015 annual appeal, 
highlighted designers Luke Sales and Anna Plunkett’s 
collaboration with another Australian designer Linda 
Jackson.

Designed by Marc Newson 
25 January – 16 August 2016
Level 1
A changing display of objects from the collection designed 
by the internationally renowned designer.

Collection Focus Showcase: Korean Ceramics
2 February – 28 April 2016
Level 3
The Korean ceramics on display were recently acquired for 
the Museum’s permanent collection of Asian arts. They 
were made by renowned, third-generation ceramist Yeung-
an Jang (1952–) in Icheon, South Korea, a city famous for 
pottery production and the World Ceramic Biennale. 

Recent Acquisition: Contemporary Chinese fashion
28 April 2016 – 12 September 2016
Level 3
The three outfits on display were designed by Liu Qingyang 
(aka Christine Lau) for her Beijing-based fashion label 
Chictopia. Part of retailer David Jones Lunar New Year 
showcase of 16 Chinese designers, they were generously 
donated to the Museum by David Jones.

4. EXHIBITIONS ON DISPLAY AT SYDNEY OBSERVATORY

Winning sky photos: The David Malin Awards 2015
15 August – 27 September 2015
Winning Sky Photos: 2015 David Malin Awards displayed 
the top entries from the David Malin Awards 
astrophotography competition for 2015. The competition 
aims to encourage photographers to use their vision, 
imagination and skill to produce inspiring and beautiful 
images of the sky.
The support of Canon Australia and the CSIRO’s Australia 
Telescope National Facility is acknowledged. The tour of the 
exhibition is organised by Sydney Observatory.

5. OFF SITE EXHIBITIONS 

Faith, Fashion, Fusion: Muslim women’s style in Australia
Australian Muslim women dress in diverse styles and are 
increasingly choosing to engage with global fashion trends 
while also expressing their faith. Faith, fashion, fusion 
explores Sydney’s emerging modest fashion market and the 
work of a new generation of fashion designers, retailers 
and bloggers offering stylish clothing and fashion advice to 
Muslim women.

• Albury Library Museum, Albury NSW
 19 September – 15 November
• Maitland Regional Art Gallery, Maitland NSW
 27 November – 28 February
• Fairfield City Museum and Gallery, NSW
 12 March – 15 May
• National Archives of Australia, Canberra ACT 

27 May – 4 September
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Winning sky photos: The David Malin Awards 2015
(see description in Sydney Observatory exhibition listings)

• Goulburn Mulwaree Library, Goulburn NSW 
1 October – 15 November

• Museum of the Riverina, Wagga Wagga NSW 
1 December – 21 February

• Gannawarra Shire Council, VIC
 1 March – 31 March
• Scienceworks, Melbourne, VIC
 7 April – 19 June

6. STAFF PRESENTATIONS OFF SITE

Banks, J. ‘Walking the walk: implementing change in 
museum compliance and ethics’, Australasian Registrars 
Committee Conference, Sydney; Australasian Registrars 
Committee Conference, Auckland, NZ

Chee, S. & Gatenby, S. ‘Speedo® swimwear: Sweating I’, 
Proceedings of the AICCM TSIG symposium, Sydney, 
Australia

Cheung, K. & Stenhouse, R. ‘A Modern Museum Web 
Stack’, Museums and the Web Asia, Melbourne 
Conference Centre, Melbourne 

Collins, D. ‘Loosely coupled systems across customer 
engagement’, Museums and the Web Asia, Melbourne 
Conference Centre, Melbourne

Collins, D. ‘CIOs in conversation — digital strategy 
challenges’, CIO Summit 2015

Collins, D. ‘What are the greatest opportunities and 
challenges facing digital media implementation in 
museums and cultural institutions in 2016’, University of 
Sydney — Museums and the Digital subject, University of 
Sydney, Sydney

Cox, P. ‘Annette Kellerman: Behind the Myth’, Performing 
Arts Heritage Network annual conference, Queensland 
Performing Arts Centre, Brisbane

Czernis-Ryl, E. ‘Crossing Boundaries, Claiming Spaces: 
Jewellery Then and Now’, 16th JMGA Conference 
'edgesbordersgaps', Sydney

Czernis-Ryl, E. ‘A Fine Possession: Jewellery and Identity: 
objects, meaning and presentation’, ICOMAM & ICADAD 
Congress 'Ambassadors of change', Krakow, Poland

Donnelly, P. ‘Pots and people — MB/LB Chocolate-on-white 
ware and Canaanite identity’, 10 ICAANE (International 
Conference on the Archaeology of the Ancient Near East), 
Institute for Oriental and European Archaeology, Austrian 
Academy of Sciences, Vienna, Austria

Evans, R. ‘Museological intersections between dress and 
the photograph’, Image, Space Body — Art association of 
Australian and New Zealand annual conference

Evans, R. ‘The future of dress history and the Australian 
Dress Register’, The Futures' Past: The University of Sydney 
Postgraduate Conference 

Fishwick, J. & Boleyn, T. ‘Six museum words to make you 
vomit’, Museums Australasia Conference, Auckland

Hiscock, R. ‘Finding the Innovation Sweet Spot’ Australian 
Library and Information Association (ALIA) Leadership and 
Innovation Forum, Sydney

Jones, G. ‘Fashion, dress, identity and diversity in fashion 
exhibitions at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’, 
Transboundery Fashion Seminar, Bunka Gakuen University, 
Tokyo

Jones, G. ‘Fashioning an Australian identity’, Australian 
Embassy, Japan

Jones, G. ‘Subcultural and alternative style in Australia’, 
National Art Centre, Tokyo

Leong, R. ‘Fashioning the Object’, Fashion Museums 
Conference, Australian National University, Canberra

Leong, R. ‘The Trinitarias Carpet’, Oriental Rug Society 
Meeting, Sydney

Merrillees, D. ‘Cultural Value + Social Value. Can it add up?’  
Panel discussion, Remix Sydney

Pitkin, M. ‘New outreach role for the EES: Developing 
research and soft skills for Egyptian Egyptologists and 
Archaeologists’, Graduate Annual Research Discussions on 
Egypt and Nubia III at the German Archaeological Institute 
in Cairo, Egypt

Pitkin, M. ‘Wedjat-eyes as a dating criterion for false doors 
and stelae to the early Middle Kingdom’, XIth International 
Congress of Egyptologists, Florence, Italy

Pitkin, M. & Jones, G. ‘Curating [cross]-cultural 
sensitivities’, Fashioning Museums Conference, Australian 
National University, Canberra

Strecker, J. ‘Provenance research and the display of art 
stolen during WWII’, The University of Sydney, Sydney

Strecker, J. ‘Photography and Place: Seeing and Not Seeing 
Germany after 1945’, The Power Institute, The University of 
Sydney, Sydney

7. LOANS 

MAAS loaned 415 collection objects to the following 
institutions in 2015–16:

Albert Kersten Mining & Minerals Museum, Broken Hill, NSW

Art Gallery of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW

Art Gallery of South Australia, Adelaide, SA

Arts Centre Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC

Australian Aviation Museum, Bankstown Inc., Bankstown, 
NSW

Australian Centre for the Moving Image, Melbourne, VIC

Australian Cinematographers Society, North Sydney, NSW

Australian Museum, Sydney, NSW

Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney, NSW

Australian National University, Canberra, ACT

Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO), Lucas Heights, NSW

Australian Rugby League Commission, Paddington, NSW

Blue Mountains Cultural Centre, Katoomba, NSW

Canberra Museum and Art Gallery, Canberra, ACT

Cube Design Museum, Kerkrade, Netherlands
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Hazelhurst Regional Gallery and Arts Centre, Gymea, NSW

Indooroopilly Shopping Centre, Indooroopilly, QLD

Meadowbank College of TAFE, Meadowbank, NSW

Murray Art Museum Albury (MAMA), Albury, NSW

Museum of Australian Democracy at Eureka, Ballarat, VIC

Museum of Australian Democracy at Old Parliament 
House, Parkes, ACT

Museum Victoria, Carlton, VIC

Museums and Galleries NSW, Sydney, NSW

National Gallery of Victoria, Melbourne, VIC

National Library of Australia, Canberra, ACT

National Museum of Australia, Acton, ACT

National School of Art, Darlinghurst, NSW

National Trust of Australia (NSW), Sydney, NSW

Newcastle Art Gallery, Newcastle, NSW

Newcastle Museum, Newcastle, NSW

New South Wales Health, Sydney, NSW

Office of Communities, NSW Government, Sydney, NSW

Office of the Hon. Troy Grant MP, Dubbo, NSW

QANTAS Airways Limited, Mascot, NSW

Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney, NSW

Sancta Sophia College, Camperdown, NSW

Scentre Shopping Centre Management Pty Ltd, Sydney, NSW

State Library of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW

Sydney Living Museums, Sydney, NSW

Sydney Tramway Museum, Sydney, NSW

TAFE NSW Western Institute, Castle Hill, NSW

Tamworth Regional Gallery, Tamworth, NSW

The Australian Motorlife Museum, Wollongong, NSW

The Japan Foundation, Sydney, Chippendale, NSW

The King's School, Parramatta, NSW

The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, USA

The Sheep's Back, Naracoorte, SA

TradeCoast Central, Brisbane, QLD

Transport Heritage NSW Ltd, Eveleigh, NSW

Tumbarumba Historical Society Museum, Tumbarumba, NSW

UNSW Galleries, Paddington, NSW

Uralla Historical Society Inc, Uralla, NSW

Victoria & Albert Museum, London, UK

Victoria Police Museum and Historical Unit, Melbourne, VIC

Wellcome Collection, London, UK

Wollongong Art Gallery, Wollongong, NSW

Yarra Ranges Regional Museum, Lilydale, VIC

8. STAFF SCHOLARSHIP, PUBLICATIONS AND 
CONFERENCES

Staff Professional Commitments 2015–16 

Adams, M. Member Australian Institute of Project 
Management

Anderson, C. Member, Australian Human Resources 
Institute

Banks, J. Council Member, Australasian Registrars 
Committee

Biddle, K. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee, 
EMu Users Forum 

Boleyn, T. Member, Australian Science Communicators; 
Editor Museums and Media section, Health and History 
Journal; Member, Australian and New Zealand Society of 
the History of Medicine

Bond, K. Member, Design Institute of Australia

Brennan, A. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee 

Budge, K. Member, Print Council of Australia, Member 
ICOM, Reviewer for International Journal of Art and Design 
Education, Media and Culture; Convergence: the 
International Journal of Research into New Media 
Technologies, Arts and Humanities in Higher Education, 
The Australian Educational Researcher. 

Chidlow, K. Committee member; DISNSW (NSW Cultural 
Institutions Collection Disaster Response)

Collins, D. Advisory Board, NSW Public Sector Community 
of ICT Professionals 

Connell. M. Member, University of NSW Faculty of Science 
Advisory Council; Science and Technology Education 
Network; Editorial Board, The Rutherford Journal: The New 
Zealand Journal for the History and Philosophy of Science 
and Technology; Associate, Creative and Cognition Studios 
University of Technology, Sydney 

Coombes, J. Member, Executive Board ICOM Australia; 
Editorial Committee, COMCOL; International Council of 
Museums; Australasian Registrars Committee 

Cox, P. Member, Performing Arts Heritage Network 

Crook, M. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee 

Czernis-Ryl, E. Expert Examiner for the National Cultural 
Heritage Committee, Office for the Arts, Department of 
Prime Minister and Cabinet, Canberra; Adviser for the 
Australian Living Crafts Project, World Crafts Council, 
Australia; Judge, Hindmarsh Prize 2016, Canberra 
Glassworks, Canberra; Member, ICDAD — Decorative Arts 
and Design International Committee for Museums and 
Collections of Decorative Arts and Design; Honorary 
Member, Silver Society of Australia; Honorary Member, 
Ceramic Collectors Society, Member, Society of North 
American Goldsmiths (USA), Member, Australiana Society 

Dyer, K. Member, Curatorial Advisory Panel, City of Sydney

Fishwick, J. Member, Museums Australia
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Gatenby, S. Coordinator, Australian Institute for the 
Conservation of Cultural Materials (AICCM), Mould 
Remediation working group; Professional Member, 
Australian Institute for the Conservation of Cultural 
Material; Delegated member, International Council of 
Museums, Conservation Committee; Working group 
membership to Documentation; Education and Training; 
Modern materials and contemporary Art; Preventative 
Conservation; Ethnographic conservation and Scientific 
research 

Gordon-Gillespie, A. Member, Interpretation Australia; 
International Museum Theatre Alliance — Asia Pacific; 
Museums Australia Education Group; Young People and 
the Arts Australia 

Greenhalgh, D. Management Board, Runway Australian 
Experimental Arts

Harrington, S. Management Board Member and Editorial 
Board Member, Runway Experimental Australian Art 
Journal; Sydney Art and Design representative, 
YouthfulCities

Hogan, K. Council Member, Australasian Registrars 
Committee

Hews, J. Member, Australian Science Communicators; 
Australian Design Centre Advisory Council 

Hulbert, M. Associate Member, Astronomical Society of 
Australia; Member, Sutherland Astronomical Society; 
Member, Astronomical Society of NSW; Board of 
Directors, Society of Australian Genealogists; Casual 
Instructor, astronomy online courses, Swinburne University 

Jacob, A. Member, Astronomical Society of Australia; 
Astronomical Society of Australia; Tutor and night viewing 
coordinator, Astronomy Course, University of Sydney 

Jacob, V. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee 

Johnson, K. Associate Member, Australian Library and 
Information Association

Jones, B. Member, Australian Market and Social Research 
Society

Jones, G. Judge, Australian Fashion Laureate

Khoa Vu, Associate member, CPA Australia

Kim, M-J. Committee member, The Asian Arts Society of 
Australia; The Korean Cultural Office, Australia 

Kingsley, I. Australian Science Communicators, Board of 
Studies Teaching and Educational Standards (BOSTES) 
NSW Teacher Accreditation

La Mott, N. Creative Director and Coordinator, Artability, 
Member, IPAA

London, J. Member, Australian Institute for Conservation 
of Cultural Material (AICCM)

Lucas, A. Member, China Studies Centre, University of 
Sydney; Australian Institute of Maritime Archaeology; 
Indo-Pacific Prehistory Association; Japan Foundation; 
Asian Studies Association of Australia; The Japanese 
Studies Association of Australia, Australasian Registrars 
Committee; Web Committee Member and Social Media 
Coordinator, The Asian Arts Society of Australia 

McIntosh, K. Member, Australian Graphic Design 
Association (AGDA), Member NSW Public Sector 
Community of ICT Professionals

McKernan, M. Member, Design Institute of Australia

McLean, J. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee

Merrillees, D. Member, Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, Member, International Network of Applied Art 
Museum Directors, Member, Council of Australasian 
Museum Directors, Member City of Sydney Curatorial 
Advisory Panel, Board Member, San Art, Ho Chi Minh City 
Vietnam; Drummond Street Services, Melbourne 

Ogg, M. Member, The Australasian Planetarium Society

Parry, M. Chair, Humanities Network Infrastructure 
Steering Committee; Member, Australian Institute of 
Company Directors; Member, Technical Advisory 
Committee, Design and Art Australia Online, NSW 
Representative, National Arts & Culture Accord Digital 
Technologies Working Group; Member, Museums Australia 
(NSW) Branch Committee

Pitkin, M. Inaugural Cairo Visiting Fellow and Member, 
Egypt Exploration Society; Archaeologist, Amarna Project; 
Tour Leader, ‘Egypt: From Alexandria to Abu Simbel’, 
Alumni Travel; Juror, Contemporary Wearables 15, 
Toowoomba Regional Art Gallery

Pointon, S. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee 

Riley, M. Member, Australasian Registrars Committee 

Rogers, A. Member, Institute of Public Accountants

Van de Ven, A-M. Judge, Head On Portrait Prize, Head On 
Photo Festival, Sydney

Vaughan, D. Member curatorium, The Cross Art Projects 

Wilson, P. Member, Australian Society of Archivists 

Wyatt, G. Member of the Science Teachers Association of 
NSW; Astronomical Society of NSW; Associate member, 
Astronomical Society of Australia 

Publications

Budge, K. (2016). ‘The “new” craft phenomena and the 
contemporary museum’. Craft Research, 7 (1), 79–89

Budge, K. (2015). ‘Museum exhibitions, technique, and the 
new materiality’. Museum and Society

Budge, K. (2015). ‘Social media as conduit in Art: 
understanding connections to communities of practice 
through professional learning theory’. Visual Inquiry: 
Learning & Teaching Art, 4 (3), 169–179 

Budge, K. (2016). ‘Learning to be: the modelling of art and 
design practice in university art and design teaching’. 
International Journal of Art and Design Education, 35 (2), 
243–258

Leong, R. Ford, M (NGA). (2015). ‘Fashion as art: Dressed to 
Kill: 100 Years of Fashion’. Getty Conservation Institute: 
Issues in Conversation.

Donnelly, P. Fraser, J. Lovell, J. (2015). ‘Controlling the 
Middle Bronze landscape — a temple in the Wadi Rayyan, 
Jordan’. Levant 
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Kim, M-J. (2015). ‘Interpretation of Asian arts at the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’. Australian & New 
Zealand Journal of Art, Issue 2, 2016.

Strecker, J. (2015). ‘Angry Penguins’. The Companion to 
Australian Art.

Czernis-Ryl, E. (2015). ‘Margaret West 1936–2014’. Art 
Monthly Australia Ltd, issue 280.

Kim, M-J. (2016). ‘Korean celadon and buncheong ware’. 
TAASA Review, The Journal of The Asian Arts Society of 
Australia 

Kim, M-J. (2015). ‘Joungmee Do’s spirit of jang-i’. Garland 
Magazine, First Issue, December 2015

Czernis-Ryl, E. (2016). ‘Studying Royal Collections in Royal 
Palaces from an Australian Curator’s Perspective’. Ceramic 
Collectors Society Newsletter, February, no 130, 7–10

Budge, K. Lemon, N. McPherson, M. ‘Academics who 
tweet: “messy” identities in academia’. Journal of Applied 
Research in Higher Education, 8 (2), 201–221

Boleyn, T. ‘Surgical table’. Evidence: Brook Andrew, MAAS 
Media, 84–91

Donnelly, P. ‘Love tokens’. Evidence: Brook Andrew. MAAS 
Media, 68–75

Dyer, K. ‘A Protest Against Forgetting’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew, MAAS Media, 4–15

Connell, M. ‘EAI 680 analogue computer’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew. MAAS Media, 68–75

Cox, P. ‘Maralinga souvenir clock’. Evidence: Brook Andrew, 
MAAS Media, 60–67

Evans, R. ‘Rakali (water rat) fur coat’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew. MAAS Media, 52–59

Hughes, M. ‘Aboriginal carved tree’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew. MAAS Media, 121–122.

Merrillees, D. ‘Governor Macquarie’s chair’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew. MAAS Media, 105–107

McDonald, D. ‘India pattern flintlock musket’. Evidence: 
Brook Andrew, MAAS Media, 76–84

McDonald, D. ‘Owen submachine gun’. Evidence: Brook 
Andrew, MAAS Media, 92–100

Aynsley, D & Katakouzinos, L (2016). ‘Tiny Tinkerers: 
engaging young children with technology in a museum 
setting’. Rattler: Community Child Care Cooperative 
Quarterly Journal, Autumn 2016, 22–24

Pitkin, M. (2016). ‘Wedjat-eyes as a dating criterion for false 
doors and stelae to the early Middle Kingdom’. Proceedings 
of the XIth International Congress of Egyptologists in 
Florence, Italy

Simpson, M. (2015). ‘Powerhouse Museum offers fitting 
home (for Sydney's Monorail)’. Track + Signal, 19 (3), 38–39

Jones, B, Huong L, Williams, T, Dolnicar, S. (2016) 
‘Communicating to Culture Audiences’. Journal of Marketing 
Intelligence and Planning, 34 (4), 462–485

Conferences

Banks, J. ‘Walking the walk: implementing change in 
museum compliance and ethics’, Australasian Registrars 
Committee Conference, 18 March 2016, Sydney

Banks, J. ‘Walking the walk: implementing change in 
museum compliance and ethics’, Australasian Registrars 
Committee Conference, 21 March 2016, Auckland 

Cheung, K & Stenhouse, R. ‘A modern museum web stack’, 
Melbourne Conference Centre, 7 October 2015, Melbourne 

Collins, D. ‘CIOs in conversation — Digital strategy 
challenges’, CIO Summit 2015, 17 July 2015

Collins, D. ‘Loosely couple systems across customer 
engagement’, Museum’s and Web Asia, 6 October 2015

Cox, P. ‘Annette Kellerman: behind the myth’, Queensland 
Performing Arts Centre, 21 October 2015, Brisbane

Czemis-Ryl, E. ‘A Fine Possession: Jewellery and Identity: 
objects, meaning and presentation’, ICOMAM & ICADAD 
Congress ‘Ambassadors of Change’, 18 September 2015, 
Krakow, Poland

Czemis-Ryl, E.  ‘Crossing Boundaries, Claiming Spaces: 
Jewellery Then and Now’, 16th JMGA Conference, 12 July 
2015, Sydney

Evans, R. ‘Muselogical intersections between dress  
and the photograph’, New Zealand Annual Conference, 
22–24 November 2015

Fishwick, J & Boleyn, T. ‘Six museum words to make you 
vomit’, Museums Australasia Conference, 17 May 2016, 
Auckland

Gatenby, S & Chee, S. ‘Speedo swimwear: Sweating it’, 
AICCM TSIG Symposium, 19 May 2016, Sydney

Jones, G. ‘Fashion, dress, identity and diversity in fashion 
exhibitions at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’, 
Transboundary Fashion Seminar, Bunka Gakuen University, 
2 June 2016, Tokyo

Jones, G. ‘Fashioning an Australian identity’, Australian 
Embassy, 6 June 2016, Japan

Jones, G. ‘Subcultural and alternative style in Australia’, 
National Art Centre, 10 June 2016, Tokyo

Leong, R. ‘Fashioning the Object’, Australian National 
University, 2 February 2016, Canberra

Leong, R. ‘The Trinitarians Carpet’, Oriental Rug Society 
Meeting, 9 June 2016, Sydney

London, J. ‘Open Display: Audience and Objects’, MAAS 
Professional Series, 25 February 2016

Merrillees, D. International meeting, International Network 
of Applied Arts Museums, 12 June 2016, Vienna

Merrillees, D. ‘Museums and Cultural institutions 
engagement with refugees’. International meeting, 
International Network of Applied Arts Museums,  
19 February 2016, Oslo

Merrillees, D. ‘Public Value, imagining a new kind of 
museum’ Panel discussion, Museums Australasia 
conference, 16 May 2016, Auckland
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Merrillees, D. & Parry, M. ‘Starting the journey — Museum 
of Applied Arts and Sciences at Parramatta Museums 
Australasia conference, 17 May 2016, Auckland

Parry, M. Beijing Design Week, DFAT panel discussion,  
23 September 2015, Beijing

Pitkin, M. ‘New outreach role for the EES: Developing 
research and soft skills for Egyptian Egyptologists and 
Archaeologists’, German Archaeological Institute,  
27 February 2016, Cairo

Pitkin, M. ‘Wedjat-eyes as a dating criterion for false doors 
and stelae to the early Middle Kingdom’, XIth International 
Congress of Egyptologists, 28 August 2015, Florence, Italy

Pitkin, M & Jones, G. ‘Curating [cross] cultural sensitivities’, 
Fashioning Museums Conference, 1–3 February 2016

Strecker, J. MAAS Professional Series: Provenance and Due 
Diligence Research Symposium, University of Sydney, 23 
July 2015, Sydney

Strecker, J. MAAS Professional Series: Provenance and Due 
Diligence Research Symposium, University of Sydney, 6 
October 2015, Sydney

Strecker, J. ‘Photography and Place: Seeing and not Seeing 
Germany after 1945’, The University of Sydney, 13 April 
2016, Sydney

9. STAFF OVERSEAS TRAVEL

R Hiscock, Director, 25 July – 3 Aug, China. To visit cultural 
institutions in Beijing, Hangzhou and Shanghai to prepare 
for the proposed MAAS Season of China (as guest of the 
China Cultural Institute).

D Merrillees, Director, Curatorial, Collections and 
Exhibitions, 25 July – 3 Aug, China. To visit cultural 
institutions in Beijing, Hangzhou and Shanghai to prepare 
for the proposed MAAS Season of China (as guest of the 
China Cultural Institute).

M Connell, Curator, 8–19 Aug, Canada. To attend and 
present at the 2015 International Symposium of Electronic 
Arts in Vancouver and attend a curatorial workshop in 
Banff.

D Merrillees, Director, Curatorial, Collections and 
Exhibitions, 6–15 Sept, Italy and Singapore. To attend 
opening of an exhibition of Cai Guo Qiang in preparation 
for Season of China at the Leonardo Da Vinci Museum of 
Science and Technology Milan and 21st exhibition of La 
Triennale, Milan and negotiate travelling exhibition 
opportunities in Singapore.

M Parry, Director Public Engagement, 22–29 Sept. China. 
To attend Beijing design Week and represent MAAS at a 
DFAT design panel event.

J London, Conservation Manager, 1–13 Oct. The 
Netherlands. To courier loan objects to the Cube Design 
Museum, Kerdrade for its exhibition Design for a better 
world — design for human needs and related professional 
meetings.

Dr K Budge, Research Manager, 10–12 Nov, New Zealand. 
To attend and present at the Australasian Consortium of 
Humanities Research seminar, Auckland.

J Banks, Registration Manager, 21–22 March, New Zealand. 
To attend and present at the Australasian Registrars 
Committee Conference, Auckland.

K Dyer, Curator Contemporary, 10–19 April, UK. To attend 
the opening of The Voice exhibition, Wellcome Collection 
and attend planning meetings for the exhibition’s MAAS 
season, planned for 2017.

P Mahony, Manager Education and Digital Learning,  
26 April – 2 May, USA. To attend Microsoft YouthSpark 
Computer Science Summit and attend and present at 
Museums and the Web conference (as guest of Microsoft).

M Parry, Director MAAS Parramatta Project, 13–19 May, 
New Zealand. To attend and present at Museums 
Australasia conference.

B Jones, Research and Analysis Manager, 14–18 May,  
New Zealand. To attend Museums Australasia conference.

Dr J Strecker, Head of Curatorial, 15–19 May, New Zealand. 
To attend Museums Australasia conference.

T Boleyn, Curator, 15–19 May, New Zealand. To attend and 
present at the Museums Australasia conference.

D Merrillees, Director, 15–20 May, New Zealand. To attend 
and present at the Museums Australasia conference and 
Council of Australasian Museum Directors annual meeting.

L Meiers, Director, Development and External Affairs,  
21–24 May, Hong Kong. To review presentation and 
operational arrangements for hosting the London Science 
Museum’s Collider exhibition.

B Scheibel, Electrician 25 May – 3 June, Hong Kong. To  
de-install Collider exhibition and assess requirement  
for MAAS exhibition.

V Pitt, Assistant Conservator, 26 May – 3 June, UK. To 
courier loan objects to the Victoria & Albert Museum 
exhibition profiling Arup and Partners.

G Jones, Curator, 1–14 June, Japan. To participate in the 
Australia-Japan curator exchange program and give 
presentations in Tokyo, Kobe, Kiryo, Kyoto and Osaka (as 
guest of the Japanese Government).

P Mahony, Manager Education and Digital Learning,  
26–30 June, Singapore. To attend Microsoft Enabling 
Opportunities Summit (as guest of Microsoft).
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10. STAFFING BY DEPARTMENT

Staff numbers at 30 June 2016.

2015 2016 Difference

Directorate    

Infrastructure Engagement 0.8 0.8 0

 5 5 0

Total 5.8 5.8 0

Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions    

Curatorial 19 22.4 3.4

Library Services 4 4 0

Strategic Collections 2 3 1

Exhibitions 9 8.6 -0.4

Workshop 5 5 0

Registration 13 17.2 4.2

Conservation 14.2 16.6 2.4

Production 2 1 -1

Editorial & Publishing 5 4 -1

Total 73.2 81.8 8.6

Corporate Resources    

Executive Support 3 3 0

Human Resources 5 5 0

Governance, Planning and Reporting 3 3.8 0.8

Finance 12.7 14.6 1.9

Property Services 4 4 0

Mechanical Services 4 4 0

Facilities and Asset Management 2 3 1

Security Operations 5 5 0

Records 2 2 0

Volunteer Programs 2.7 2.5 -0.2

Total 43.4 46.9 3.5

Development and External Affairs    

Communications 2.6 3.8 1.2

Development 2.6 4 1.4

Research & Analysis 0 1 1

Government Relations and External Affairs 1 1 0

Total 6.2 9.8 3.6

Staff numbers at 30 June 2016 continued.



128 2015 – 16

 2015 2016 Difference

Programs and Engagement    

Communications 2.6  -2.6

Commercial 1 1 0

Sydney Observatory 5 4.4 -0.6

Regional Programs 2 1 -1

Discovery Centre 1 3 2

Digital and Media 2 2 0

Information and Communications Technology 5.6 6.6 1

Media Production 5.6 5 -0.6

Media Technologies 5 5 0

Memberships Program 1.8 0.8 -1

Partnerships and Festivals 5 5 0

Education and Digital Learning 3 5 2

Programs 3.4 3 -0.4

Visitor Services and Venues 17.4 22.4 5

Events 3.6 4.6 1

Total 59.4 68.8 9.4

MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual) 188 213.1 25.1

11. EEO STATISTICS

A. Trends in the Representation 
of EEO Groups % of Total Staff

EEO Group Benchmark 
or Target 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Women 50% 47% 53% 48% 47% 53% 58% 62%

Aboriginal people and Torres 
Strait Islanders

2% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1.20%

People whose first language was 
not English

20% 18% 38% 17% 16% 17% 11% 10%

People with a disability 12% 6% 9% 7% 7% 7% 5% 0%

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

7% 1% 1% 1% 1% 2% 0% 0%

B. Trends in the Distribution of 
EEO Groups Distribution Index

EEO Group Benchmark 
or Target 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Women 100 108 108 108 105 108 107 108

Aboriginal people and Torres 
Strait Islanders

100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 2 n/a n/a

People whose first language was 
not English

100 97 97 97 97 62 n/a n/a

People with a disability 100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 16 n/a n/a

People with a disability requiring 
work-related adjustment

100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 4 n/a n/a

Notes:
1. Includes casual staff.
2. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. 

Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more 
pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group is less 
concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet.

3. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.
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Comparison of staff numbers by occupational category

Staff Numbers (EFT) Powerhouse Museum (non-casual)

Occupation Group 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16

Manager and administrators 32 32 33 31.8 36.6 35

Professionals 112 118 110 60.5 53.7 77

Technicians and associate professionals 33 35 36 49 41.1 40

Tradespersons and related workers 17 18 17 20 12 13

Advanced clerical, sales and service  
workers

6 7 6 5 1 3

Intermediate clerical, sales and service 
workers

62 63.2 63.6 69.5 41 37

Intermediate production and transport 
workers

1 1 1 1 0 0

Elementary clerical, sales and service 
workers

5 4 4 3 2.6 8

Labourers and related workers 6.6 6 7 3 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 274.6 284.2 277.6 242.8 188 213

Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the Department of Justice. 

12. SES POSITIONS

During 2015–16 the following were members of the State Government Senior Executive Service:

Director, Rose Hiscock (to 31 December 2015)
Dolla Merrillees Director (Acting from 1 Jan 2016, Director from 12 April 2016)
Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer, Elizabeth Stratford (to 30 October 2015)
Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer Andrew Elliott (from 18 January 2016)
Director Public Programs & Engagement, Michael Parry (to January 2016)
Director Public Programs & Engagement, Lily Katakouzinos/Arani Duggan (Acting)
Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions, Dolla Merrillees
Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions, Rebecca Bushby (Acting)
Director Development and External Affairs, Leann Meiers
Director, MAAS Parramatta Project Michael Parry (from January 2016)

Band Position title  Gender

2 Director — Dolla Merrillees  Female

1 Director Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer — Andrew Elliott  Male

1 Director Public Engagement — Arani Duggan/Lily Katakouzinos (Acting) Female

1 Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions — Rebecca Bushby (Acting) Female

1 Director MAAS Parramatta Project— Michael Parry  Male

1 Director Development & External Affairs —Leann Meiers  Female

Band 30 June 2015 30 June 2016 30 June 2016

4 0 0 0

3 0 0 0

2 2 2 1

1 2 3 5

CEO under s11A 0 0 0

Total 4 5 6

Number of female SES 3 3 4
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13. INTERNAL AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
ATTESTATION STATEMENT

I, Professor Barney Glover, am of the opinion that the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences has internal audit 
and risk management processes in operation that are 
compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in 
the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the 
NSW Public Sector, specifically: 

Core Requirements 

1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and 
accountable for risk management in the agency 
COMPLIANT

1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to 
the agency has been established and maintained and 
the framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009 Internal Audit Function COMPLIANT

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and 
maintained COMPLIANT

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is 
consistent with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing COMPLIANT

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is 
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ 
Audit and Risk Committee COMPLIANT

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with 
appropriate expertise has been established 
COMPLIANT

3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory 
committee providing assistance to the agency head on 
the agency’s governance processes, risk management 
and control frameworks, and its external 
accountability obligations COMPLIANT

3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is 
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ 
Membership COMPLIANT 

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee 
are:

Independent Chair, Ms Elizabeth Couch Term: 11 March 
2016 – 31 December 2018

Independent Member 1, Tim Ebbeck, Term 10 September 
2015 – 31 December 2018

Independent Member 2, Allan Cook, 25 May 2016 – 24 May 
2018

The Head of Governance Planning and Reporting is the 
Museum’s Chief Audit Executive and Chief Risk officer.

14. DIGITAL INFORMATION SECURITY ATTESTATION 
STATEMENT

I, Dolla Merrillees, Director, am of the opinion that the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences had an Information 
Security Management System in place in the 2015–16 
financial year that is consistent with the Core Requirements 
set out in the NSW Government Digital Information Security 
Policy.

I, Dolla Merrillees, Director of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences am of the opinion that the security controls in 
place to mitigate identified risks to the digital information 
and digital information systems of the Museum of Applied 
Arts and Sciences are adequate for the foreseeable future.

15. LIFE FELLOWS

Ken Done AM
Gerry Gleeson AC
Lionel Glendenning
Linda Jackson
Prof Ron Johnston
Jenny Kee
Trevor Kennedy AM
Alan Landis
Terence Measham AM
Janet McDonald AO
Fred Millar AO, CBE
Dr Nicholas Pappas AM
Anne Schofield AM
Leo Schofield AM
Dr Lindsay Sharp
Richard (Dick) Smith AO
Hon James Spigelman AC, QC
Kylie Winkworth
Dr John Yu AC

16. GUARANTEE OF SERVICE

Our commitment to our customers

The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in 
its quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions, 
programs and services.

Our service standards

When you visit the Museum you will find:

• friendly, responsive and efficient staff;
• well-maintained exhibitions and buildings;
• a commitment to caring for objects in the collection 

and on loan to the Museum;
• accurate and appropriate information in response to 

your inquiries;
• a high standard of safety and security;
• appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafes, toilets, baby 

change room) for you to use;
• appropriate access and services for those with special 

needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a 
language background other than English);

• signage and information brochures that are helpful 
and easy to understand;

• printed information about Museum events in plain 
English;
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• special services including:
 – guided tours in community languages, including 

sign language, on a booked basis (minimum two 
weeks’ notice), depending on availability of 
guides;

 – guided tours for visitors with blindness or low 
vision on a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ 
notice) depending on availability of guides.

For bookings and enquiries please call (02 9217 0222) or 
email book@maas.museum.

Our expectations of our visitors

We expect you to treat our staff, volunteers and exhibitions 
with care and respect. We reserve the right to refuse 
admission to patrons who behave inappropriately.

What to do if you have a suggestion or complaint

We welcome your comments and any suggestions you may 
have for improving our services. If you are visiting the 
Museum and have any comments, please talk to one of the 
staff. A comments form is available at the cloaking desk if 
you have a compliment, suggestion or complaint you wish 
to put in writing. You may also contact us through the 
Museum’s website: powerhousemuseum.com. 
Alternatively, please feel free to write to the Museum or 
telephone (02) 9217 0111.

Our commitment to you

Any written suggestion or complaint you make to the 
Museum will be responded to within 10 working days. 

17. PRIVACY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION

The Museum conducts its business in accordance with the 
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and 
with the Privacy Management Plan developed by the 
Museum and submitted to the Privacy Commissioner in 
June 2000 and updated in 2012, in accordance with section 
33 of the Act. The Museum also follows an Online Privacy 
Statement which is on the Museum's website. If users 
provide any personal details via the Museum's website the 
privacy requirements of the Statement are met.

18. PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Under section 7.3 of the Government Information (Public 
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the 
currency and nature of information made publicly 
available. In addition to the information on the 
management, governance and operations available on our 
website the following policy and procedural documents, 
reflecting the major operations areas of the Museum, are 
available. The Museum has reviewed information available 
to the public under Section 7(3) of the Act. 

As changes or updates have been made to these  
policies or plans they are updated on the website: 
powerhousemuseum.com/about/policies.php

Acquistions and Accessions Policy
ATSI Indigenous Cultural and Cultural Property Protocol
ATSI Repatriation Policy
Collection Development Policy
Incoming Loans Policy
Restitution Policy

The following publication guide is presented in accordance 
with section 20 of the Government Information (Public 
Access) Act 2009. The full guide is available online at 
powerhousemuseum.com/about/publication_guide.php

Structure and functions 

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences was established 
under the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945 
(MAAS Act). The Museum has perpetual succession, has a 
common seal, may purchase, hold, grant, demise, dispose 
of or otherwise deal with real and personal property and 
may sue and be sued in its corporate name ‘The Trustees of 
the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences’.

Section 4 of the MAAS Act establishes the Trustees of the 
Museum. The Trustees are responsible for the conduct and 
control of the affairs of the Museum and for its policies. All 
officers and employees of the Museum are appointed or 
employed under the Government Services Employment Act 
(GSE Act) Act 2014.

Section 14 of the MAAS Act states:

The Trustees shall have the following objects and may 
exercise any or all of the following functions:

(a) the control and management of the Museum; and

(b) the maintenance and administration of the Museum in 
such manner as will effectively minister to the needs 
and demands of the community in any or all branches 
of applied science and art and the development of 
industry by:

 (i) the display of selected objects arranged to 
illustrate the industrial advance of civilisation and 
the development of inventions and manufactures;

 (ii) the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste 
by illustrating the history and development of the 
applied arts;

 (iii) lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and other 
educational means;

 (iv) scientific research; or

 (v) any other means necessary or desirable for the 
development of the natural resources and 
manufacturing industries of NSW.

Arrangements for outside participation 

The Museum welcomes public comment and suggestions 
for improving its services and facilities and regularly 
receives representations from the public concerning its 
operations. Consultation is carried out to determine the 
content of exhibitions and programs and visitors are 
surveyed for their responses. The Board of Trustees 
represent the public in the management and policy 
formulation of the Museum.

In 2015–16 there were 322 customer comments registered. 
As some contained more than one comment, there were 
totals of 197 compliments, 172 complaints and 62 
suggestions.
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The breakdown of complaints: Museum in general 40, 
exhibitions 18, exhibition design 14, exhibition maintenance 
10, public programs 18, customer service 12, Members 2, 
promotion/publicity 1, external signage 3, internal signage 
9, facilities 5, admission charge 1, café 11, premises 5, 
website 10.

Contact arrangements 

Requests for records or documents under the Government 
Information (Public Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 should be 
accompanied by a $30.00 application fee and directed to:

Right to Information Officer
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
500 Harris Street
Ultimo NSW 2007
Phone (02) 9217 0350

The Museum received two access applications in regard to 
the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 in 
2015–16. 

Public Interest Disclosures:

Number of officials who made PIDs – 0
Number of PIDs received – 0
Number of PIDs finalised – 0

The Museum developed and adopted a Public Interest 
Disclosures Policy which was ratified by the Board of 
Trustees in October 2012 and subsequently brought to the 
attention of all staff via internal email and posted for 
reference on both the intranet and our website.

19. LEGISLATIVE CHANGE

There were no legislative changes which affected the 
Museum in 2015–16.

20. MAJOR WORKS 

There were two major capital works projects undertaken 
by the Museum over the 2015–16 financial year. The 
Museum classifies major works as a single project funded 
by a NSW Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million.

21. CREDIT CARD USAGE

The Museum has a Credit Card Policy which has been 
issued to all users. No irregularities were recorded in 2015–
16 and credit card use has been in accordance with 
Premier’s Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.

22. CONSULTANTS

Engagements costing greater than $50,000  

Service Provided Consultant Cost $

Initial Business Case — Parramatta 
Relocation

KPMG 1,135,013

Engagements costing less than $50,000

Service Provided Number of 
Engagements

Cost $

Parramatta Relocation 6 59,393

Facilities Management 1 12,420

Collection Management 1 17,640

Information Technology 2 9,725

Observatory DA application 3 13,800

Total Consultancies 112,978

There were no other consultants engaged by the Museum 
in 2015–16.

23. BUDGET ESTIMATES

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial 
year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7(1)
(a)(iii) of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. 
The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

2015–16 
$000

2016–17 
$000

Expenditure

Operating Expenses

Employee Related 24,999 25,629

Other Operating Expenses 13,944 16,959

Depreciation and Amortisation 5,710 5,940

Total Expenditure 44,653 48,528

Revenue    

Recurrent Grant 34,155 29,674

Capital Grant 23,633 10,616

Sale of Goods and Services 5,115 7,610

Investment Income 265 265

Grants and Contributions 3,800 4,500

Other Revenue 250 250

Acceptance of State Liabilities 901 923

Gain on disposal of non current 
assets -  - 

Total Revenue 68,119 53,838
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24. PAYMENT PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2015–16

Value of Accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter

as at
30 Sep 15

$

as at
31 Dec 15

$

as at
31 Mar 16

$

as at 
30 Jun 16

$

Current 317,947 58,416 817,181 274,719

Less than 30 days overdue 169,662 67,604 409,958 23,235

Between 30 & 60 days overdue 45,122 0 21,364 260

Between 60 & 90 days overdue -891 0 0 0

More than 90 days overdue -1,015 -3,671 -1,222 -1,562

530,825 122,349 1,247,281 296,652

These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the 
quarter.    

Amount & value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter 

Quarter ending % Paid
on time

Paid on
Time $000

Total Paid
$000

30 September 2015 94.5% 11,336 12,000

31 December 2015 87.3% 6,812 7,805

31 March 2016 87.3% 6,294 7,207

30 June 2016 84.6% 8,141 9,624

The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State 
Government guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification 
with suppliers. In such cases payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification.
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POWERHOUSE 
MUSEUM
500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Administration hours: 9.00am to 5.00pm Monday to 
Friday
Phone (02) 9217 0111
Open 10.00am to 5.00pm every day (closed 
Christmas Day)
School holidays open 9.30am to 5.00pm
Powerhouse Infoline (for information about what's 
on): phone (02) 9217 0444
maas.museum

Admission charges
Adults $15
Children (under 16) free 
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social 
Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders) $8
Student card holders $8
Education group bookings (contact the Museum for 
charges)
Members free
Members of ICOM, Members of Museums Australia 
Inc free
Group concessions: discounts apply for groups of 10 
or more
Additional admission charges apply to some 
temporary exhibitions

SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
1003 Upper Fort Street, Millers Point NSW 2000 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Phone: (02) 9921 3485
Open daily 10.00am to 5.00pm
Open nightly Monday to Saturday. Open Sunday 
nights during school holidays
Closed Christmas day/night, Boxing day/night and 
Easter Friday day/night
Summer (Dec/Jan): 1 session at 8.30pm
Spring/Autumn: 1 session at 8.15pm
Winter: 2 sessions at 6.15 & 8.15pm
Bookings required
maas.museum

Admission Charges — Day
Adult $10
Children (under 16) or concession $8
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children;

or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $26
Member adult $8
Member child (under 16 years) or concession $6
Member family (1 adult and up to 3 children;
or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $22

Admission Charges — Night
Adult $18
Children (under 16) $12
Concession $14
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children;
or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $50
Member (adult) $16
Member (child) $11
Member (family) $43
Includes 3-D Space Theatre, telescope viewing and a 
guided tour

Discounts are offered to MAAS Members for all 
activities

Other discounts may apply

MUSEUMS DISCOVERY 
CENTRE  
172 Showground Road, Castle Hill NSW 2154
Postal address: PO Box 8025, Baulkham Hills NSW 
2153
Administration hours: 9.00am to 4.30pm Monday to 
Friday
Phone: (02) 9762 1300
Open Monday to Friday: 10am to 5pm
museumsdiscoverycentre.com

Admission Charges
Adult $10
Concession $8 (Australian Pensioners, Seniors, Social 
Security and Veterans Affairs cardholders)  
Children (under 16) free

MAAS MEMBERS
Members Lounge open 10.00am to 4.30pm every day 
(closed Christmas Day) 
Phone: (02) 9217 0600 
Email: membership@maas.museum

VOLUNTEERS
If you are interested in volunteer work or have any 
enquiries, please contact (02) 9217 0676 for details.
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